THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about the
contents of this document or the action you should take, you should consult immediately with a person authorised for the purposes of
FSMA who specialises in advising on the acquisition of shares and other securities.
This document is an admission document for the purposes of the AIM Rules and has been drawn up in accordance with the AIM Rules.
Any offer of Ordinary Shares is being made only to qualiﬁed investors for the purposes of and as deﬁned in Section 86 of FSMA and
accordingly this document does not constitute and the Company is not making an offer to the public within the meaning of sections 85
and 102B of FSMA. Therefore this document is not an approved prospectus for the purposes of and as deﬁned in section 85 of FSMA,
has not been prepared in accordance with the Prospectus Rules and has not been approved by FSA or by any other authority which
could be a competent authority for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive.
Application has been made for all the Ordinary Shares, in issue and to be issued pursuant to the Placing, to be admitted to trading on
AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange plc. It is expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings in
the Ordinary Shares will commence on AIM on 2 November 2006. The Ordinary Shares are not dealt in or on any other recognised
investment exchange and no application has been or is being made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to any such exchange. AIM
is a market designed primarily for emerging or smaller companies to which a higher investment risk tends to be attached than to larger
or more established companies.
AIM securities are not admitted to the Ofﬁcial List of the UK Listing Authority. A prospective investor should be aware of the risks
of investing in such companies and should make a decision to invest only after careful consideration and, if appropriate, consultation
with an Independent Financial Adviser. Neither the UK Listing Authority, nor the London Stock Exchange plc has examined or
approved the contents of this document.
YOUR ATTENTION IS DRAWN TO THE RISK FACTORS SET OUT IN PART IV OF THIS DOCUMENT.
The directors of the Company with effect from Admission, whose names appear on page 8 and the Company accept responsibility for
the information contained in this document including individual and collective responsibility for compliance with the AIM Rules. To
the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors and the Company (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the
case), the information contained in this document is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect the import
of such information.

SimiGon Ltd.
(Incorporated and registered in the State of Israel under the Israeli Companies Ordinance (New Version) 5743-1983
with registered number 51-2685512)

Placing of up to 6,076,811 Ordinary Shares of NIS 0.01 at a price of 88 pence per share
and

Admission to trading on AIM
Nominated Adviser and Broker to the Company

Share Capital Immediately Following Admission
Registered
Number

100,000,000

Issued and fully paid
Number
Amount

Amount

NIS 1,000,000

Ordinary Shares of NIS 0.01 each

37,250,666

NIS 372,507

The Placing is conditional, inter alia, on Admission taking place on or before 31 December 2006. All of the Ordinary Shares will, upon
Admission, rank pari passu in all respects and will rank in full for all dividends and other distributions declared, made or paid in respect
of the Ordinary Shares after Admission.
This document should not be copied or distributed by recipients and, in particular, should not be distributed by any means, including
electronic transmission, in, into or from Canada, Australia, the Republic of Ireland, Japan or the United States of America, their
possessions or territories or to any citizens thereof, or to any corporation, partnership or other entity created or organised under the
laws thereof.
The distribution of this document outside the UK may be restricted by law and therefore persons outside the UK into whose possession
this document comes should inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions as to the placing of the Ordinary Shares or the
distribution of this document. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such
jurisdiction.
This document does not constitute an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to subscribe for or buy, shares to any person in any
jurisdiction to whom or in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful or would impose any unfulﬁlled registration, publication or
approval requirements on the Company or Panmure Gordon. The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the
United States Securities Act 1933, as amended, or under the securities legislation of any state of the United States or under the securities
legislation of any province or territory of Canada or of Australia, the Republic of Ireland or Japan. Accordingly, subject to certain
exceptions, the Ordinary Shares may not, directly or indirectly, be offered or sold within the United States, Canada, Australia, the
Republic of Ireland or Japan or offered or sold to, or for the account or beneﬁt of, a person within the United States or a resident of
Canada, Australia, the Republic of Ireland or Japan.
In the State of Israel this document may be distributed only to, and may only be directed at, investors listed in the First Addendum (the
‘‘Addendum’’) to the Israel Securities Law, 5728-1968, namely joint investment funds, insurance companies, banks, portfolio managers,
investment advisers, members of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange purchasing for themselves, underwriters, venture capital funds and
corporations with a shareholder equity in excess of NIS 250 million, each as deﬁned in the Addendum (collectively ‘‘Institutional
Investors’’). Institutional Investors may be required to submit written conﬁrmation that they fall within the scope of the Addendum.
The Company will not distribute and direct this document to investors in the State of Israel who do not fall within one of the deﬁnitions
in the Addendum.
Panmure Gordon, which is authorised and regulated by the FSA, is the Company’s nominated adviser and broker and, in each case,
is acting exclusively for the Company in connection with the Placing and Admission. Panmure Gordon is not acting for, nor will it be
responsible to, any person other than the Company for providing the protections afforded to its own customers or for advising any other
person on the contents of this document or any transaction or arrangement referred to in this document. No representation or warranty,
express or implied, is made by Panmure Gordon as to any of the contents of this document (without limiting the statutory rights of any
person to whom this document is issued).
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DEFINITIONS
‘‘Admission’’

admission of the Existing Ordinary Shares and Placing
Shares to trading on AIM becoming effective in accordance
with the AIM Rules

‘‘AIM’’

the AIM market operated by the London Stock Exchange

‘‘AIM Rules’’

the rules of the London Stock Exchange relating to AIM, as
amended from time to time

‘‘Articles of Association’’ or ‘‘Articles’’

the articles of association of the Company adopted on
31 August 2006, conditional on Admission

‘‘Board’’ or ‘‘Directors’’

the directors of SimiGon whose names appear on page 8 of
this document

‘‘Combined Code’’

the Principles of Good Governance and the Combined Code
on Corporate Governance issued by the Financial Reporting
Council

‘‘Companies Act’’ or ‘‘Act’’

the Companies Act 1985, as amended by the Companies Act
1989

‘‘Companies Law’’

Israeli Companies Law 5759-1999 as amended and the
regulations promulgated thereunder

‘‘Company’’ or ‘‘SimiGon’’

SimiGon Ltd., a Company incorporated in the State of Israel
with registered number 51-2685512

‘‘CREST’’

the relevant system (as deﬁned in the CREST Regulations)
for paperless settlement of share transfers and the holding of
shares in uncertiﬁcated form which is operated by CRESTCo

‘‘CRESTCo’’

CRESTCo Limited, a company incorporated in England and
Wales and the operator of CREST

‘‘CREST Regulations’’

the Uncertiﬁcated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI2001/3755)

‘‘Depositary’’

Computershare Investor Services plc

‘‘DI’’ or ‘‘Depositary Interest’’

a dematerialised depositary interest which represents an
entitlement to Ordinary Shares

‘‘Enlarged Share Capital’’

the Existing Ordinary Shares and the Placing Shares

‘‘Existing Ordinary Shares’’

the Ordinary Shares in issue as at the date of this document

‘‘FSA’’

the UK Financial Services Authority

‘‘FSMA’’

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended)

‘‘Group’’ or ‘‘SimiGon Group’’

the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, SimiGon Inc.

‘‘Listing Rules’’

the Listing Rules of the FSA

‘‘Lock-In Persons’’

Daniel Blankleder, A. Vizer Holdings Ltd., Packet Science
Ltd., Samurai Investments Ltd., G Poran Holdings Ltd.,
Jeffrey Braun, RHI Holdings Ltd., Israel Aircraft Industries
Ltd., CAP Ventures Ltd., C.G.I. Capital Investments Limited
and Yardeni Yechial (the trustee under the Share Option
Schemes)
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DEFINITIONS
‘‘London Stock Exchange’’

London Stock Exchange plc

‘‘NIS’’

New Israeli Shekels, the lawful currency of the State of Israel

‘‘Ofﬁcial List’’

The Ofﬁcial List of the UK Listing Authority

‘‘Ordinary Shares’’

ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 each in the capital of SimiGon

‘‘Panmure Gordon’’ or
‘‘Panmure Gordon & Co’’

Panmure Gordon (Broking) Limited, the Company’s
nominated adviser and broker

‘‘Placee’’

a person to whom Ordinary Shares are issued pursuant to the
Placing

‘‘Placing’’

the conditional placing with certain persons by Panmure
Gordon of the Placing Shares at the Placing Price pursuant to
the Placing Agreement

‘‘Placing Agreement’’

the conditional agreement dated 26 October 2006 between
(1) Panmure Gordon, (2) the Company and (3) the Directors
further details of which are set out in paragraph 12.2 of part
VII of this document

‘‘Placing Price’’

88 pence per Ordinary Share

‘‘Placing Shares’’

the 6,076,811 new Ordinary Shares which are the subject of
the Placing

‘‘Prospectus Directive’’

directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 4 November 2003 on the prospectus to be
published when securities are offered to the public or admitted
to trading

‘‘Prospectus Rules’’

rules made by the FSA pursuant to sections 73A(1) and (3)
of FSMA, as deﬁned in section 417(1) of FSMA

‘‘Shareholders’’

the holders of Ordinary Shares

‘‘Share Option Schemes’’

the share option plans of the Company, details of which are
set out in paragraph 11 of Part VI of this document

‘‘$’’

US Dollars, the lawful currency of the USA

‘‘UK Listing Authority’’

a division of the FSA acting as a competent authority for the
purposes of Part IV of FSMA

‘‘USA’’ or ‘‘US’’

the United States of America, its territories and possessions
and any state of the United States or the District of Columbia
and all other areas subject to its jurisdiction

EXCHANGE RATES
Throughout this document, other than in Part V or where otherwise indicated, the following exchange rates
have been used:
£1 : NIS 8.3
£1 : $1.87

4

GLOSSARY
AirBook

The Company’s aviation oriented simulation-based learning
management system, using the KnowBook technology

AirTrack™

A commercial application which provides an in-ﬂight moving
map display for commercial airlines for use in the passenger
compartment

ANG

The Air National Guard of the United States of America

BWC

Basic Wing Course, Singapore

CarBook

The Company’s automotive oriented simulation-based learning
management system, using the KnowBook technology

COTS

Commercial Off The Shelf

CPU

Central Processing Unit – the principle computing chip within a
computer system

E-learning simulation

A tool or suite of tools that when combined provide a simulationbased learning infrastructure that is presented and distributed
electronically via computers and networks

ERP software

Enterprise resource planning software

F-15

The F-15 Eagle tactical ﬁghter aircraft originally manufactured
by McDonnell Douglas Corporation and operated by the
USAF, amongst others, since 1974

F-16

The F-16 Fighting Falcon multi-role ﬁghter attack aircraft
manufactured by Lockheed Martin Corporation and ﬂown by
the USAF, amongst others, since 1979

F/A-18

The F/A-18 Hornet strike ﬁghter aircraft originally manufactured
by McDonnell Douglas Corporation and operated by the US
Navy and US Marine Corps, amongst others, since 1983

HLA

‘High Level Architecture’ – Protocol developed by the
US Department of Defence to allow communication of terrain
and other information between different simulation engines

IAF

Israel Air Force

IFE

In-Flight Entertainment, as offered on board many modern
passenger aircraft

JSF or Joint Strike Fighter

The ‘Joint Strike Fighter’ – the new aircraft currently under
development by Lockheed Martin Corporation to satisfy the
requirement for a supersonic ﬁghter attack aircraft capable of
vertical take-off and landing

KnowBook™

The foundation application suite for AirBook and other
applications which is comprised of a simulation engine, a
learning management system and content development tools

LMS

Learning Management System
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GLOSSARY
LOD

Level of detail, which involves decreasing the visible detail of a
simulated model or object as it moves away from the viewer

MFTS

Military Flying Training School – an initiative currently being
undertaken by the RAF to establish a privately ﬁnanced ﬂying
training school for certain pilots

Open Architecture

An architecture whose speciﬁcations are public. This includes
ofﬁcially approved standards as well as privately designed
architectures whose speciﬁcations are made public by the
designers

Predator (UAV)

The RQ-1 Predator unmanned aerial vehicle manufactured by
General Atomics, Northrop Grumman and Boeing, amongst
others, developed for the USAF in 1994

RAF

The Royal Air Force of the United Kingdom

RTAF

The Royal Thai Airforce

SPP

SimiGon Partnership Programme

SCORM

A protocol developed by the US Department of Defence to
allow communication of movement information between
different simulation engines allowing multiple users to take part
in group exercises using different platforms

SCO

SIMbox Certiﬁed Organisation, typically a valued added reseller
or a consumer organisation which has designated employees
that have completed a speciﬁed series of courses qualifying
them for this designation

SIMbox

SimiGon’s underlying technology used to create the various
applications

SimiGon Academy

A trade name used by SimiGon to collectively represent
activities and courseware (content) used to train consumers or
end users of SimiGon products

T&S

Training and Simulation

TuAF

The Turkish Air Force

USAF

The United States Air Force

USN

The United States Navy
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TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS
Publication of this document

27 October 2006

Admission effective and dealings commence in the Ordinary Shares
on AIM

2 November 2006

CREST accounts credited with Depositary Interests (where
applicable)

2 November 2006

Deﬁnitive share certiﬁcates expected to be dispatched in respect of
the Ordinary Shares (where applicable)

9 November 2006

PLACING STATISTICS
Placing Price

88 pence

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue at the date of this document
Number of Placing Shares

30,520,331
6,076,811

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately following
Admission

37,250,666

Estimated gross cash proceeds receivable by the Company
pursuant to the Placing1

up to £5.3 million ($10.0 million)

Approximate market capitalisation of all issued Ordinary Shares at
the Placing Price immediately following Admission
Approximate percentage of enlarged issued share capital on
Admission represented by the Placing Shares
AIM EPIC code

£32.8 million
16.3%
SIM

1

Stated before deducting the estimated total expenses of the Placing and other related costs and fees payable by the Company of
approximately £0.81 million, ($1.51 million).
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DIRECTORS, SECRETARY AND ADVISERS
Directors
Alistair Rae, Non-Executive Chairman (with effect from Admission)
Amos (Ami) Vizer, Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Haim Yatim, Chief Financial Ofﬁcer
Graham Woolfman, Non-Executive Director (with effect from Admission)
Dr. Vered Shany, Non-Executive Director* (with effect from Admission)
Nevat Simon, Non-Executive Director* (with effect from Admission)
*

External Director (for the purposes of the Companies Law)

Company Secretary
Haim Yatim
Registered Ofﬁce
1 Sapir Street
PO Box 12050
Herzlia 46733
Israel
Nominated Adviser and Broker
Panmure Gordon (Broking) Limited
Moorgate Hall
155 Moorgate
London
EC2M 6XB

Financial Adviser in Israel
Leader Underwriters (1993) Ltd.
Platinum House
21 Ha’arba’ah Street
Tel-Aviv 64739
Israel

Solicitors to the Company as to English law
Halliwells LLP
1 Threadneedle Street
London
EC2R 8AW

Counsel to the Company as to Israeli law
Efrati Galili Lahat & Co
6 Wissotsky St.
Tel-Aviv 62338
Israel

Auditors and Reporting Accountants
Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer
A member of Ernst & Young Global
3 Aminadav Street
Tel-Aviv 67067
Israel

Solicitors to the Placing
Harbottle & Lewis LLP
Hanover House
14 Hanover Square
London
W1S 1HP

Registrar
Computershare Investor Services (Channel Islands)
Limited
Ordnance House
31 Pier Road
St Helier
Jersey

Depositary
Computershare Investor Services plc
PO Box 82
The Pavillions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol
BS99 7NH
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PART I — KEY INFORMATION
The following should be read in conjunction with the full text of this document from which it is derived.
Investors should read the whole of the document, including the risk factors set out in Part IV, and not just
rely on the summarised information in order to obtain a full appreciation of the Company.
Summary
SimiGon is a leading developer and supplier of ﬂexible simulation software which has been used to create
several distributed simulation applications in the aviation environment. The Company has been proﬁtable
and has consistently grown revenues over the past 3 years, with gross margins of approximately 80 per cent..
SimiGon was founded in 1998, and is currently based in Herzlia, Israel and Orlando, Florida. Its products
are already in use by blue-chip organisations, including 17 air forces and airlines worldwide.
SimiGon enjoys high revenue visibility arising as a result of contract bidding process visibility, and the fact
that the Company is positioned as a supplier of technology to multiple bidders.
The Company’s strategy for the future is to focus on growth in the Company’s existing presence in the
aerospace and defence market and also to leverage that position to access new, growing markets for new
products using SimiGon’s tried and tested simulation technology.
Products
The Company’s current and planned products include the following:
SIMbox – the core simulation engine which is used to drive all of the applications of the technology
AirBook – 73 per cent. of 2005 revenues, PC based training system for military aircrews
D-Brief PC – 12 per cent. of 2005 revenues, tool for analysing and debrieﬁng on actual training ﬂights
after they have been ﬂown
AirTrack – 15 per cent. of 2005 revenues, 3 dimensional ‘moving map’ in ﬂight entertainment (IFE)
system
CarBook – new product designed for training owners of new cars how to use complex operating systems
Others – products are being considered and/or developed for shipping, engineering and medical training
applications
Financial Information
The following summary historic ﬁnancial information is extracted without material adjustment from the
ﬁnancial information contained in Part V of this document and so far as the Directors are aware (and are
able to ascertain from the information contained in the ﬁnancial information) no facts have been omitted
which would render such information below inaccurate or misleading.
In order to make a proper assessment of the ﬁnancial performance of the Group, reliance should not be
placed solely on the extract set out below but should be read in conjunction with the whole of this document,
including the ﬁnancial information set out in Part V of this document.
($000s)

Revenues
Gross Proﬁt
Operating Proﬁt
Proﬁt After Tax
Note:

2003

Year to 31 December
2004

2005

3,266
2,763
763
697

4,495
3,633
1,008
941

4,588
3,964
949
890

6 months to 30 June
2005
2006
(unaudited)

2,095
1,810
382
372

3,709
2,988
1,041
1,007

The Company has adopted a revenue recognition policy as set out in Note 2(l) of the Financial Information section on page 37
of this document.

Current Trading and Prospects
Since 30 June 2006 SimiGon has continued to make good progress in sales of its existing products. AirBook
continues to be the leading product in SimiGon’s offering. D-Brief PC also continues to provide consistent
revenues as clients continue to place orders. The Directors believe that AirTrack promises to be a
particularly successful product for the Company as a major new contract with a leading European airline is
close to completion.
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A further development since 30 June has been the successful completion and release of version 5.0 of
SIMbox. This version offers several beneﬁts over previous versions including an improved development
environment with new wizards and toolbars integrated into Microsoft Visual Studio 2005 IDE, advanced
design and planning artiﬁcial intelligence modules, a new high ﬁdelity ﬂight model and the capability to
building SCORM 2004 simulation sessions with full integration into the LMS, enabling distribution, tracking
and monitoring based on technologies such as SQL 2005 Server and .net2. This new release illustrates
SimiGon’s commitment to the constant improvement and expansion of its products. Development work also
continues on new products and applications of SimiGon’s technology including car and marine training
applications.
The Directors are satisﬁed with the progress made to date in the second half of the ﬁnancial year to
31 December 2006 and remain conﬁdent that the full year results will meet their expectations.
Reasons for Admission and Use of Proceeds
The Company is raising up to approximately £5.3 million, ($10.0 million) on Admission to AIM through the
placing of new Ordinary Shares. The funds raised in the Placing are to be applied by the Company to various
areas of internal investment as follows:
앫

Expansion of application, marketing and sales capabilities;

앫

Strengthening of product research and development and implementation activities;

앫

Expansion into new product areas;

앫

Working capital, retention of key personnel and balance sheet strengthening; and

앫

Repayment of shareholder loan £810,000.

Further information
Prospective investors should read the whole of this document which provides additional information on the
Company and the Placing and not rely on summaries or individual sections of the document. In particular,
the attention of prospective investors is drawn to Part IV of this document, which contains a summary of the
risk factors associated with any investment in the Ordinary Shares.
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PART II — INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
Introduction
SimiGon is a leading developer and supplier of a ﬂexible simulation software engine, SIMbox, which is used
to create distributed simulation applications. SIMbox is already in use worldwide by blue-chip organisations
and the Directors believe that SimiGon’s products have the potential to revolutionise learning, training,
instruction and knowledge management amongst both professional communities and consumers.
The Company is raising up to approximately £5.3 million, ($10.0 million) through a Placing of 5,469,130
Ordinary Shares and is also seeking Admission of its Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM.
SimiGon has grown through providing high technology distributed simulation software tools which aim to
make training processes more efﬁcient and effective for end user organisations around the world. SIMbox
has been used to develop Commercial Off-the-Shelf (COTS) products, including aviation training, mission
rehearsal and ground debrieﬁng systems. These products have been tested and used in the aerospace and
defence environment where they have demonstrated reliability and robustness and the ability to handle
complex distributed simulations. The Company’s open architecture technology platform is extendable and
can be easily adapted to provide additional training solutions for driving, surgery, engineering and other
demanding, highly skilled jobs. It is SimiGon’s strategy to use the platform established in the aerospace and
defence environment to expand the Company’s customer base beyond these markets. Signiﬁcant progress
has already been made in this regard, for example in the development of a commercial entertainment system
for use on board passenger aircraft and the development of a training system for use in the marine industry.
The Company has consistently grown revenues since 2002. The revenue for 2005 and the ﬁrst half of 2006
was approximately $4.6 million and $3.7 million respectively and net proﬁt was approximately $0.9 million
and $1.0 million respectively.
Key Strengths
The Directors believe that the key strengths of SimiGon’s business are:
•

Proﬁtable and consistent revenue growth for the past 3 years with gross margins of approximately 80 per
cent.;

•

An advanced simulation software engine product, already tried and tested in demanding environments;

•

An existing blue chip client base, with products in use by 17 clients worldwide that are airforces and
airlines;

•

Revenue visibility arising as a result of contract bidding process visibility, and the fact that the Company
is positioned as a supplier of technology to multiple bidders; and

•

Ability to leverage the Company’s existing position in the aviation market to access growing markets.

History of the Company
SimiGon was incorporated in Israel on 1 October 1998 and is based in Herzlia, Israel. A US subsidiary,
SimiGon Inc., was incorporated in Delaware in January 2000, and is based in Orlando, Florida.
SimiGon initially focused on developing simulation and technology training solutions for the aerospace and
defence market. The Company was founded by former Israeli Air Force personnel who observed an
opportunity in the training market for distributed PC-based learning products. The Company solved this
training gap by developing a platform that merged high resolution 3D simulation with a digital library, a
learning management system and content development tools, which are all capable of being operated in a
Windows environment with standard processor speeds.
The Company operates from Israel and Orlando, Florida. In addition, the Company has contract partners
based globally, including in the US, Canada, Italy, the Netherlands, Spain, Singapore, India, Thailand and
China.
SIMbox
SimiGon’s key underlying product is SIMbox. SIMbox is a simulation software engine and is the foundation
architecture for all of SimiGon’s simulation software. The Directors believe that SIMbox is broader in scope
and of higher quality than competing simulation engines. As a result SimiGon has used SIMbox as the
foundation of a wide range of products.
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The key assumption underlying SIMbox’s e-learning simulation applications is that people learn better by
doing, than by being shown or told what to do. Reﬂecting this, SimiGon’s simulation products allow students
to use the equipment which they are learning to operate in the safety of a simulated environment. This
approach is regarded as being more efﬁcient for the trainee than traditional classroom based learning and,
the Directors believe, is superior to existing implementations of the ‘‘e-learning’’ concept.
The Company’s current suite of training products based on SIMbox architecture is marketed under the
KnowBook brand. SimiGon’s ﬁrst KnowBook platform, AirBook, was designed for training military aircrew.
Government end users currently using the AirBook product include the USAF, USN, IAF, TuAF, and RTAF.
The Directors believe that AirBook is the only fully integrated affordable software package available that
provides aircrew with comprehensive training that includes 3D high resolution simulation, knowledge
management, and e-learning/e-training. The Directors believe that the resources invested in the development
of these products represent a signiﬁcant barrier to entry for potential competitors and that the potential
applications of KnowBook extend beyond military markets such that sales to civilian organisations could
exceed defence sales. The AirTrack moving map systems for commercial aircraft in-ﬂight entertainment
systems already generated sales that equated to approximately 15 per cent. of group revenue in 2005.
Current Simulation Products
SimiGon’s products currently address the following markets:
• Government aviation (AirBook);
•
•

Training and simulation providers (AirBook);
Post ﬂight debrieﬁng (D-brief PC); and

•

Passenger in-ﬂight e-Entertainment (AirTrack).

The Company’s products also have the potential to address ground and maritime training requirements. All
of the current products have been tried and tested by SimiGon’s customers.
The software engine has been developed using the latest software languages (.net2, 5QL2005, VS2005), has
a low system processing speed requirement and can be run successfully on widely available, standard
speciﬁcation laptop and desktop computers. In the training arena, SIMbox is capable of supporting
simultaneous multiple users over local area networks or remotely via an internet connection and has a low
bandwidth requirement for such activity. The Directors believe this offers an advantage as the SimiGon
product can be accessed easily by individual trainees without the necessity for investment in expensive,
non-portable equipment. The modular approach of SIMbox and its use of libraries of content for courseware
development allow for external companies to market and sell products utilising SIMbox-based applications.
1. AirBook
SimiGon’s main product is AirBook which accounted for 73 per cent. of revenue in 2005. AirBook is a suite
of tools that developers can use to create PC based training systems for military aircrew. The idea underlying
AirBook is that each trainee (and each instructor) has his own laptop or access to a desktop computer with
AirBook installed, and therefore certain aspects of training can be undertaken at an initial stage and thereby
reduce the need for access to an expensive high-speciﬁcation full mission simulator or an actual ﬂight. After
completing a dynamic training syllabus, including coursework, tests and simulation sessions under the
guidance of both human instructors and AirBook’s virtual instructor, students should be better prepared to
begin the later stages of training.
The AirBook system requires little hardware other than a server, PCs or laptops and appropriate input
devices such as a side-stick, throttle and optional display systems. The laptop can also be used for more
conventional e-learning, effectively replacing large quantities of paper manuals. AirBook can log a student’s
progress towards successful completion of a curriculum. In more advanced applications the system can also
incorporate post mission debrieﬁng material from real ﬂights or from full simulator missions. The
architecture is modular and sold in bundled component packages; not all customers will buy the whole
system.
Historically, SimiGon does not usually provide content to the customer for COTS solutions, although it may
sell training and consultancy services alongside its basic toolkit. The AirBook product itself consists of a
graphics engine, which models the physics of the environment and objects being simulated and a set of tools
that clients can use to develop their training curriculum.

12

PART II — INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
SimiGon increasingly does not sell AirBook directly to end users, preferring instead to sell the software
engine to partners or resellers (prime contractors) who then provide the training content. SimiGon may have
input aiding the development of any given system but the main customisation is normally carried out by the
prime contractor. The AirBook tools can be used for more ambitious projects up to and including the
development of full mission simulators. The Company believes that the SIMbox technology is not in itself
militarily sensitive. Sensitive information, for example the performance of aircraft and weapons, is supplied
to the prime contractor by the customer and never necessarily needs to be released to SimiGon. This is one
of the major strengths of SIMbox, as technical information relating to the aircraft in connection with which
training packages are designed to be used is often highly sensitive and government customers often do not
want this information distributed beyond their prime contractors.
The AirBook business model works on a licence basis, under which SimiGon charges for licence fees,
typically to prime contractors. SimiGon also generates support and training revenues on an annual basis.
Typically, a seat sells for between $17,000 – $34,000 depending on speciﬁcation and volume. SimiGon can
also provide, when required, input into the simulation and scenario design process and thereby generate
additional revenue, although typically this would be the role of the prime contractor. SimiGon also provides
an aftermarket support service, including the supply of new software versions. These services represent an
additional source revenue for the Company.
SimiGon is actively pursuing the application of the AirBook concept for civil aircraft pilots, ﬁrstly targeting
commercial airline pilots and secondly private pilots. This product is expected to start to generate sales in
the ﬁrst part of 2007. SimiGon is actively investigating further uses of SIMbox for other markets such as
industrial controls, vehicle drivers and power stations.
2. D-Brief PC
The D-Brief PC product uses data collected during training missions to enable aircrews and their
commanders to analyse performance. The system uses telemetry to track aircraft and other objects during
the exercise and then processes this information and presents it on display screens as an aid for the
post-mission debrief process. D-Brief PC accounted for 12 per cent. of revenue in 2005. D-Brief PC presents
to users a full simulation of the action as it happens, with the ability to replay and analyse events from any
angle. The Directors believe that the main advantage over other established systems, such as those supplied
by Cubic Corporation, is the modularity of D-Brief PC and the ability of SimiGon’s partners and end users
to tailor the system to their exact needs. D-Brief PC is subject to military security issues and a permit from
the Israeli Ministry of Defence to negotiate the export of this product has been obtained by the Company
to negotiate contracts with parties in a number of territories including the US, Thailand and Turkey. Speciﬁc
export licences are required for individual sales. The Directors believe that the software represents an
improvement over previous debrieﬁng methods and that this assertion has been proven by the adoption of
the system for use by several major air forces and private aerospace and defence contractors. Current users
of D-Brief PC include several national air forces.
3. AirTrack
SimiGon has developed AirTrack, an application of the Company’s SIMbox technology, to create a
three-dimensional interactive moving map product for IFE (In-Flight Entertainment) systems for use on
commercial airliners. AirTrack uses satellite photography overlaid on a 3D terrain map and a model of the
airliner, so that passengers can look at the aircraft from various viewpoints, ﬂying over what appears to be
a real landscape. The system even permits simulated cockpit views. AirTrack accounted for 15 per cent. of
revenue in 2005. The Directors believe the product represents a signiﬁcant enhancement relative to current
‘moving map’ products available to passengers as existing similar technology only shows basic data in two
dimensions. The Directors also believe that the Company’s system is cheaper than competing offerings and
it has a further attraction in that, once purchased, the airline can reconﬁgure the system itself.
Figure 1 – AirTrack In-Flight Moving map System
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The Directors believe the market opportunity for AirTrack is large, given that over 17,000 commercial
airliners are currently in service, plus a large number of mid to large size business jets. In the years 2004 and
2005, over 1,900 new airliners were delivered in aggregate. SimiGon has designed AirTrack to be a ‘ﬁt and
forget’ replacement for the existing industry standard unit. SimiGon aims to win a signiﬁcant share of the
replacement market due to the lower price and the high speciﬁcation of AirTrack. The Directors expect the
product to be highly proﬁtable as its development costs were limited because AirTrack has utilised existing
SIMbox technology. The product has already been sold to a number of airlines in Europe.
Since its launch, AirTrack has secured over $1.2 million in sales and is to be deployed on approximately 100
aircraft under current contracts.
4. CarBook and other potential applications
SimiGon is working on a range of other applications which will utilise the Company’s core SIMbox
technology and KnowBook concept. The underlying idea is that any complex procedure is best learned in
a hands-on fashion. For example, it is the Directors’ view that modern cars are becoming more complex and
that some form of driver training is required, both for the driver to get as much as possible out of the car’s
systems and also for safety reasons.
SimiGon has therefore developed an online training system which the Company is in the process of offering
to luxury car manufacturers. The anticipated business model for this would be a small optional charge taken
at the point of sale to register the driver for an online course.
Sales, Licensing and Partnership Model
SimiGon has sought to create an Open Architecture model for its software. This model positions the
Company as a provider of a simulation environment that is used by other companies to create simulation and
training content. Standard protocols for communication between simulation software engines have already
been created by the US Department of Defence, for example ‘SCORM’ (Sharable Content Object
Reference Model) and ‘HLA’ (High Level Architecture) and these protocols have become adopted as the
method for ensuring the inter-operability of systems and simulations from different suppliers. The SimiGon
software engine is fully compliant with both the SCORM and HLA protocols. Customer developed content
is compatible with other objects created within the SimiGon system, making geographically distributed
operations and simulations containing objects created by multiple users a possibility. SIMbox is used in this
way in the defence environment where it has proven to be a reliable tool with which to conduct exercises
involving multiple participants in remote locations.
As a result of this Open Architecture approach, the Company is able to sell both directly to end users and
indirectly via partners under the SimiGon Partnership Programme (SPP). Under the SPP, SimiGon partners
are trained and licensed to independently develop training content within the SIMbox software system for
their own end users. This enables SimiGon to focus on technology development, overcome security
classiﬁcation issues and to reach a wider market as the partner markets and sells the underlying SimiGon
product with its own value added content. A partner who uses the SimiGon software engine in this way is
referred to by the Company as a ‘SIMbox Certiﬁed Organisation’ (SCO). The Company’s list of SCOs
includes leading aerospace and defence corporations. The Company runs a programme called the ‘SimiGon
Academy’ to train SCOs to use the product effectively to create their own content within the virtual
environment created by SimiGon.
When SimiGon provides software directly to end users, content creation and customisation work is usually
also undertaken. In the past such customisation and content creation work represented a signiﬁcant
proportion of the Company’s revenue. The Directors expect this proportion to reduce in the future as more
sales are made through partners.
The Company also generates revenue from maintenance, support and training. Maintenance and support
revenue included in multiple element arrangements is deferred and recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the maintenance and support agreement.
Software Development and Distribution
SimiGon’s technology development is undertaken principally at its ofﬁces in Herzlia, Israel. Occasionally, the
Company performs onsite development for its customers. SimiGon undertakes design, development, testing
and quality control in-house and markets its products directly and through SimiGon partners. Licensed
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SimiGon partners can develop and distribute content autonomously but must purchase end user licenses
from SimiGon. Software is distributed via installation CDs and by downloading installation ﬁles from the
Company’s secure server. The Company’s marketing team is divided between North America and the rest of
the world. The Company markets its products throughout North America, Western Europe and Asia.
Key Customers, Partnerships and Projects
SimiGon has a global customer base, spread across the US, Canada, Italy, Netherlands, Israel, Turkey,
Singapore and Thailand. In the year to 2005, 79 per cent. of sales were realised in North America, 13 per
cent. in Europe, the Middle East and Africa and 8 per cent. in the Asia-Paciﬁc.
Partners and customers include leading defence and aerospace companies.
Growth Strategy
SimiGon aims to become the leading provider of training and simulation technologies for the government
and commercial training sectors. The Company’s short term growth strategy focuses on the following
initiatives:
•

Establishing SimiGon software as the leading technology platform in the military aviation training
market;

•

Establishing the Company’s presence in urban combat training programmes;

•

Becoming a prime contractor for US government contract vehicles with the aim of securing long-term
programmes for large-scale customers;

•

Partnering with prime contractors and subcontractors to win signiﬁcant work share in major military
training programmes;

•

Leveraging technologies used in government programmes to become a force in the growing commercial
market;

•

Expanding the technology gap between the Company and its competition in the areas of simulation,
graphics and content development tools; and

•

Increasing marketing activities to underpin SimiGon’s products as the industry standard for the
e-learning simulation sector.

To promote SimiGon’s growth into new markets, the Company intends to:
•

Leverage its current position in aviation markets to become a force in the commercial e-simulation
learning market;

•

Develop a web-based CarBook programme with major automobile manufacturers;

•

Strengthen existing partnerships with industry leaders and forge new relationships in target industries;

•

Continue to develop new features and products to maintain market relevancy and increase market share;
and

•

Develop a next generation 3D graphics engine.

In the longer term it is the aim of the Company to win business in relevant government training programmes.
As a provider of an inter-operable open architecture simulation product, the Company has the ability to
partner with one or more bidders tendering for training project tenders. SIMbox’s robust and modular
architecture allows speciﬁc bidders to offer differentiating capabilities while using the same underlining
SIMbox technology. The Company will seek to maximise its chances of winning business in this way, with the
ultimate goal of becoming the preferred supplier of simulation products for major government training
contracts. Current bids which will use SimiGon’s products include contracts for training provision to the UK’s
MFTS (Military Flying Training School) and BWC (Basic Wing Course) in Singapore.
Geographically, the Directors intend to focus on high growth territories, meaning that the Company will
continue to increase its presence in North America but also target other high growth markets in Europe and
Asia.
It is the Directors intention to actively seek out alternative applications of the Company’s technology in the
non-military arena.
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The Company has taken steps to approach the gaming and sports entertainment market by teaming with the
Rocket Racing League, a company established to host rocket-powered aircraft racing events, to provide
simulation and gaming services.
The Company has also identiﬁed other promising opportunities outside the areas on which it currently
focuses, such as medical care and homeland security, and plans to evaluate these fully once funding has been
secured.
Research and Development
The Company recognises the importance of innovation and the need to continually develop new features and
products to maintain market relevance and increase market share.
Use of Proceeds
The Directors intend to apply the proceeds of the Placing to the following areas to continue the development
of the Company’s business:
•

Expansion of application, marketing and sales capabilities including the recruitment of further
marketing personnel and increased marketing spend;

•

Strengthening of product research and development and implementation activities, included accelerated
development of new product versions and an expansion of the technical support function accompanied
by the recruitment of an additional software engineer and programming manager;

•

Expansion into new product areas;

•

Working capital, retention of key personnel and balance sheet strengthening; and

•

Repayment of shareholder loans (up to approximately £810,000).

Competitors
SimiGon is the only company that the Directors are aware of which has the capability to provide a totally
comprehensive training solution comprised of hi-ﬁdelity 3D simulation, a learning management system
(LMS) and content development tools. As such, the Directors believe that there are no ﬁrms in respect of
which SimiGon is in direct competition. Rather, competition is peripheral, coming from both the training and
simulation market and LMS market. By establishing KnowBook as a global brand renowned for being an
effective, all-in-one training system, the Directors hope to retain this competitive advantage. In this event,
the Directors believe that new entrants would have to compete against its blue chip partners or prime
contractors who have adopted SIMbox as part of their product offering.
The Directors believe that competition in the simulation market will arise from certain companies which
currently offer partial solutions, including:
•

CAE, Inc. – a Canada based manufacturer of large full-mission simulators. Considered a potential
competitor to the extent that it shifts its focus to PC-based solutions;

•

Multigen-Paradigm – a provider of real-time, end-to-end 3D solutions. It is a simulation manufacturer,
focusing on database creation and visualisation with the potential to expand or partner with other
companies to create a complete set of content creation tools that could compete with SIMbox;

•

Link Simulation and Training – a subsidiary of L-3 Communication Holdings Inc., which offers high
ﬁdelity training devices and is exposed to the increasing need for PC based software solutions. The
Directors believe that this may lead them into developing a lower end distributed PC based solution that
is not based on SimiGon technology;

•

Ubisoft Entertainment – a games developer offering Lock-On, an air combat gaming platform. The
increasing ﬁdelity of gaming software may lead competitors to seek to apply their software to
professional training applications; and

•

Microsoft Corporation – Flight Simulator, a popular game amongst aviation enthusiasts but not currently
suitable for the professional market.
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The learning management market comprises large, medium and small-sized companies including:
•

Saba Software Inc. – a leading LMS developer;

•

SumTotal Systems Inc. – a small sized leading LMS developer;

•

Meridian Knowledge Systems Inc. – a small sized LMS provider;

•

Oracle – a software giant; it bundles LMS into its ERP software; and

•

SAP AG – a software giant; it bundles LMS into its ERP software.

Board of Directors
Alistair Rae, Non-Executive Chairman (47)
Alistair is currently chief executive of LTG Technologies Plc, an AIM listed company, having been a
non-executive director from 2002 to 2005. He was the group finance director of Jarvis Plc from 2004 to 2005,
guiding the company through a period of reconstruction. Prior to this he was a director in the corporate
finance department of HSBC Investment Bank from 1996 to 2002 and before that he worked in corporate
finance at Cazenove for ten years in the UK and the Far East. Alistair qualiﬁed as a Chartered Accountant
with KPMG.
Amos (Ami) Vizer, President and CEO (37)
Ami founded SimiGon Ltd. in 1998. He was previously a founder of Logi-cali, a software development house
specialising in data storage applications. Before this, he was a business development manager at ISYS, a
software development company specialising in organisation management systems. In total, he has over
12 years of IT-related management experience.
Haim Yatim, CFO (43)
Haim was the chief ﬁnancial ofﬁcer of Digital Power Corporation, an AMEX quoted manufacturer of power
supplies from 2002 to 2004 and was previously a partner with Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, the member
in Israel of Ernst & Young Global in the high-technology sector team where he advised on four successful
NASDAQ listings of technology companies. Haim is a Chartered Public Accountant.
Graham Woolfman, Non-Executive Director (49)
Graham is head of Business Development and Advisory and was previously managing director for
investment banking at Cavendish Asset Management Limited. He is also a non executive director of
Gateway VCT plc, a UK Venture Capital Trust which is listed on the Ofﬁcial List, and is Managing Partner
of its adviser Gateway Management and Advisory LLP. Graham was previously a partner in Corporate
Finance at Levy Gee for 15 years (and therefore subsequently an executive at Numerica Group) and has
been a non-executive director of a number of unquoted companies. He is a Chartered Accountant and a
member of the Board of the Faculty of Corporate Finance at the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England & Wales.
Dr. Vered Shany, Independent Non-Executive Director (42)
Since March 2002, Vered has managed Tashik Consultants, providing strategic consulting and corporate
analysis in the life sciences sector. Previously, Dr. Shany has served as managing director of Up-Tech
Ventures Ltd., as a member of the board of directors of the Weizmann Science Park Incubator and as vice
president of marketing for Arad Technological Incubator. Before this Vered was business and marketing
manager of Medun Ltd., a medical start-up company, from 1995 to 1998. Vered received her masters’ degree
in business administration from Heriot–Watt University, Edinburgh Business School, and gained her
Doctorate of Medical Dentistry and her B.Med.Sc from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem.
Nevat Simon, Independent Non-Executive Director (44)
Nevat has practised as a Certiﬁed Public Accountant in his own accounting ﬁrm since 1991, providing both
accounting and other ﬁnancial services to the ﬁrm’s clients. He has previously served on the board of Sprint
Investments Ltd. and Multimetrics Ltd., both publicly listed companies on the Tel-Aviv stock exchange and
on the board of numerous private companies. Nevat has a BB in Accounting and Marketing from the
Business College of Management in Tel-Aviv and has been a member of the Certiﬁed Public Accountant
Council in the Justice Department of the State of Israel since 1991.
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Shareholder lock-ins
At Admission, the Lock-In Persons will hold or be interested in, directly and indirectly, an aggregate of
24,436,989 Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 66 per cent. of the Company’s share capital on
Admission.
Each of the Lock-In Persons have undertaken to Panmure Gordon and to the Company not to dispose of
any of the Ordinary Shares in which they are interested at Admission (subject to certain limited exceptions)
within twelve months of Admission without Panmure Gordon’s prior consent. Thereafter, until the second
anniversary of Admission they have each undertaken neither to sell nor to dispose of any such Ordinary
Shares other than through Panmure Gordon (subject to certain limited exceptions).
In addition, Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd., who will hold 653,524 Ordinary Shares on Admission, have
undertaken to Panmure Gordon and the Company not to dispose of Ordinary Shares held by them at
Admission (subject to certain exceptions) within twelve months of Admission without Panmure Gordon’s
prior consent.
Further details of these arrangements are set out in paragraphs 12.4 and 12.5 of Part VI of this document.
Corporate Governance
The Directors recognise the importance of sound corporate governance and intend that the Company will
comply with the provisions of the Combined Code insofar as they are appropriate given the Company’s size
and stage of development. The Company intends to comply with all corporate governance regulations that
will apply to it under Israeli law following Admission.
Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Law, the Company has nominated Vered Shaney and Nevat
Simon as external (independent) directors. Further information on the role of an external (independent)
director under the Companies Law is contained in paragraph 16.2 of Part VI.
The Board is responsible for formulating, reviewing and approving the Company’s strategy, budgets and
corporate actions. Following Admission, the Company intends to hold Board meetings at least ﬁve times
each ﬁnancial year and at other times as and when required.
The Company has established properly constituted audit and remuneration committees of the Board with
formally delegated duties and responsibilities.
The audit committee has primary responsibility for monitoring the quality of internal controls and ensuring
that the ﬁnancial performance of the Company is properly measured and reported on. It will receive and
review reports from the Company’s management and auditors relating to the interim and annual accounts
and the accounting and internal control systems in use throughout the Company. The audit committee will
meet not less than twice in each ﬁnancial year and will have unrestricted access to the Company’s auditors.
Members of the audit committee are Graham Woolfman (Chairman), Nevat Simon and Vered Shany.
The remuneration committee will review the performance of the executive directors and make
recommendations to the Board on matters relating to their remuneration and terms of employment. The
committee will also make recommendations to the Board on proposals for the granting of share options and
other equity incentives pursuant to any share option scheme or equity incentive scheme in operation from
time to time. The committee will meet at least twice in each ﬁnancial year and as such as other times as the
chairman of the committee shall require. In exercising this role, the Directors shall have regard to the
recommendations put forward in the Combined Code. Members of the remuneration committee are Alistair
Rae (Chairman), Vered Shany and Nevat Simon.
The Company has adopted a model code for directors and employee share dealings which, taking account
of the fact that the Company is incorporated in Israel, is appropriate for a company whose securities are
traded on AIM and is in accordance with Rule 21 of the AIM Rules.
Financial Record
The following summary historic ﬁnancial information is extracted without material adjustment from the
ﬁnancial information contained in Part V of this document.
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In order to make a proper assessment of the ﬁnancial performance of the Group, reliance should not be
placed solely on the extract set out below but should be read in conjunction with the whole of this document,
including the ﬁnancial information set out in Part V of this document and, so far as the Directors are aware
(and are able to ascertain from the information contained in the ﬁnancial information), no facts have been
omitted which would render such information below inaccurate or misleading.
($000s)
2003

Revenues
Gross Proﬁt
Operating Proﬁt
Proﬁt After Tax
Note:

Year to 31 December
2004
2005

3,266
2,763
763
697

4,495
3,633
1,008
941

4,588
3,964
949
890

6 months to 30 June
2005
2006
(unaudited)

2,095
1,810
382
372

3,709
2,988
1,041
1,007

The Company has adopted a revenue recognition policy as set out in Note 2(l) of the Financial Information section on page 37
of this document.

Current Trading and Prospects
Since 30 June 2006 SimiGon has continued to make good progress in sales of its existing products. AirBook
continues to be the leading product in SimiGon’s offering. D-Brief PC also continues to provide consistent
revenues as clients continue to place orders. The Directors believe that AirTrack promises to be a
particularly successful product for the Company as a major new contract with a leading European airline is
close to completion.
A further development since 30 June 2006 has been the successful completion and release of version 5.0 of
SIMbox. This version offers several beneﬁts over previous versions including an improved development
environment with new wizards and toolbars integrated into Microsoft Visual Studio 2005 IDE, advanced
design and planning artiﬁcial intelligence modules, a new high ﬁdelity ﬂight model and the capability to build
SCORM 2004 simulation sessions with full integration into the LMS, enabling distribution, tracking and
monitoring based on technologies such as SQL 2005 Server and .net2. This new release illustrates SimiGon’s
commitment to the constant improvement and expansion of its products. Development work also continues
on new products and applications of SimiGon’s technology including car and marine training applications.
The Directors are satisﬁed with the progress made to date in the second half of the ﬁnancial year to
31 December 2006 and remain conﬁdent that the full year results will meet their expectations.
Dividend Policy
The Directors do not intend to declare a dividend in the short to medium term, preferring to seek to generate
capital growth through the reinvestment of earnings. The Directors may recommend distributions of
dividends at a future date when it becomes ﬁnancially prudent to do so.
Taxation
A general guide to the main UK and Israeli tax consequences that will apply to Shareholders who hold their
Ordinary Shares as investments and are UK resident individuals or companies is set out in paragraph 17 of
Part VI of this document and your attention is drawn to this section. Persons who are in any doubt as to their
tax position or who are subject to tax in jurisdictions other than the UK are strongly advised to consult their
own professional advisers.
CREST
Application has been made to the London Stock Exchange for the Enlarged Share Capital to be admitted
to trading on AIM. It is expected that Admission will be effective and that dealings in the Ordinary Shares
will commence on 2 November 2006.
Securities of certain non-UK incorporated companies, such as the Company, cannot be held or transferred
in CREST, a computerised paperless share transfer and settlement system which allows shares and other
securities to be held in electronic, rather than paper, form. However, to enable investors to settle such
securities through CREST, a depositary or custodian can hold the relevant securities and issue DIs
representing the underlying securities, which are held on trust for the holders of the DIs.
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With effect from Admission, it will be possible for CREST members to hold and transfer interests in
Ordinary Shares within CREST pursuant to a DI arrangement established by the Company. CREST is a
voluntary system and holders of Ordinary Shares who wish to receive and retain share certiﬁcates will also
be able to do so. The Ordinary Shares will not themselves be admitted to CREST. Instead, the Depositary
will issue DIs in respect of the underlying Ordinary Shares. The DIs will be independent securities
constituted under English law, which may be held and transferred through CREST. DIs will have the same
international security identiﬁcation number (ISIN) as the underlying Ordinary Shares and will not require
a separate listing.
The DIs will be created and issued pursuant to a deed poll entered into by the Depositary, which will govern
the relationship between the Depository and the holders of DIs.
Application has been made by the Depositary for the DIs in respect of the underlying Ordinary Shares to
be admitted to CREST with effect from Admission. Holders of Ordinary Shares in certiﬁcated form who
wish to hold DIs through CREST may be able to do so and should contact the Depositary. Further
information on settlement arrangements is set out in paragraph 18 of Part VI of this document.
It is expected that, subject to the Placing Agreement becoming unconditional:
•

where the Placee so elects, despatch of deﬁnitive share certiﬁcates (if applicable) will occur by post at
the Placee’s risk by 9 November 2006; or

•

only if the Placee is a ‘‘system member’’ (as deﬁned in the CREST Regulations) in relation to CREST,
CREST accounts will be credited with DIs representing the Placing Shares subscribed for on
2 November 2006.

No temporary documents of title will be issued. All documents or remittances sent by or to a Placee, or as
they may direct, will be sent through the post at their risk.
Further Information
Your attention is drawn to the information included in the rest of this document. In particular, you are
advised to carefully consider the risk factors contained in Part IV of this document.
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Introduction
SIMbox, SimiGon’s core software engine product, has been intentionally developed as a ﬂexible system that
can be applied in many spheres of training and knowledge transfer, as well as being used for real-time
simulations and post-event debrieﬁng. The Company aims to build on its historic presence in the aerospace
and defence e-learning simulation market whilst actively pursuing new opportunities for civilian and
non-aviation related applications of the software. Examples of such opportunities exist within the
commercial aviation training, homeland security, entertainment, business and general aviation training,
industrial process training, medical training, and corporate education markets.
The Global E-learning and Simulation Market
According to research conducted by Brandon Hall, the e-Learning simulation training products and services
market is forecasted to reach $37 billion by 2011. A total of $51.1 billion was spent globally on formal
training in 2005, of which $13.5 billion was spent on training products and services, up from $13.3 billion in
2004. Over the period 26 per cent. of ﬁrms said their training budgets increased.
The Directors believe that there appears to be an industry shift away from expensive, stationary training
systems towards more robust, cost-effective and PC or laptop-based training systems.
The Defence Market
The US military T&S sector is estimated at over $5 billion in 2006 and is forecast to increase by 0.7 per cent.
annually through to 2011 (Source: Frost & Sullivan, ‘US Military Training and Simulation Markets,’
July 2006). The beneﬁts of SimiGon’s approach to PC-based training solutions are several: it can eliminate
large paper manuals, the progress of students can be monitored more closely and it enables the use of
simulation to permit trainees to learn by doing rather than by reading or by listening to a lecture. The
Directors believe that the defence industry’s demand for the Company’s products will grow as the market
moves away from large developmental training systems toward non-developmental, reconﬁgurable COTS
software such as SimiGon’s.
The following table, compiled by Todaysmilitary.com illustrates the size of the current potential US defence
training market.
Market

Number of individuals

Military pilots
Flight engineers
Armoured assault vehicle crews
Artillery & missile crews
Combat mission support ofﬁcers
Special forces
Air trafﬁc controllers
Quartermasters/ship operators
Vehicle drivers
Aircraft mechanics
Power plant operators

28,500
3,000
23,000
38,000
2,000
5,500
7,000
2,000
14,000
70,000
13,000

The defence market offers the advantage of recurring revenues that can be established through the winning
of long-term training contracts.
There are numerous military aviation programmes currently utilising SimiGon’s training systems, including
the Joint Strike Fighter programme and F-16, F-15, F/A-18, Predator (UAV), helicopter and Air Trafﬁc
Controller training. In terms of potential, the jet trainer market is undergoing a renaissance as many new
aircraft platforms either have been or will be selected in the near future in the UK, Greece, Israel, and
Singapore amongst others. SimiGon is positioned very well in the competitive process for the Singapore
BWC project and in the $18.5 billion UK MFTS programme. The MFTS programme aims to train around
90 to 100 pilots a year.
Ultimate production numbers for the three main variants of JSF (the F35 Lightning II) are disputed but it
is anticipated that they will number in the thousands. It is to be used by the US Air Force, US Navy, US
Marine Corps, the British Royal Navy and RAF, the Italian air force and navy, the Netherlands, Turkey,
Canada, Australia and Denmark. It replaces the F16, the AV8B/Harrier, the Sea Harrier and a variety of
other aircraft types in front-line service. It has been developed jointly by the US and the customer countries
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and the training system is integral to the programme for the ﬁrst time for a military aircraft. This implies that
the same training system may be adopted by all customers as part of a complete package. The Directors
believe that such a programme would involve the training of at least 6,000 pilots worldwide. The JSF
programme already accounts for part of SimiGon’s turnover. The JSF programme is also important to
SimiGon because the prominence of the programme is such that in the event of the Company winning a
major position on it, the Directors expect that it would assist in the winning of other business.
Key customers of the Company and partners that have adopted SimiGon’s technology include leading
aerospace and defense corporations such as Lockheed Martin. The NxTrain product, developed by
Lockheed Martin, uses SimiGon’s software and is one of the systems being considered for use in several
programmes.
The Company will continue to implement this alliance strategy across other training programmes.
The Commercial Market
SimiGon’s training products can be implemented for commercial ﬂight training, air trafﬁc control, maritime
operations, nuclear and electric power plants, driving, medical care, and any other roles requiring a high level
of operational skill. The Directors believe that by strategically identifying and approaching players in
commercial training markets and simulation-enabling their training solutions, SimiGon can signiﬁcantly
boost sales. The Directors believe that SIMbox’s open architecture technology, developed initially to meet
demanding military aviation training standards, can be adapted to these markets and integrated with existing
training solutions.
The following table, compiled by the US Department of Labor, Bureau of Statistics, 2006, shows estimated
size of the current potential US training market in several major areas.
Market

Number of individuals

Commercial pilots
Commercial aircraft technicians
Air trafﬁc controllers
Drivers
Truck/bus drivers
Rail transportation
Water transportation
Heavy machinery
Physicians & surgeons
Power plant operators

84,000
142,000
24,000
199,000,000
3,453,000
112,000
72,000
449,000
567,000
47,000

Globally, over 27,000 new passenger jet aircraft are to be delivered between 2006 and 2024. The global
aircraft ﬂeet is forecast to reach over 35,000 aircraft by 2024. Airline passenger trafﬁc is forecast to grow at
an annual rate of 4.9 per cent. for the next 20 years. Airbus, Boeing, Embraer and Bombardier are competing
to win aircraft orders worth an estimated $2.6 trillion over the next 20 years.
SimiGon has supplied around 100 AirTrack systems so far to several European airlines, including
Hapag-Lloyd and Air Berlin. The Directors expect to be able to announce sales to a further major
international airline in the near future and other major airlines based on the Company’s current pipeline in
due course. The addressable market is at least 17,000 existing passenger aircraft together with the new
aircraft delivered each year. In addition there is an existing and new aircraft market for business jets.
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In addition to all other information set out in this document, the following speciﬁc risk factors should be
considered carefully by potential investors in evaluating whether to make an investment in the Company.
The investment described in this document may not be suitable for all of its recipients.
Before making a ﬁnal decision, investors in any doubt are advised to consult a person authorised under
FSMA who specialises in advising on the acquisition of shares and other securities.
You should carefully consider the risks described below and ensure that you have read this document in its
entirety before making a decision to invest in the Company. Prospective investors should be aware that an
investment in the Company is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other
information contained in this document, the Directors believe that the following risk factors are the most
signiﬁcant for potential investors and should be considered carefully in evaluating whether to make an
investment in the Company. If any of the risks described in this document actually occur, the Company may
not be able to conduct its business as currently planned and its ﬁnancial condition, operating results and cash
ﬂows could be seriously harmed. In that case, the market price of the Ordinary Shares could decline and all
or part of an investment in the Ordinary Shares could be lost. However, the risks listed do not necessarily
comprise all those associated with an investment in the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to the Directors, or which the Directors currently deem immaterial, may also have an
adverse effect on the Company. In particular, the Company’s performance may be affected by changes in
market or economic conditions and in legal, regulatory and tax requirements. The risks listed below are not
set out in any particular order of priority.
Expansion into new markets
The Company intends to penetrate new markets. However, there can be no guarantee that entry into these
markets will generate commercially viable revenues and failure to do so could therefore negatively impact
the Company’s ﬁnancial and management resources, diverting them away from other uses.
Continued product development and introduction
The Company must continually develop and reﬁne its products in order to maintain (or increase) its market
position and this may require sizable investments by the Company, particularly if there are signiﬁcant
changes in technology in the future. The development of new or enhanced products is a complex process and
delays may be experienced due to difﬁculties encountered in the various development and implementation
processes, which could prevent or delay the introduction of new or enhanced products.
Industry standards
Industry standards adopted in the future may be different from those anticipated by the Company. This may
result in the Company being unable to introduce products which comply with new standards in a timely
manner. Product standardisation may have the effect of lowering barriers to entry in the markets in which
the Company operates and lowering average selling prices, which together with increased competition, could
result in a reduction in the Company’s gross proﬁt and reduction in market share.
Export controls of military technology
The Company is subject to Israeli export control laws and regulations in respect of certain products and
technologies with military application. The Company is subject to the risk that more stringent export
controls could be imposed in the future, which could adversely affect the ability of the Company to sell its
products to both military and civilian customers.
The Company holds a permit granted by the Israeli Ministry of Defence which permits the Company to
negotiate for the export of AirBook and D-Brief PC to certain countries. This permit is valid until
31 July 2007. The Company does not hold a permit for the export of the AirBook product, as it is of the view
that the product and its underlying technology does not require an export permit. If, in the view of the Israeli
Ministry of Defence, such a permit is required, there is a risk that criminal sanctions could be brought against
the Company and the Directors and the export of this product would not be possible absent such a permit.
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Proprietary technology and intellectual property
The Company is dependent on maintaining the proprietary rights in its technology and on rights licensed
from third parties. The Company relies on trade secrets and copyright law and non-disclosure and
assignment-of-invention agreements to protect its proprietary technology. Competitors of the Company may
seek to bring actions against the Company for alleged third party infringements. Competitors may
independently develop technologies substantially equivalent or superior to the Company’s own technology.
Third party patent applications ﬁled earlier may block the Company’s own patent applications. The
Company’s products may be sold in countries where there is less protection of intellectual property rights
than under European, US or Israeli law and enforcement of the Company’s intellectual property rights may
be ineffective.
Registration of Copyright in the United States
In the US, copyright in works exists when the work is created but a registration is required in order to be
able to seek statutory damages and rebut a counterclaim of innocent infringement and to sue for
infringement. The registration should be sought within 3 months of ﬁrst publication of the work or before
any infringement begins. To date, the Company has not made any applications to register copyright in the
United States and accordingly it may be unable to claim against third parties for infringement of its rights
relating to its proprietary software. The Company intends to make the necessary applications as soon as
practicable.
Dependence on key personnel
The Company relies on professional and skilled staff in the development, marketing and supply of its
products and the management of its business. The departure of such key employees could cause the
Company difﬁculties in developing, marketing and supplying its products and managing its business and
would consequently have a material adverse affect on the Company’s business. The Company’s business and
its relationships with customers and partners is signiﬁcantly dependent on the full time involvement of Ami
Vizer. The departure of Ami Vizer from the Company would have a signiﬁcant adverse effect on its business
and ﬁnancial position. The Company has not purchased key man insurance in respect of Ami Vizer.
Competition
Other companies have strong capabilities in simulation software. These include game designers, simulator
manufacturers and major defence contractors. Some of these businesses are very well resourced and could
seek to become competitors, particularly as the market grows.
Reverse Engineering by Customers
SimiGon’s main route to market is via prime contractors which use SimiGon’s software to build the training
programmes sold to end users. These prime contractors could seek to write their own software tools to
perform the same functions. Any such development could reduce SimiGon’s access and exposure to end
users and could materially affect SimiGon’s business.
Dependence on Key Customers
For the 31⁄2 year period ended 30 June 2006, over 79 per cent. of the Company’s total revenues were
attributable to 4 customer groups. The loss of any one of these groups would have a material adverse impact
on the revenues, proﬁtability and overall ﬁnancial position of the Company in the event the Company was
not able to replace them with additional or alternative customers.
Dependence on Key Contracts & Programme Delays
Signiﬁcant elements of the growth of SimiGon for the next few years are expected to rely on a few key
contracts. Any or all of these could be delayed or cancelled. Any such delays or cancellations could
materially adversely affect the Company’s ﬁnancial performance and the growth of its business.
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Defence Budget Cuts
Defence budgets in the US and Europe may come under pressure over the next few years to reduce
spending. This could reduce the budgets that SimiGon’s customers, partners and end users allocate to the
purchase and use of products such as those of the Company and could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s sales and ﬁnancial position. It is possible that all defence industry suppliers are likely to feel some
effect from a tightening market.
Tax status may change
Under SimiGon’s ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’ status, more particularly described in paragraph 12.11 of Part VI,
SimiGon beneﬁts from a tax exempt period of 2 years and a reduced rate for a certain period thereafter in
respect of undistributed income derived from the ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’ programme commencing in the
ﬁrst year in which the Company earns taxable income. Any adverse change in the relevant law would have
a signiﬁcant effect on the Company’s earnings as would any failure by the Company to comply with the
relevant conditions. Any attempt to move SimiGon’s domicile could lose this tax position. It is also possible
that SimiGon could become a tax payer in the US as a result of its US operations.
Professional Indemnity Insurance
The Company does not currently have in place any professional indemnity insurance. In the event of a claim
in respect of liabilities typically covered by such a policy, the Company would be exposed to such liabilities
without the ability to rely on insurance coverage which could have a material adverse effect of the
Company’s ﬁnancial position.
Risks relating to the Company’s location in Israel
The Company’s operations in Israel may be subject to political, economic and security conditions affecting
Israel that could increase operating expenses and disrupt its business. The Company is incorporated under
Israeli law and has ofﬁces and research and development facilities located in the State of Israel. Accordingly,
political, economic and military conditions in Israel directly affect the Company’s operations. Since the
establishment of the State of Israel in 1948, a number of armed conﬂicts have taken place between Israel and
her Arab neighbours. A state of hostility, varying in degree and intensity, has led to security and economic
problems for Israel. The future of peace efforts between Israel and her Arab neighbours remains uncertain.
Any future armed conﬂicts or political instability in the region could negatively affect business conditions
and harm the Company’s operations. Whilst the Company believes that it would be possible to relocate its
activities in a relatively short timescale should it be considered necessary to do so, any relocation could have
material implications for the Company’s operations and tax position. The Company’s operations could be
disrupted by the absence for signiﬁcant periods of one or more of its executive ofﬁcers, key employees or a
signiﬁcant number of other employees because of military service. A number of the Company’s executive
ofﬁcers and the majority of its male employees in Israel are obliged to perform military reserve duty, which
accumulates annually from several days to up to two months in special cases and circumstances. The length
of such reserve duty depends, among other factors, on an individual’s age and prior position in the army. In
addition, if a military conﬂict or war occurs, these persons could be required to serve in the military for
extended periods of time. Any disruption in the Company’s operations as the result of military service by key
personnel could harm its business.
Israeli law
Shareholders rights and responsibilities will be governed by Israeli law and these differ from the rights and
responsibilities of shareholders under English law or the law of other non-Israeli jurisdictions. The Company
is incorporated under Israeli law. The rights and responsibilities of holders of the Ordinary Shares are
governed by the Company’s memorandum of association, the Company’s articles of association and by Israeli
law. In particular, a shareholder of an Israeli company has a duty to act in good faith towards the company
and other shareholders and to refrain from abusing his power in the company, including, amongst other
things, in voting at the general meeting of shareholders on certain matters. Further details are set out in
paragraph 16.4 of Part VI of this document.
The City Code on Takeovers and Mergers
The Company is incorporated in Israel and its head ofﬁce and place of central management is in Israel.
Accordingly, transactions in shares of the Company are not subject to the provisions of the UK Takeover
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Code. Under the Companies Law, a potential bidder for the Company’s shares, who would as a result of a
purchase of shares hold either 25 per cent. or more of the voting rights in the Company when no other party
holds 25 per cent. or more, or 45 per cent. or more of the voting rights in the Company where no other
shareholder holds 45 per cent. or more of the voting rights, would be required to make a special purchase
offer as set out in the provisions of the Companies Law. The Companies Law requires a special purchase
offer to be submitted to all shareholders. A positive response of a majority of the voting rights in the
Company is required to accept the special purchase offer. A ‘controlling shareholder’, as deﬁned under the
Companies Law, as well as a shareholder of 25 per cent. or more or their relatives or companies controlled
by them will not be counted, and cannot vote on the resolution. In the event that such a positive response
is received, those shareholders who failed to respond to the special purchase offer and those who may have
initially rejected the offer will have up to 4 days to decide if they wish to vote in favour of the special
purchase offer. If such shareholders decide to vote in favour of the special purchase offer they will be
considered as having originally voted in favour of such. A special purchase offer may only be accepted in the
event that at least 5 per cent. of the voting rights in the target company have been acquired under it. Further
information is contained in paragraph 16.5 of Part VI of this document.
Volatility of share price
The trading price of the Ordinary Shares may be subject to wide ﬂuctuations in response to a number of
events and factors, Company speciﬁc or otherwise, such as variations in operating results, changes in
ﬁnancial estimates, recommendations by securities analysts, the operating and share price performance of
other companies which investors may deem comparable to the Company and news reports relating to trends
in the geographical and sectoral markets in which the Company operates. These factors may adversely affect
the trading price of the Ordinary Shares, regardless of the Company’s operating performance.
Foreign exchange
The Company incurs expenses in NIS and other currencies. A substantial proportion of expenses is incurred
in or linked to $. Substantially all of the Company’s sales are made in non-Israeli currency, mainly $. The
Company could be adversely affected by changes in the exchange rates between these currencies. The
Company does not currently engage in hedging or use any other ﬁnancial arrangement to minimise risk.
Realisation of investment
Potential investors should be aware that the value of shares and income from them can go down as well as
up, that Admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM should not be taken as implying that there will
be a liquid market in the Ordinary Shares and that the market price of the Ordinary Shares may not reﬂect
the underlying value of the Company. An investment in the Ordinary Shares may therefore be difﬁcult to
realise.
Liquidity of the Ordinary Shares
It may be more difﬁcult for an investor to realise his or her investment in a company whose shares are traded
on AIM than a company whose securities are listed on the Ofﬁcial List of the United Kingdom Listing
Authority. AIM has been in existence since June 1995 but its future success and liquidity as a market for the
Ordinary Shares cannot be guaranteed. Prospective investors should be aware that the value of the Ordinary
Shares could go down as well as up and investors may therefore not recover their initial investment,
especially as the market in the Ordinary Shares may have limited liquidity.
The risk factors listed above do not necessarily comprise all those associated with an investment in the
Company.
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ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON SIMIGON
The Directors and Proposed Directors of
SimiGon Ltd.
1 Sapir Street
PO Box 12050
Herzelia 46733
Israel
27 October, 2006
Dear Sirs,
SIMIGON LTD.
We report on the ﬁnancial information set out in pages 29 to 51 as at December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 and
as at June 30, 2006 and on proﬁt, cash ﬂow and changes in equity for the period then ended but excluding
the unaudited ﬁnancial information for the period ended June 30, 2005 set out in those pages entitled
(‘‘the ﬁnancial information’’). This ﬁnancial information has been prepared for inclusion in the Admission
Document dated 27 October 2006 of SimiGon Ltd. on the basis of the accounting policies set out in note 2.
This report is required by Schedule Two of the AIM Rules and is given for the purpose of complying with
that Schedule and for no other purpose.
Responsibility
The Directors of SimiGon Ltd. are responsible for preparing the ﬁnancial information on the basis of
preparation set out in note 2 to the ﬁnancial information.
It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the ﬁnancial information as to whether the ﬁnancial information
gives a true and fair view, for the purposes of the AIM Admission Document, and to report our opinion to
you.
Basis of opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reports issued by the Auditing
Practices Board in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial information. It also included an assessment of signiﬁcant estimates
and judgments made by those responsible for the preparation of the ﬁnancial statements underlying the
ﬁnancial information and whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufﬁcient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the
ﬁnancial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or
error.
Opinion
In our opinion, the ﬁnancial information gives, for the purposes of the AIM Admission Document of
SimiGon Ltd. dated 27 October 2006, a true and fair view of the state of affairs of SimiGon Ltd. as at
December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 and as of June 30, 2006 and of its proﬁts, cash ﬂows and recognised gains
and losses for the periods then ended in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in note 2 and in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as described in note 2.
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Declaration
For the purposes of paragraph (a) schedule two of the AIM rules we are responsible for this report as part
of the Admission Document and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the
information contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and
contains no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Admission Document in
compliance with Schedule Two of the AIM rules.
Yours faithfully,

KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER
A Member of Ernst & Young Global
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SIMIGON LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
June 30,
2006

December 31,
2005

2005

2004

2003

Unaudited
Note

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term bank deposit
Trade receivables
Other accounts receivable and prepaid
expenses

3

Total current assets
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

4

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Short-term bank loans
Current maturities of loans from shareholders
Trade payables
Deferred revenues
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses

5

6

Total current liabilities
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Severance pay liability
Loans from shareholders
Long-term deferred revenues

7
5

Total long-term liabilities
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
COMMITMENTS
Total liabilities

U.S. dollars in thousands

401
1,240
444

801
466
29

1,297
473
604

1,755
—
96

863
—
66

142

106

446

85

65

2,227

1,402

2,820

1,936

994

164

146

162

133

144

2,391

1,548

2,982

2,069

1,138

200
501
178
804
491

—
1,470
176
1,704
475

200
1,521
176
2,493
472

875
758
194
1,751
502

875
724
196
1,922
403

2,174

3,825

4,862

4,080

4,120

79
988
—

67
—
130

67
—
—

70
—
770

69
—
741

1,067

197

67

840

810

3,241

4,022

4,929

4,920

4,930

73
5,836
(6,759)

73
5,737
(8,284)

73
5,746
(7,766)

73
5,732
(8,656)

73
5,732
(9,597)

(850)

(2,474)

(1,947)

(2,851)

(3,792)

1,548

2,982

2,069

1,138

10

EQUITY:
Share capital
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deﬁcit

8

Total equity
Total equity and liabilities

2,391

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.

October 27, 2006
Date of approval of the
ﬁnancial statements

Ramy Weitz
Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Ami Vizer
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
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Chief Financial Ofﬁcer

PART V — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
SIMIGON LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Note

Revenues
Cost of revenues

Six months ended
Year ended
June 30,
December 31,
2006
2005
2005
2004
2003
Unaudited
U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share amounts)

3,709
721

2,095
285

4,588
624

4,495
862

3,266
503

2,988

1,810

3,964

3,633

2,763

11b
11c
11d

1,148
470
329

702
395
331

1,446
866
703

1,328
780
517

1,234
427
339

Total operating expenses

1,947

1,428

3,015

2,625

2,000

Operating proﬁt
Financial expenses, net

11e

1,041
(34)

382
(10)

949
(59)

1,008
(67)

763
(66)

1,007

372

890

941

697

0.03

0.01

0.03

0.03

0.02

Weighted average number of shares used in
computing basic earnings per share

30,520,331 30,462,812 30,488,622 30,379,540

30,305,866

Weighted average number of shares used in
computing diluted earnings per share

32,704,407 32,052,526 32,693,190 32,313,254

32,094,385

11a

Gross proﬁt
Operating expenses:
Research and development expenses, net
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses

Proﬁt for the period
Basic and diluted net earnings per share in US$

2n

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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SIMIGON LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Share
capital

Additional
Accumulated
paid-in capital
deﬁcit
U.S. dollars in thousands

Total
equity

Balance as of January 1, 2003
Exercise of employee stock options
Proﬁt for the year

73
—*
—

5,732
—
—

(10,294)
—
697

(4,489)
—*
697

Balance as of December 31, 2003
Exercise of employee stock options
Proﬁt for the year

73
—*
—

5,732
—
—

(9,597)
—
941

(3,792)
—*
941

Balance as of December 31, 2004
Share-based compensation
Exercise of employee stock options
Proﬁt for the year

73
—
—*
—

5,732
14
—
—

(8,656)
—
—
890

(2,851)
14
—*
890

Balance as of December 31, 2005
Shareholders’ waiver of interest on loan
Share-based compensation
Proﬁt for the period

73
—
—
—

5,746
85
5
—

(7,766)
—
—
1,007

(1,947)
85
5
1,007

Balance as of June 30, 2006

73

5,836

(6,759)

(850)

*

Represents an amount lower than $ 1,000.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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SIMIGON LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Six months ended
Year ended
June 30,
December 31,
2006
2005
2005
2004
Unaudited
U.S. dollars in thousands

Cash ﬂows from operating activities:
Proﬁt for the period
Adjustments to reconcile proﬁt to net cash provided
by (used in) operating activities (a)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

2003

1,007

372

890

941

697

(1,103)

(624)

(800)

(18)

36

(96)

(252)

90

923

733

(767)
(33)
—

(466)
(36)
—

(473)
(77)
2

—
(47)
16

—
(17)
2

(800)

(502)

(548)

(31)

(15)

—
200
—
(200)

675
—
—
(875)

675
200
—
(875)

—
875
—
(875)

408
875
(2,000)
—

Cash ﬂows from investing activities:
Investment in short-term deposit
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities:
Proceeds from long-term loans from shareholders
Proceeds from short-term bank loans
Repayment of long-term loans from banks
Repayment of short-term bank loans
Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities

—

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

(200)

—

(896)
1,297

(954)
1,755

(458)
1,755

401

801

1,297

—

(717)

892
863

1
862

1,755

863

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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SIMIGON LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Six months ended
Year ended
June 30,
December 31,
2006
2005
2005
2004
Unaudited
U.S. dollars in thousands

(a) Adjustments to reconcile proﬁt to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Income and expenses not involving operating
cash ﬂows:
Depreciation
Share-based compensation
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment
Accrued interest on loans from shareholders
Accrued severance pay, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables
Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable
and prepaid expenses
Increase (decrease) in trade payables
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenues
Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable
and accrued expenses

31
5
—
53
12

23
5
—
37
(3)

160
304
2
(1,689)
19
(1,103)

(b) Supplemental disclosure of cash ﬂows:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest

2003

47
14
(1)
88
(3)

52
—
(10)
34
1

96
—
3
24
(40)

67

(498)

(30)

122

(21)
(18)
(687)

(361)
(18)
(38)

(20)
(2)
(142)

26
(100)
89

(27)

(30)

99

(184)

(624)

(800)

(18)

36

5

7

19

42

40

Cash received during the period for:
Interest

29

10

25

6

16

Supplemental disclosure of non cash ﬁnancing
activities:
Shareholders waiver of interest on loans

85

—

—

—

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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SIMIGON LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1:- GENERAL
a.

SimiGon Ltd. (‘‘the Company’’) commenced its operations on October 1, 1998, and is
engaged in developing advanced learning, training and simulation technologies and
applications for use in professional communities.

b.

In January 2000, the Company established a wholly-owned subsidiary in the United States,
SimiGon Inc. The subsidiary is engaged in the marketing of the Company’s products in the
United States.

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a.

Basis of preparation:
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the Company and its subsidiary have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘‘IFRS’’).
These consolidated ﬁnancial statements are the Company’s ﬁrst IFRS consolidated ﬁnancial
statements. The Company ﬁrst adopted IFRSs in 2005 with a date of transition to IFRSs as
of January 1, 2003. Prior to adoption of IFRSs, the Company’s ﬁnancial statements were
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(‘‘U.S. GAAP’’). The Company’s last annual ﬁnancial statements under U.S. GAAP were
for the year ended December 31, 2004.
See Note 14 for reconciliations of proﬁt or loss and equity reported under U.S. GAAP to the
proﬁt or loss and equity under IFRSs.

b.

Accounting policies:
The accounting policies adopted by the Company for all periods presented are in compliance
with the IFRS that are effective at June 30, 2006.

c.

Functional currency and translation:
Substantially all of the Company’s sales are made outside Israel in non Israeli currencies,
mainly the U.S. dollar. A substantial portion of the Company’s expenses, mainly selling and
marketing expenses, is incurred in or linked to U.S. dollars. The funds of the Company are
held in U.S. dollars. Therefore, the Company’s management has determined that the U.S.
dollar is the currency of the primary economic environment of the Company, and thus its
functional and presentation currency.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies are translated into
U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on balance sheet date. Transactions in non-U.S. dollar
currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on the date of transaction.
Transaction differences are included in ﬁnancial expenses in the statement of Income.
Data regarding exchange rates for the New Israeli Shekel (‘‘NIS’’) in relation to U.S. dollar
are as follows:
Exchange rate of
one U.S. dollar

As of

June 30, 2006
June 30, 2005
December 31, 2005
December 31, 2004
December 31, 2003
d.

NIS
NIS
NIS
NIS
NIS

4.400
4.574
4.603
4.308
4.379

Principles of consolidation:
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiary. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.
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e.

(Cont.)

Cash equivalents:
The Company considers cash equivalents as highly liquid investments originally purchased
with maturities of three months or less.

f.

Short-term bank deposit:
Bank deposits with maturities of more than three months but less than one year are included
in short-term bank deposits. Such short-term bank deposits are stated at cost. Short-term
bank deposits as of June 30, 2006 bear interest at an annual average rate of
4 per cent.-5 percent.

g.

Trade receivables:
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount less an
allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An allowance for doubtful debts is made when
there is evidence that the Company will be unable to collect the full amount. Bad debts are
written-off when identiﬁed by management.
As of June 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, no allowance for doubtful debts
has been recorded as the Company’s management has concluded that there is no evidence
as to uncollectibility.

h.

Property and equipment:
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets at the
following annual rates:
%

Computers and peripheral equipment
Ofﬁce furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles
Leasehold improvements

i.

33
7-15
15
Over the term of the lease
or the estimated useful
life, whichever is shorter

Impairment of non-current assets:
The carrying values of non-current assets are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such
indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount,
the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash ﬂows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reﬂects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks speciﬁc to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash
inﬂows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
As of June 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, no impairment losses have been
identiﬁed.

j.

Research and development:
Research and development costs are charged to income as incurred.

k.

Deferred income taxes:
The Company and its subsidiary provide for deferred income taxes using the liability method
of accounting. Under the liability method, deferred taxes are recognised for temporary
differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
ﬁnancial reporting purposes. Deferred taxes are measured based on enacted tax rates that
are expected to be in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.
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Deferred tax assets in respect of carryforward losses and other temporary deductible
differences are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be utilised.
l.

Revenue recognition:
Revenues are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic beneﬁts will ﬂow
to the Company and the revenues can be reliably measured.
The Company generates revenues mainly from licensing the rights to use its software
products and sales of software licenses that require signiﬁcant customisation. The Company
also generates revenues from maintenance, support and training. The Company sells its
products primarily through value added resellers. The resellers usually add an additional
component to the package sold or include the Company’s products as part of a broader
package. During the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 (unaudited), and the years
ended December 1, 2005, 2004 and 2003 the Company generated revenues from software
licenses in the amounts of $2,793,384, $1,294,745, $2,662,445, $2,412,807, and $1,656,062,
respectively.
Maintenance and support revenue included in multiple element arrangements is deferred
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the maintenance and support
agreement. The fair value of the undelivered elements (maintenance and support services)
is determined based on the price charged for the undelivered element when sold separately.
During the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 (unaudited), and the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 the Company generated revenues from maintenance and
support in the amounts of $390,404, $108,710, $975,183, $685,709, and $186,323, respectively.
Revenues from software licensing that requires signiﬁcant customisation are recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date. When the
outcome of the transaction cannot be estimated reliably, revenues are recognised only to the
extent of the costs recognised that are recoverable. A provision for estimated losses on
uncompleted contracts is recorded in the period in which such losses are ﬁrst identiﬁed. As
of June 30, 2006, no provision for such losses has been identiﬁed.
During the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 (unaudited), and the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 the Company generated revenues from software licenses
that require signiﬁcant customisation in the amounts of $465,562, $687,603, $916,773,
$1,349,952 and $989,281, respectively.
Under one of the software license agreements that required signiﬁcant customisation, the
Company had undertaken an off-set obligation to purchase hardware from the customer or
its afﬁliates. Accordingly, the Company deferred the recognition of the respective revenues
in the amount of $800,000 until such off-set obligation is settled or waived. In 2006, the
Company reached an agreement with the customer to provide the customer with certain
additional licenses in consideration for the waiver of off set obligation. Accordingly the
Company recognised the deferred revenues in 2006.
The Company and its subsidiary generally offer a warranty for their products. A provision
for warranty costs is provided at the time revenues are recognised, for estimated costs during
the warranty period based on the past experience.
Revenues from training are recognised when performed. During the six months ended
June 30, 2006 and 2005 (unaudited), and the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
the Company generated revenues from training in the amounts of $60,000, $4,500, $34,045,
$46,829 and $434,238, respectively.
Deferred revenue includes unearned amounts received under maintenance and support
contracts, and amounts received from customers but not recognised as revenues.

m. Royalty-bearing grants:
Royalty-bearing grants for funding approved research and development projects are
recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, on the basis
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of the related costs incurred. These grants are presented as a reduction of research and
development expenses when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will not be repaid,
based on estimated future sales and the assessment with regard to the project’s over-all
success.
n.

Basic and diluted earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share are computed based on the weighted average number of Ordinary
shares and Ordinary shares with preferred rights outstanding during each year. Diluted
earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of Ordinary shares
and Ordinary shares with preferred liquidation rights (see also Note 8b) outstanding during
each year, plus dilutive potential Ordinary shares considered outstanding during the period,
except when such potential shares are antidilutive.

o.

Severance pay liability:
The Company’s liability for severance pay pursuant to the Israel’s Severance Pay Law is
based on the last monthly salary of the employee multiplied by the number of years of
employment, as of the date of severance. The cost of providing severance pay is determined
using an independent actuary. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the
period in which they occur.
Pursuant to Section 14 of the Severance Pay Law, which covers most of the Company’s
employees, monthly deposits with insurance companies release the Company from any
future severance obligations in respect of those employees (deﬁned contribution). Deposits
under Section 14 are recorded as an expense in the Company’s statement of income.

p.

Concentrations of credit risks:
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk
consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposits and trade
receivables.
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits are invested in major banks in
Israel and the United States. Management believes that the ﬁnancial institutions that hold
investments of the Company and its subsidiary are ﬁnancially sound and, accordingly,
minimal credit risk exists with respect to these investments.
The Company monitors on a current basis the credit of its customers and does not offer
credit terms without a speciﬁc approval.
The Company has no off-balance-sheet concentration of credit risk such as foreign exchange
contracts, option contracts or other foreign hedging arrangements.

q.

Fair value of ﬁnancial instruments:
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposit, trade
receivables, other accounts receivable, short-term bank loans, trade payables and other
accounts payable and long-term loans approximate their fair value due to the short-term
maturity of such instruments.

r.

Share-based payment transactions:
The Company applies the provisions of IFRS 2, ‘‘Share-Based Payment’’. IFRS 2 requires an
expense to be recognised where the Company buys goods or services in exchange for shares
or rights over shares (‘‘equity-settled transactions’’), or in exchange for other assets
equivalent in value to a given number of shares of rights over shares (‘‘cash-settled
transactions’’). The main impact of IFRS 2 on the Company is the expensing of employees’
and directors’ share options (equity-settled transactions).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date on which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon
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which the instruments were granted. The fair values of Ordinary shares for the purpose of
calculating the fair values of options and warrants were determined by management based
on a number of factors, including external valuations.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase
in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulﬁlled,
ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘‘the
vesting date’’). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each
reporting date until the vesting date reﬂects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest.
In accordance with IFRS 1, ﬁrst-time adoption of IFRS, the Company is applying IFRS 2 to
option and shares granted after November 7, 2002 and that were not fully vested at
December 31, 2004.
The effect of the initial adoption of IFRS 2 on the years ended 31 December 2004 and 2003
was immaterial.
s.

IFRS and IFRIC Interpretations not yet effective:
The Company has not early adopted IFRSs and IFRIC Interpretations that have been issued
but are not effective as of June 30, 2006. Management expects that adoption of those
pronouncements will not have a material impact on the ﬁnancial position and proﬁt of the
Company in the period of initial application.

NOTE 3:- OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAID EXPENSES
June 30,
2006

2005
Unaudited

2005

December 31,
2004
2003

U.S. dollars in thousands

Advance payments to suppliers
Government authorities
Deposits
Prepaid expenses
Employee advance
Other

39

—
61
16
47
16
2

—
68
17
7
12
2

335
55
24
7
20
5

—
33
12
28
11
1

—
19
22
6
—
18

142

106

446

85
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a.

Composition and movement:
Computers
Ofﬁce
and
furniture
peripheral
and Motor
Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
U.S. dollars in thousands

b.

Cost:
Balance as of January 1, 2003
Acquisitions during the year
Disposals during the year

455
16
(29)

105
1
—

32
—
—

51 643
— 17
— (29)

Balance as of December 31, 2003
Acquisitions during the year
Disposals during the year

442
34
—

106
10
—

32
—
(30)

51 631
3 47
— (30)

Balance as of December 31, 2004
Acquisitions during the year
Disposals during the year

476
67
(5)

116
10
—

2
—
(2)

54 648
— 77
—
(7)

Balance as of December 31, 2005
Acquisitions during the period

538
30

126
3

—
—

54 718
— 33

Balance as of June 30, 2006

568

129

—

54 751

Accumulated depreciation:
Balance as of January 1, 2003
Provision during the year
Disposals during the year

357
74
(24)

30
12
—

16
5
—

12 415
5 96
— (24)

Balance as of December 31, 2003
Provision during the year
Disposals during the year

407
31
—

42
11
—

21
4
(24)

17 487
6 52
— (24)

Balance as of December 31, 2004
Provision during the year
Disposals during the year

438
29
(5)

53
13
—

1
—
(1)

23 515
5 47
—
(6)

Balance as of December 31, 2005
Provision during the period

462
21

66
6

—
—

28 556
4 31

Balance as of June 30, 2006

483

72

—

32 587

Depreciated cost as of June 30, 2006

85

57

—

22 164

Depreciated cost as of December 31, 2005

76

60

—

26 162

Depreciated cost as of December 31, 2004

38

63

1

31 133

Depreciated cost as of December 31, 2003

35

64

11

34 144

As for charges, see Note 10c.
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Composition:
June 30,
2006

Interest rate and linkage:
LIBOR + 4.5 per cent.*
LIBOR + 0.5 per cent.**

December 31,
2005
2005
2004
2003
Unaudited
U.S. dollars in thousands

394
1,095

347
1,123

362
1,159

334
424

313
411

1,489

1,470

1,521

758

724

Less – current maturities of loans from
shareholders

501

1,470

1,521

758

724

Long-term loans from shareholders

988

—

—

—

—

*
**

As of June 30, 2006, a repayment date for the loan had not yet been determined.
In October 2001, the Company received from a bank a $1.3 million long-term loan, which was guaranteed by the
Company’s shareholders. As of December 31, 2005, the shareholders had transferred $1.1 million, to the Company
to repay the loan.

According to agreements signed between the Company and three of its shareholders in
June 2006, loans in the principal amount of $988,000 will no longer bear any interest, and the
accrued interest as of that date, in the amount of $85,000, has been fully waived by the
shareholders. In addition, the repayment date has been extended to December 31, 2007.
NOTE 6:- OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
June 30,
2006

Employees and payroll accruals
Accrued expenses
Other

41

December 31,
2005
2005
2004
2003
Unaudited
U.S. dollars in thousands

362
81
48

307
123
48

348
76
51

221
230
51

249
103
51

491

478

475

502
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a.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
December 31,
June 30,
2006
2005
2004
2003
U.S. dollars in thousands

b.

Liability at the beginning of the period
Expense recognised in the statement of income
Contributions paid
Beneﬁts not paid from assets

67
12
—
—

70
2
—
(5)

69
13
—
(12)

41
35
—
(7)

Liability at the end of the period

79

67

70

69

Amounts recognised in the statement of income are as follows:
Six months
ended
June 30,
Year ended December 31,
2006
2005
2004
2003
U.S. dollars in thousands

c.

Current service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net actuarial loss (gain) recognised in the period

15
2
—
(4)

19
4
—
(21)

19
4
—
(10)

22
2
—
11

Total expense included in statement of income

13

2

13

35

June 30,
2006

2005

The actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

Discount rate
Future salary increases

4%
2%

December 31,
2004
2003

3.84%
2%

3.90%
2%

4.25%
2%

NOTE 8:- EQUITY
a.

Rights of Ordinary shares:
Ordinary shares confer upon their holders voting rights, the right to receive cash dividends,
and the right to a share in excess assets upon liquidation of the Company.

b.

Rights of Ordinary shares with preferred rights:
These shares confer upon their shareholders (not including founders and employees)
liquidation preference rights with respect to the shares (‘‘Preferred Securities’’).
The Preferred Securities shall entitle the holder to receive from the Company, in the event
of winding up, liquidation or dissolution, the applicable issue price of each Preferred share,
before any other distribution of assets is made to other non-preferred shareholders or third
parties.
In the event that the assets of the Company available for distribution shall be insufﬁcient to
make such per share distribution, all such assets shall be distributed to the holders of
Preferred Securities in proportion to the full preference such holders would otherwise be
entitled to receive.
As of June 30, 2006, the total amount related to the preference rights upon liquidation is
$3.7 million.
Upon an IPO, all these preferred rights will be waived, and the preferred securities will have
the status of an equivalent number of Ordinary shares.
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Composition:
Authorised
June 30, 2006
and
December 31,
2003, 2004
and 2005

Issued and outstanding
June 30,
2006
2005
Number of shares

December 31,
2004

2003

Ordinary shares of NIS 0.01
par value each
100,000,000* 22,071,021 22,071,021 21,998,538 21,876,540
Preferred securities
8,449,310 8,449,310 8,449,310 8,449,310
Total shares
*

d.

30,520,331 30,520,331 30,447,848 30,325,850

The authorised shares refer to both Ordinary shares and Ordinary shares with preferred securities.

Warrants:
In August 2000, the Company issued fully vested warrants to purchase 51,613 Ordinary
shares at an exercise price of $0.90 per share. The options may be exercised at any time until
March 30, 2007.
In February 2002, the Company issued to a bank fully vested warrants to purchase 823,529
Ordinary shares at an exercise price of $ 0.34 per share in conjunction with the receipt of a
loan in the amount of $700 thousand. In April 2003, the Company repaid the loan to the
bank and received a credit line in the amount of the loan. During 2004, the credit line was
increased to $1 million. The warrants can be exercised at any time until February 13, 2009
(see also Note 10d).
On August 28, 2006, the bank notiﬁed the Company of his intension to exercise the warrants.

e.

Options to shareholders:
In June 2001, the Company granted to one of its shareholders who is also a senior ofﬁcer,
as an anti-dilution protection, 383,047 fully vested options at an exercise price of NIS 0.01
per share and in consideration of the bridge ﬁnancing agreement an additional 635,807
options at an exercise price of NIS 0.01 per share. The option can be exercised at any time
until June 2011.

f.

Stock options plan:
In August 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors authorised an incentive share option plan
and has since granted options to purchase Ordinary shares to employees and consultants.
Under the terms of these grants, options generally become exercisable ratably over a period
of four years, commencing with the date of grant. The exercise price of the options granted
under the plan may not be less than the par value of the shares. The options generally expire
no later than 10 years from the date of the grant, and are non-transferable, except under the
laws of succession. As of June 30, 2006, an aggregate of 247,992 Ordinary shares of the
Company are still available for future grant.
The fair value of share options is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following are the inputs to the model used for the six months ended
June 30, 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2005: risk-free interest rates in the range
of 2.37 per cent.-4.92 per cent. dividend yield of 0 per cent.; volatility factor of the expected
market price of the Company’s Ordinary shares of 0.8; and a weighted average expected life
of the option of 6 years.
The weighted average fair value of the options granted in 2006 and 2005 was $0.7 and $0.18,
respectively.
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A summary of the activity in options to employees, consultants, and directors (including the
CEO—see Note 8g.) for the periods 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:
Six months ended June 30,
2006

2005
Unaudited
Weighted
average
Number
exercise
of options
price

Number
of options

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Outstanding at beginning of period
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

1,863,467
63,000
—
(12,600)

$0.440
$0.600
$ —
$0.600

2,004,459
84,600
—
(18,900)

$0.430
$0.600
$ —
$0.600

Outstanding at end of period

1,913,867

$ 0.44

2,070,159

$ 0.43

Exercisable options

1,566,218

$ 0.41

1,601,086

$ 0.38

2005

Year ended December 31,
2004
Weighted
average
Number
exercise
of options
price

Number
of options

Weighted
average
exercise
price

2,004,459
201,150
(72,493)
(269,649)

$0.430
$0.600
$0.002
$0.610

1,951,037
402,200
(121,988)
(226,790)

Outstanding at end of year 1,863,467

$0.440

Exercisable options

$0.400

Outstanding at beginning
of year
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

1,496,575

2003
Number
of options

Weighted
average
exercise
price

$0.390
$0.600
$0.002
$0.640

2,092,157
341,350
(21,391)
(461,079)

$0.450
$0.160
$0.002
$0.530

2,004,459

$0.430

1,951,037

$0.390

1,450,293

$0.360

1,177,150

$0.370

The options outstanding as of June 30, 2006, have been separated into ranges of exercise
price as follows:

Exercise price

Options
outstanding
as of
June 30,
2006

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
life (years)

$0.002
$0.090
$0.600
$1.000
$1.200

489,627
47,248
1,354,943
3,150
18,899

5.87
4.08
6.92
4.08
4.45

1,913,867
g.

Exercise
price

Options
exercisable
as of
June 30,
2006

Exercise
price of
options
exercisable

$0.002
$0.090
$0.600
$1.000
$1.200

489,627
47,248
1,007,294
3,150
18,899

$0.002
$0.090
$0.600
$1.000
$1.200

1,566,218

Options to the CEO:
On December 31, 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors granted 250,000 fully-vested
options, to the CEO, at an exercise price of NIS 0.01 per share, in consideration of terms that
were determined in a meeting of the Board of Directors on July 14, 2003. These options can
be exercised at any time until December 2013.

NOTE 9:- INCOME TAXES
a.

Tax beneﬁts under the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959:
SimiGon Ltd. has been granted status as an ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’, for an original program
and an additional expansion program, under the Law for the Encouragement of Capital
Investments, 1959 (‘‘the Law’’). According to the provisions of the Law, SimiGon Ltd. has
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elected to enjoy the ‘‘alternative beneﬁts track’’ — a waiver of grants in return for tax
holidays. The ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’ status will allow SimiGon Ltd. a tax holiday on
undistributed income derived from the ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’ program. The income
derived from this ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’ will be tax-exempt for a period of two years, and
may enjoy a reduced tax rate of 10 per cent. to 25 per cent. (based on percentage of foreign
ownership) for an additional ﬁve years. The seven-year period of beneﬁts will commence
with the ﬁrst year in which SimiGon Ltd. earns taxable income.
The Company completed the implementation of its original program during 2004. The
expansion program has not yet been completed. The timetable for the performance of this
plan is until July 2007.
The period of tax beneﬁts, detailed above, is subject to limits of the earlier of 12 years from
the commencement of production, or 14 years from receiving the approval. The period of
beneﬁts has not yet commenced, and will expire in the year 2016.
The entitlement to the above beneﬁts is conditional upon the Company’s fulﬁlling the
conditions stipulated by the above Law, regulations published thereunder and the letters of
approval for the speciﬁc investments in ‘‘Approved Enterprises’’. In the event of failure to
comply with these conditions, the beneﬁts may be canceled and the Company may be
required to refund the amount of the beneﬁts, in whole or in part, including interest.
Should SimiGon Ltd. derive income from sources other than the ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’
during the period of beneﬁts, such income shall be taxable at the regular corporate tax rate.
If tax-exempt proﬁts are distributed to shareholders they would be taxed at the corporate tax
rate applicable to such proﬁts as if the Company had not elected the alternative system of
beneﬁts, currently between 10 per cent.-25 per cent. for an ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’.
A recent amendment to the law, which has been ofﬁcially published effective as of
April 1, 2005 (‘‘the Amendment’’) has changed certain provisions of the law. As a result of
the Amendment, a company is no longer obliged to implement an Approved Enterprise
status in order to receive the tax beneﬁts previously available under the Alternative Beneﬁts
provisions, and therefore there is no need to apply to the Investment Center for this purpose
(Approved Enterprise status remains mandatory for companies seeking grants). Rather, a
company may claim the tax beneﬁts offered by the Investment Law directly in its tax returns,
provided that its facilities meet the criteria for tax beneﬁts set out by the Amendment. A
company is also granted a right to approach the Israeli Tax Authorities for a pre-ruling
regarding their eligibility for beneﬁts under the Amendment.
Tax beneﬁts are available under the Amendment to production facilities (or other eligible
facilities), which are generally required to derive more than 25 per cent. of the company’s
business income from export. In order to receive the tax beneﬁts, the Amendment states that
a company must make an investment in the beneﬁted enterprise exceeding a minimum
amount speciﬁed in the law. Such investment may be made over a period of no more than
three years ending at the end of the year in which the company requested to have the tax
beneﬁts apply to the beneﬁted enterprise (‘‘the Year of Election’’). Where a company
requests to have the tax beneﬁts apply to an expansion of existing facilities, then only the
expansion will be considered a beneﬁted enterprise and the company’s effective tax rate will
be the result of a weighted combination of the applicable rates. In this case, the minimum
investment required in order to qualify as a beneﬁted enterprise is required to exceed a
certain percentage of the company’s production assets before the expansion. The duration
of tax beneﬁts is subject to a limitation of the earlier of 7 years from the Commencement
Year, or 12 years from the ﬁrst day of the Year of Election.
b.

Measurement of results for tax purposes under the Income Tax Law (Inﬂationary
Adjustments), 1985:
Results for tax purposes are measured in terms of earnings in NIS after certain adjustments
for increases in the Israeli Consumer Price Index (‘‘CPI’’). As explained in Note 2b, the
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(Cont.)

ﬁnancial statements are presented in U.S. dollars. The difference between the annual change
in the Israeli CPI and in the NIS/dollar exchange rate causes a difference between taxable
income or loss and the income or loss before taxes reﬂected in the ﬁnancial statements.
c.

Tax reconciliation:
In 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 the main reconciling item between the statutory tax rate of the
Group and the effective tax rate (0 per cent.) is carryforward tax losses and tax exemption
for which a full valuation allowance was provided.

d.

Carryforward losses:
Domestic:
As of December 31, 2005, SimiGon Ltd. had accumulated losses for Israeli tax purposes of
approximately $ 5 million, which may be carried forward, in order to offset taxable income
in the future, for an indeﬁnite period.
Foreign:
As of December 31, 2005, the federal tax loss carryforwards of the U.S. subsidiary amounted
to approximately $ 1.6 million. Such losses are available for offset against future U.S. taxable
income of the subsidiary and will expire in the years 2021-2025.

e.

Tax rates:
On July 25, 2005, the Knesset (Israeli Parliament) approved the Law of the Amendment of
the Income Tax Ordinance (No. 147), 2005, which prescribes, among others, a gradual
decrease in the corporate tax rate in Israel to the following tax rates: 2005 — 34 per cent.,
2006 — 31 per cent., 2007 — 29 per cent., 2008 — 27 per cent., 2009 — 26 per cent. and 2010
and thereafter-25 per cent.

NOTE 10:-

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
a.

Royalty commitments:
In June 2001, the Company and a third party signed a Cooperation and Project Funding
Agreement with Britech, which is an establishment of the United Kingdom-Israel Industrial
Research and Development Fund. According to the agreement, Britech agreed to fund, by
conditional grant, the implementation of the proposal submitted by the Company and the
third party for a research and development project in the maximum amount of £227,000.
The Company shall make repayments to Britech, based on gross sales derived from the sale,
leasing or other marketing or commercial exploitation of the innovation, including service or
maintenance contracts, commencing with the ﬁrst commercial transaction. Such payments
shall be repaid in pounds sterling at the rate of 2.5 per cent. of the ﬁrst year’s gross sales and,
in succeeding years, at the rate of 5 per cent. of the gross sales until 100 per cent.-150 per
cent. of the conditional grant and other sums have been repaid (Incremental 50 per cent.
based upon agreed milestone which was not fulﬁlled).
As of June 30, 2006, the Company received a total amount of $324 thousand, of which
$150 thousand and $174 thousand were deducted from the research and development
expenses in 2001 and 2003, respectively.
Although the development of technology had been completed by the third party and
SimiGon, the Company has never received the third party’s portion of the developed
technology upon completion of the project although it requested it from both the third party
and Britech. Therefore, since SimiGon cannot utilise the developed technology without the
essential portion developed by the third party, the Company has not paid any royalties to
Britech, and, the Company management, believes that it will not be required to pay royalties
in the future for the abovementioned project. In addition, the Company did not submit any
patent applications in connection with the Britech grant.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
b.

(Cont.)

Lease commitments:
1.

Premises occupied by the Company are rented under various non-cancelable lease
agreements. The rental agreements for the premises expire in 2007.

2.

The Company has leased various motor vehicles under cancelable operating lease
agreements. These leases expire in 2007.

3.

Future minimum rental payments under non cancellable operating leases are as follows:
U.S. dollars
in thousands

For the year ending December 31,

2006
2007

69
35
104

The total expense for the period ended June 30, 2006 and for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $67 thousand, $133 thousand, $204 thousand and
$358 thousand, respectively.
c.

Floating charge:
The Company recorded a ﬁrst priority, unlimited ﬂoating charge on all of its assets, in favor
of a bank, in consideration for a credit line from the bank of up to $1 million. As of
June 30, 2006, the Company had not utilised the credit line.

d.

Commission to the bank:
In addition to the warrants granted to the bank (see Note 8d), the Company will pay to the
Bank in the event closing of an IPO, a commission in the amount of $150,000. In addition,
upon or immediately prior to an IPO, the Bank has an option to convert its right to exercise
the Warrant and purchase shares according to its terms into a right to receive a commission
of $100,000 payable to the Bank upon the IPO. In the ﬁnancial statement no liability has
been accrued since an IPO probability has not estimated by management as more likely than
not, as of the date of these ﬁnancial statements.

e.

Warrants to PR ﬁrm:
In July 3, 2002 the company granted 5,000 warrants to a PR ﬁrm in consideration of payment
of a reduced fee. No terms were speciﬁed (date of expiration or exercise price).
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Six months ended
Year ended
June 30,
December 31,
2006
2005
2005
2004
2003
Unaudited
U.S. dollars in thousands

a.

b.

Cost of revenues:
Salaries and related beneﬁts
Lease and ofﬁce maintenance
Travel expenses
Depreciation
Other
Research and development expenses, net:
Salaries and related beneﬁts
Lease and ofﬁce maintenance
Depreciation
Share-based compensation
Grants

562
61
60
9
29

193
40
42
5
5

388
87
114
10
25

426
130
84
12
210

244
78
64
20
97

721

285

624

862

503

982
149
14
3
—

541 1,115
147
305
13
26
1
—
—
—

1,148
c.

d.

e.

Selling and marketing expenses:
Salaries and related beneﬁts
Management fee
Advertising and sales promotion
Lease and ofﬁce maintenance
Travel expenses
Depreciation
Share-based compensation
Other
General and administrative expenses:
Salaries and related beneﬁts
Management fee
Lease and ofﬁce maintenance
Travel expenses
Professional fees
Depreciation
Share-based compensation
Other
Financial expenses, net:
Exchange rate differences, net
Interest income from banks
Bank loans and overdrafts
Interest on loans from shareholders
Other
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978 1,048
320
315
30
45
—
—
— (174)

702 1,446 1,328 1,234

299
47
4
49
63
4
1
3

248
42
11
32
57
2
—
3

558
91
44
75
86
5
1
6

305
113
154
72
117
3
—
16

155
38
74
36
117
7
—
—

470

395

866

780

427

150
107
30
27
3
4
1
7

178
79
33
—
28
3
4
6

331
188
69
26
49
6
13
21

251
114
49
—
53
7
—
43

206
72
56
—
31
8
—
(34)

329

331

703

517

339

1
(29)
9
53
—

(25)
(10)
12
37
(4)

(23)
(22)
19
88
(3)

11
—
35
34
(13)

(7)
—
25
24
24

34

10

59

67
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NOTE 12:-

REVENUES BY GEOGRAPHIC AREAS AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS
The Company manages its business on the basis of one reportable segment.
a.

Revenues classiﬁed by geographical destinations based on the customer location:
Six months
ended
June 30,
Year ended December 31,
2006
2005
2004
2003
U.S. dollars in thousands

EMEA (1)
North America
Asia Paciﬁc

(1)

b.

1,176
2,468
—

591
3,608
389

366
3,829
300

1,226
1,983
—

3,644

4,588

4,495

3,209

Europe, Middle East and Africa.

Information about major customers:
Six months
ended
June 30,
Year ended December 31,
2006
2005
2004
2003
U.S. dollars in thousands

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C

31%
13%
2%

32%
20%
17%

40%
37%
8%

24%
12%
18%

NOTE 13:- BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
a.

Balances with related parties:
June 30,
2006

Trade receivables

—

—

16

—

—

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses

—

19

—

12

36

1,474

1,470

1,521

758

724

Loans from shareholders (including current
maturities)
b.

December 31,
2005
2005
2004
2003
Unaudited
U.S. dollars in thousands

Revenues from related party:
June 30,
2006

Revenues
c.

December 31,
2005
2005
2004
2003
Unaudited
U.S. dollars in thousands

—

—

47

—

—

Compensation of key management personnel of the Company:
June 30,
2006

Short-term employee beneﬁts
Management fees*

*

See Note 15
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December 31,
2005
2005
2004
2003
Unaudited
U.S. dollars in thousands

287
154

283
121

587
279

474
227

320
110

441

404

866

701

430
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NOTE 14:- RECONCILIATION TO U.S. GAAP
As described in Note 2a, these ﬁnancial statements are the Company’s ﬁrst IFRS ﬁnancial
statements. Accordingly, the Company has presented the following reconciliations from its
previous GAAP (U.S. GAAP) to IFRSs as of January 1, 2003 (date of transition to IFRSs)
and as of December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2004 (last annual
ﬁnancial statements under U.S. GAAP).
a.

Reconciliation of equity:

Note

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Other accounts receivable and
prepaid expenses
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net

1,755
96

Total assets less total liabilities
Share capital
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deﬁcit

863
188

—
—

863
188

85
133
—

91
229
787

—
—
(787)

91
229
—

2,331

(262)

2,069

2,158

(787)

1,371

—
875
758
194
2,521

—
—
—
—
—

—
875
758
194
2,521

703
—
—
301
2,571

—
—
—
—
—

703
—
—
301
2,571

502
—
—
175

—
—
—
(105)

502
—
—
70

587
1,296
297
105

—
—
—
—

587
1,296
297
105

5,025

(105)

4,920

5,860

—

5,860

(787)

(4,489)

(2,694)

(157) (2,851) (3,702)

73
—
73
73
—
73
7,373 (1,641) 5,732
7,300 (1568)
5,732
(10,140) 1,484 (8,656) (11,075)
781 (10,294)

2

Total equity
b.

1,755
96

—
—
(262)

1

Total liabilities

—
—

85
133
262

2

Total assets
Current maturities of long-term
loan
Short-term bank loans
Loans from shareholders
Trade payables
Deferred revenues
Other accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Long-term loans
Loans from shareholders
Severance pay liability

As of December 31, 2004
As of January 1, 2003
Effect of
Effect of
U.S. transition
U.S. transition
GAAP
to IFRS
IFRS
GAAP
to IFRS
IFRS
U.S. dollars in thousands

(2,694)

(157) (2,851) (3,702)

(787)

(4,489)

Reconciliation of proﬁt or loss:

Note

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross proﬁt
Research and development expenses, net
Selling and marketing expenses, net
General and administrative expenses

Year ended December 31, 2004
Effect of
transition to
U.S. GAAP
IFRS
IFRS
U.S. dollars in thousands

1

4,495
863

—
(1)

4,495
862

1,2
1

3,632
1,329
1,044
521

1
(1)
(264)
(4)

3,633
1,328
780
517

Operating proﬁt
Financial expenses, net

738
67

270
—

1,008
67

Proﬁt for the year

671

270

941
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c.

(Cont.)

Notes to the reconciliation of equity and reconciliation of proﬁt or loss:
1.

Under U.S. GAAP, the ﬁnancial statements of the Company include a severance pay
liability that is calculated pursuant to Israel’s Severance Pay Law. Under IFRS, the
severance pay liability is determined by actuarial calculations.

2.

Under U.S. GAAP, the Company recorded an expense in respect of shares and fully
vested options granted in January 2000 and in December 2003 to third party service
providers.
Under IFRS 1, a ﬁrst time adopter may elect not to apply IFRS 2 in respect of equity
instruments granted on or before November 7, 2002 or after November 7, 2002, but
which had fully vested before January 1, 2005. Accordingly, no expense was recorded
under IFRS in respect of these options.

NOTE 15:- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
a.

In July 2006, the Company has started an Initial Public Offering procedure (‘‘IPO’’) on the
London Stock Exchange Alternative Investment Market (‘‘AIM’’) in order to raise
additional funds for the company activity.

b.

On September 21, 2006, the Company has signed a service agreement with Ami Vizer, the
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of the Company, according to which Ami Vizer is engaged with a
current salary of $313,320 (approximately £169,000) per annum (excluding bonuses and
beneﬁts), terminable by either party on 9 months notice. In addition, pursuant to this
agreement and conditional on IPO, Mr. Vizer will also receive options to purchase 50,000
Ordinary Shares of the Company which will vest in full over twelve months following, and
contingent upon IPO.
The company will be required to accrue additional severance pay liability and respective
expenses amounts to approximately $156,000 due to change in Ami’s salary and employment
term.

c.

On September 27, 2006, the Company has entered into a consulting agreement with Simi
Efrati, pursuant to which Mr. Efrati receives a fee of $122,520 (approximately £66,200) per
annum in consideration for an average of 50 hours consulting services per month. The
agreement may be terminated by either party on at least 6 months written notice. In
addition, pursuant to this agreement and conditional upon IPO, Mr. Efrati will also receive
options to purchase 50,000 Ordinary Shares of the Company contingent upon IPO at an
exercise price equal to the price at which new Ordinary Shares of the Company are which
will vest in full over twelve months following, and contingent upon IPO.

d.

On September 27, 2006, the Company has entered into a consulting agreement with Rami
Weitz, pursuant to which Mr. Weitz receives a fee of $122,520 (approximately £66,200) per
annum in consideration for an average of 50 hours consulting services per month. The
agreement may be terminated by either party on at least 6 months written notice. In
addition, pursuant to this agreement and conditional on IPO, Mr. Weitz will also receive
options to purchase 50,000 Ordinary Shares of the Company at the IPO at an exercise price
equal to the price at which new Ordinary Shares of the Company which will vest in full over
twelve months following, and contingent upon IPO.

e.

On September 21, 2006, the Company decided to increase its 2003 Stock Option Plan
reserves by 3,000,000 Options subject to Admission.

f.

Grant of Options to Company’s senior employees:
On September 21, 2006, the Company decided to grant ﬁve of its senior employee’s options
to purchase a total amount of 95,000 Ordinary shares of the Company, at an exercise price
equal to the price at which new Ordinary Shares of the Company are sold in connection with
the IPO. These Options will vest in full within twelve months from the IPO.
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1

Responsibility statement

The Company and the Directors whose names appear on page 8 of this document under the heading
‘‘Directors’’, accept responsibility for the information contained in this document including individual and
collective responsibility for compliance with the AIM Rules. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the
Directors and the Company (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the
information contained in this document is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to
affect its import.
2

The Company

The Company was incorporated and registered in the State of Israel with the name Simbolix Ltd. on
1 October 1998 as a private company limited by shares under the Israeli Companies Ordinance with
registered number 51-268551-2. On 19 October 1998, the Company changed its name to SimiGon Ltd.
Conditional upon Admission, the Company will change its status at the Israeli Companies Registrar to that
of a ‘‘Public Company’’.
The Companies Law is the primary corporate legislation under which the Company operates.
The registered ofﬁce and head ofﬁce of the Company is at 1 Sapir Street, PO Box 12050, Herzlia 46733, Israel
(telephone number +972 (0)9 9561777).
The principal activities of the Company are the development, design and marketing/sale of simulation
software systems for both the military and commercial markets.
3

Subsidiaries

3.1

SimiGon Inc. was incorporated on 13 January 2000 in Delaware, USA as a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. SimiGon Inc. carries on marketing and sales and software development activities
in the USA.

3.2

Save as disclosed above, the Company has no subsidiaries.

4

Share capital

4.1

The Company was incorporated on 1 October 1998 with an authorised share capital of NIS 36,000
divided into 36,000 ordinary shares of NIS 1 each.

4.2

4.2.1

There have been no changes to the issued share capital of the Company in the period since
1 January 2003 to the date of this document save for certain share transfers and as otherwise
disclosed in Part V of this document and in paragraph 4.2.2 below.

4.2.2

There have been the following changes to the share capital of the company since
1 January 2003:
4.2.2.1 on 8 February 2004, the Company issued 128,539 Ordinary Shares to a trustee on
behalf of employees pursuant to the exercise of share options, for cash consideration
4.2.2.2 on 27 April 2004, the Company issued 121,998 Ordinary Shares to a trustee on
behalf of employees pursuant to the exercise of share options, for cash consideration
4.2.2.3 on 26 July 2006, the Company issued 72,483 Ordinary Shares to a trustee on behalf
of employees pursuant to the exercise of share options, for cash consideration

4.3

Since 2000, options under the Share Option Schemes (further particulars of which are contained in
paragraph 11 of this Part VI) have been granted in respect of a total of 3,196,622 Ordinary Shares,
of which options over 2,394,080 have already vested. In addition, the following warrants over
Ordinary Shares have been granted:
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Warrant holder

Date of Grant

Exercise price

Number of
Ordinary Shares
Date of expiration subject to warrant

Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd.
February 2002
$0.34 13 February 2009
Vitania Ltd.
August 2000
$0.90
30 March 2007
Hevrat Gush 6420, Helka 31 Ltd.
August 2000
$0.90
30 March 2007
Hevrat Gush 6420, Helka 30A Ltd.
August 2000
$0.90
30 March 2007
N.S.P.R. Ltd. and I.P.I.R. Inc.
July 2002 not deﬁned
not deﬁned
*

823,529*
16,188
25,749
9,677
5,000

Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd. (the ‘‘Bank’’) has notiﬁed the Company that it is exercising the warrant on a net-issuance
basis and 653,524 Ordinary Shares shall be issued conditional on Admission, credited as fully paid, in full satisfaction
of the Bank’s rights under the warrant. The Bank is also entitled to receive a payment of $150,000 within 10 business
days of Admission.

Accordingly, a total of 4,076,765 Ordinary Shares are subject to options or warrants, representing
13.4 per cent. of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this document
(10.9 per cent. immediately following Admission), on a fully diluted basis. Ordinary Shares subject
to options granted under the Share Option Schemes represent 9.24 per cent. of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this document (8.6 per cent. immediately following
Admission), on a fully diluted basis.
4.4

As at 30 June 2006, being the date of the most recent balance sheet included in Part V of this
document and as at 1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005 the registered and issued share capital
of the Company was:
Date

1 January 2005
31 December 2005
30 June 2006
4.5

Registered
number
par value (NIS)

Class of shares

Ordinary Shares
Ordinary Shares
Ordinary Shares

100,000,000
100,000,000
100,000,000

1,000,0000
1,000,0000
1,000,0000

Issued and fully paid
number
par value (NIS)

30,447,848
30,520,331
30,520,331

304,478
305,203
305,203

By shareholders resolutions passed on 31 August 2006 and 21 September 2006, it was resolved, inter
alia:
4.5.1

that, conditional on Admission, the Company adopt new articles of association, being the
Articles of Association;

4.5.2

to ratify the appointment of certain directors of the Company;

4.5.3

to ratify the issuance of Ordinary Shares issued between June 2001 and February 2002;

4.5.4

to ratify the grant of options over Ordinary Shares to Amos Vizer;

4.5.5

to ratify the remuneration paid for consulting services provided to the Company by Ramy
Weitz, Simi Efrati and Rony Arazi and to approve the new consulting agreements with each
of Simi Efrati and Ramy Weitz;

4.5.6

to ratify the previous terms of employment of Amos Vizer and to approve the terms of his
new employment agreement;

4.5.7

to ratify the adoption of the Share Option Schemes by the Company;

4.5.8

to ratify the appointment of Kost, Forerer, Gabay and Kasierer, a member of Ernst & Young
Global, for the ﬁnancial years for 1999 to 2006 inclusive;

4.5.9

to reserve an additional 3,000,000 Ordinary Shares of the Company, conditional upon
Admission, for issuance pursuant to the Company’s 2003 Israeli Share Option Plan;

4.5.10

to approve the agreements with directors and ofﬁcers of the Company regarding
indemniﬁcation and exemption of liability;

4.5.11

to empower the directors of the Company, subject to Admission, pursuant to article 18.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company, to allot Equity Securities (as deﬁned in the
Articles of Association) for cash as if article 18.3 of the Articles of Association did not apply
to any such allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to the allotment of Equity
Securities as following:
(a)

such number of the Company’s Ordinary Shares as is notiﬁed to the Company by
Panmure Gordon (Broking) Limited (not to exceed 22,500,000 Ordinary Shares
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(having an aggregate nominal value of NIS 225,000)) at any time up to, including
and/or immediately following the Admission;
(b)

otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above, up to an aggregate amount equal
to ﬁve per cent. of the Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital immediately following
Admission;

and shall expire on the date of the next annual general meeting of the Company, save that
the Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might
require Equity Securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors of the Company
may allot Equity Securities pursuant to such an offer or agreement as if the power had not
expired; and
4.5.12

4.6

to change the status of the Company at the Israeli Companies Registrar to that of a ‘‘Public
Company’’, conditional upon Admission, and to report such change to the Israeli Companies
Registrar.

As of the date of this document, the registered and issued fully paid share capital of the Company is:
Registered
number
par value (NIS)

Class of shares

Existing Ordinary Shares
4.7

100,000,000

Issued and fully paid
number
par value (NIS)

1,000,000

30,520,331

305,203

The registered and issued fully paid share capital of the Company immediately following Admission
will be:
Registered
number
par value (NIS)

Class of shares

Ordinary Shares

100,000,000

Issued and fully paid
number
par value (NIS)

1,000,000

37,250,666

372,507

4.8

The registered but unissued share capital of the Company immediately following Admission will be
NIS 627,493 representing approximately 63 per cent. of the registered share capital and 168 per cent.
of the issued Ordinary Share capital of the Company.

4.9

As of the date of this document, and immediately following Admission, the following persons (other
than Directors and their immediate family) had and will have interests in the issued share capital of
the Company which, directly or indirectly, represent or will represent, on Admission, 3 per cent. or
more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Name

Jeffrey Braun
Packet Science Ltd.
Samurai Investments Ltd.
G. Poran Holding Ltd.
Israel Aircraft Industries Ltd.
RHI Holdings, Inc.
A. Vizer Holdings Ltd.
Schroder Investment Management

As at the date of this document
Existing
Percentage
Ordinary
of issued
shares
share capital

6,543,039
6,244,944
6,135,695
3,778,444
2,624,310
1,975,695
1,662,500
—

21.44
20.46
20.10
12.38
8.60
6.47
5.45
—

Immediately following Admission
Percentage
Ordinary
of issued
Shares
share capital

6,543,039
6,244,944
6,135,695*
3,778,444
2,624,310
1,975,695
1,662,500**
1,367,282

17.6
16.8
16.5
10.1
7.0
5.3
4.5
3.7

*

Simi Efrati is a former director of the Company and is an indirect shareholder of Samurai Investments Ltd.. Simi and
his father (who is Chairman of Efrati Galili Lahat & Co., legal advisers to the Company as to Israeli law) hold shares
in Samurai Investments Ltd. through a company owned by them in equal shares. This company holds 19.3 per cent. of
the outstanding shares in Samurai Investments Ltd.. On a fully diluted basis (assuming all the exercise of all options held
by Simi and the Samurai Investments Ltd. shareholders), this company holds 17.7 per cent. of Samurai Investments Ltd.
and Simi personally holds 4.7 per cent..

**

A. Vizer Holdings Ltd. also holds 937,500 Ordinary Shares on trust for third parties of which 687,500 Ordinary Shares
are held on trust for Packet Science Ltd. (included in the amount shown for Packet Science Ltd. above).

4.10

Save as disclosed in paragraphs 4.9 and 7.1 of this Part VI, the Directors are not aware of any person
who, directly or indirectly, is or will be, following the Placing, interested in 3 per cent. or more of
the Company’s issued ordinary share capital.

4.11

The holders of Ordinary Shares issued under the Share Option Schemes have signed individual
agreements pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Schemes. Under the relevant Israeli law,
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when options are granted to the employee, both the options and the shares to be issued on exercise
of the option, are held in trust for a period of 24 months from the date of grant (for options granted
after 31 December 2005 and prior to 31 December 2002) or the shorter of 30 months from the date
of grant and 24 months from the end of the year in which they were granted (for options granted
between 1 January 2003 and 31 December 2005) in order to beneﬁt from certain tax advantages
(‘‘Lock-Up Period’’). In the case of these shares the trustee is Yechiel Yardeni (the ‘‘Trustee’’). In
addition to signing this agreement, each holder of these shares has executed a power of attorney in
favour of Ami Vizer and Simi Efrati in which he assigns his voting rights to such persons. This proxy
will terminate upon Admission. Further details are set out at paragraph 11 of this Part VI.
4.12

Save as disclosed in paragraph 4.9 and 7.1 of this Part VI, the Directors are not aware of any person
who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercises or could exercise control over the Company.

4.13

Subject to paragraph 4.11, no Shareholder has different voting rights with respect to the Ordinary
Shares and each of the Ordinary Shares ranks pari passu in all respects.

4.14

The Directors are not aware of any arrangements the operation of which may at a subsequent date
result in a change of control of the Company.

4.15

Save pursuant to the Placing, or as disclosed in Part V of this document or in paragraphs 4.2.2 or 4.3
of this Part VI of this document, in the three years immediately preceding the date of this document,
no share or loan capital of the Company has been issued or agreed to be issued, or is now proposed
to be issued fully or partly paid (other than pursuant to the Placing), for cash or any other
consideration or has been purchased by the Company and no share or loan capital of the Company
is under option or has been agreed, conditionally or unconditionally, to be put under option.

4.16

The liability of the Company’s shareholders is limited to payment of the par value of each Ordinary
Share.

5

Memorandum of association
The principal objects of the Company are set out in full in clause 2 of the Company’s memorandum
of association and include that the Company may engage in software development and any other
business that is permitted by law.

6

Articles of Association
The Company has, conditional on Admission, adopted new articles of association (the ‘‘Articles’’).
The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Articles:

6.1

Allotment of shares
6.1.1

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, the Articles and the terms of any
shareholders’ resolution creating new shares:
(a) the unissued shares forming part of the authorised share capital of the Company shall
from time to time be under the control of the Board which is entitled to allot them for
cash or non-cash consideration on such terms and at such times as the Board deems ﬁt;
(b) the Board shall have the power to grant any person an option to purchase any unissued
shares in the Company, on such terms as the Board thinks appropriate.

6.1.2

The Board may, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law,
delegate such powers to a Board committee or to the chief executive ofﬁcer of the
Company.
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6.2

6.3

6.4

Pre-emption rights
6.2.1

Subject to the provisions referred to in paragraph 6.2.2 (below), the Company shall not allot
any Equity Securities (as deﬁned in the Articles, which means Relevant Shares or a right to
subscribe for or to convert securities into Relevant Shares other than a Relevant Share
which is or is to be held by a person who acquires them in pursuance of a Share Scheme (as
deﬁned in the Articles of Association) or which is allotted in pursuance of such a Scheme;
Relevant Shares means shares in the Company other than shares respects dividends and
capital carry a right to participate only up to a speciﬁed amount in a distribution), to any
person for cash unless it shall ﬁrst have made an offer to each holder of Relevant Shares to
allot to him on the same or more favourable terms a proportion of those Equity Securities
which is as nearly as practical equal to the proportion in nominal value held by him of the
aggregate number of Relevant Shares in issue on the record date for such allotment but
subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Board may deem necessary or
expedient in their exclusive discretion to deal with fractional entitlements or legal or
practical problems under applicable Israeli law or the requirements of any regulatory
authority or stock exchange in any jurisdiction.

6.2.2

The Company may pass a special resolution to authorise the Board to allot Equity Securities
in the Company for cash up to a nominal amount speciﬁed in such resolution as if the
provisions referred to in paragraph 6.2.1 (above) did not apply and such power shall (unless
varied or cancelled by special resolution passed at an intervening general meeting) expire
on the date (if any) speciﬁed in the resolution save that the Directors shall be entitled before
such expiry to allot Equity Securities in pursuance of an offer or agreement made before
such expiry by the Company which would or might require shares to be allotted after such
expiry.

Voting rights
6.3.1

Subject to the restrictions referred to in paragraph 6.4 (below) and subject to any special
rights or restrictions as to voting attached to any class of shares, every holder of Ordinary
Shares shall have one vote for each share held by him on every resolution whether voting
on a show of hands, by a written ballot or by any other means. A corporate member may
authorise any person to be its representative at a general or class meeting and such person
shall be entitled to exercise such powers as the corporate member could exercise if it was
an individual member.

6.3.2

The Board may in its discretion determine the matters that may be voted upon by written
ballot to the Company (without attendance in person or by proxy) as shall be permitted by
the relevant legislation in addition to the matters listed at section 87(a) of the Companies
Law.

6.3.3

Any holder of Ordinary Shares entitled to vote may vote either personally or by proxy (who
need not be a shareholder of the Company), or if the Shareholder is a corporate member,
by a representative authorised pursuant to paragraph 6.3.1 (above).

Restrictions on voting
A Shareholder shall not be entitled to vote at any general or class meeting (or be counted as part
of the quorum at the meeting) unless all calls and other sums then payable by him in respect of his
shares in the Company have been paid.

6.5

Transfer of shares
6.5.1

No transfer of Ordinary Shares shall be registered unless a proper instrument of transfer has
been submitted to the Company or its agent in a form satisfactory to the Board and signed
by or on behalf of the transferor and (except in the case of a fully paid share) by or on behalf
of the transferee, together with the share certiﬁcate(s) or such other evidence of title as the
Board may reasonably require.

6.5.2

The Board has absolute discretion to refuse to register a transfer of any Ordinary Share
which is not fully paid up or upon which the Company has a lien without giving a reason,
provided that the refusal is not such as to prevent dealings in shares from taking place on
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an open and proper basis but they must provide the transferee with a notice of the refusal
within two months after the date on which the transfer was lodged.
6.6

Alteration of capital
6.6.1

By resolution and subject to relevant legislation, the Company may:
(a) increase or reduce its share capital;
(b) reduce any reserved fund for redemption of capital in any manner, subject to the
requirements of the Companies Law;
(c) consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital, whether issued or unissued, into
shares of larger nominal value than its existing shares;
(d) sub-divide all or any of its share capital, whether issued or unissued, into shares of
smaller nominal value than is ﬁxed by the Articles;
(e) cancel any shares which at the date of the resolution have not been allotted.

6.7

Disclosure notice
6.7.1

Without prejudice to and in addition to any obligation to disclose under Israeli law, a
shareholder shall notify the Company of his interest where a shareholder either:
(a) to his knowledge acquires a notiﬁable interest in Ordinary Shares, or ceases to have a
notiﬁable interest in such Ordinary Shares; or
(b) becomes aware that he has acquired a notiﬁable interest in the Ordinary Shares, or that
he has ceased to have a notiﬁable interest in Ordinary Shares in which he was previously
interested,
(c) to his knowledge, had a notiﬁable interest before and after the acquisition or disposal
of an interest in Ordinary Shares, but the percentage levels of his interest immediately
before and immediately after that time are not the same. For these purposes
‘‘percentage level’’ means the percentage ﬁgure found by expressing the aggregate
nominal value of all the shares comprised in the Ordinary Share capital in which the
person has an interest immediately before or (as the case may be) immediately after the
acquisition or disposal as a percentage of the total nominal value of the entire issued
Ordinary Share capital and rounding that ﬁgure down, if it is not a whole number, to the
next whole number.

6.7.2

For the purposes of paragraph 6.7.1 (above), a Shareholder has a notiﬁable interest at any
time when the aggregate par value of the Ordinary Shares in which he is interested is equal
to or more than 3 per cent. of the issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares of the Company.

6.7.3

Any notiﬁcation under paragraph 6.7.1 (above) shall identify the Shareholder so interested,
the nature and extent of his interest, and the date on which he acquired or ceased to hold
a notiﬁable interest or on which there was an increase or decrease in the percentage level
of his notiﬁable interest.

6.7.4

The Board may by notice in writing (a ‘‘Disclosure Notice’’) require any person whom the
Board knows or has reasonable cause to believe to be or, at any time during the three years
immediately preceding the date on which the Disclosure Notice is issued, has been
interested in Ordinary Shares to indicate whether or not it is the case and, where that person
holds any interest in any such Ordinary Shares, to give such further information as may be
required by the Board. Any Disclosure Notice may require the person to whom it is
addressed to give particulars of his own present interest in Ordinary Shares. A Disclosure
Notice shall require any information given in response to the notice to be given in writing
within such reasonable time (not being less than twenty-one days) as may be speciﬁed in the
Disclosure Notice.

6.7.5

For the purposes of this provision, a person who is interested in a right to subscribe for or
convert into Ordinary Shares shall be deemed to be interested in Ordinary Shares and
references to interests in Ordinary Shares shall include any interest whatsoever in such
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Ordinary Shares including, without limitation, a right to control directly or indirectly the
exercise of any right conferred by the holding of Ordinary Shares alone or in conjunction
with any person and the interest of any person shall be deemed to include the interest of any
other person deemed to be acting in conjunction as aforesaid.
6.7.6

If the holder of, or any person appearing to be interested in Ordinary Shares has been
served with a Disclosure Notice, and in respect of such Ordinary Shares (the ‘‘Default
Ordinary Shares’’), has been in default (in whole or in part) for the relevant period in
supplying the Company with the information required by the Disclosure Notice, subject to
Israeli law and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Articles, the restrictions
referred to in paragraph 6.7.7 (below) shall apply. Those restrictions shall cease to apply the
trading day after the earlier of:
(a) due compliance to the satisfaction of the Board with the Disclosure Notice; or
(b) receipt by the Company of a notice that the stockholding has been sold to a third party
under an arm’s length transfer; or
(c) the decision of the Board to waive those restrictions in whole or in part.

6.7.7

The restrictions referred to in paragraph 6.7.6 (above) are as follows:
(a) if the Default Ordinary Shares in which any one person is interested, or appears to the
Company to be interested represents less than 0.25 per cent. of the issued and
outstanding Ordinary Shares, the holders of the Default Ordinary Shares shall not be
entitled to vote those Default Ordinary Shares at a general meeting of the Company,
either personally or by proxy; or
(b) if the Default Ordinary Shares in which any one person is interested, or appears to the
Company to be so interested represents at least 0.25 per cent. of the issued and
outstanding Ordinary Shares, the holders of the Default Ordinary Shares shall not be
entitled in respect of those Default Ordinary Shares;

6.8

(i)

to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company either personally or by
proxy; or

(ii)

to receive any dividend (including bonus shares/stock dividend); or

(iii)

to transfer or agree to transfer any such Default Ordinary Shares or any rights
in them.

Redeemable shares
Subject to relevant legislation, the Company may issue redeemable shares and redeem them in a
manner to be determined by the Board. Except as provided in the Companies Law, redeemable
securities shall not constitute part of the Company’s capital.

6.9

Calls on shares
The Board may make such calls upon a Shareholder as it deems ﬁt in respect of any sum unpaid in
respect of Shares held by the Shareholder, unless the sum is payable at a ﬁxed time under the terms
of allotment or issue.

6.10

General meetings
6.10.1

An annual general meeting shall be held once every calendar year at such time (being not
more than 15 months after the previous annual general meeting) and such place as the
Board may determine.

6.10.2

All general meetings other than Annual General Meetings are called ‘‘Special Meetings’’.
The Board may convene a Special Meeting whenever it deems ﬁt, at such time and place,
as may be determined by the Board and shall be obliged to do so upon a requisition in
writing in accordance with sections 63(b)(1) or (2) and 63(c) of the Companies Law. Any
request for convening a meeting must specify the purposes for which the meeting is to be
called, shall be signed by the persons requesting the meeting and shall be delivered to the
Company’s registered ofﬁce.
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6.11

6.10.3

The Board shall determine the agenda of any general meeting and may accept a request of
a Shareholder to include a subject in the agenda.

6.10.4

Notice of a general meeting shall be given in such manner as is stipulated in the Companies
Law.

6.10.5

The quorum for general meetings is two or more holders of Ordinary Shares present in
person or by proxy. Where such a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time
appointed for the meeting, the meeting shall be adjourned to the same day in the next week,
at the same time and place, or, if set forth in the original notice of the meeting or on a new
notice given in the prescribed manner at least three days prior to the date of the adjourned
meeting, to such day and at such time and place as the Board may indicate in the notice. If
at such adjourned meeting such a quorum is not present, any one shareholder present in
person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum (subject to rules and regulations, if any,
applicable to the Company).

6.10.6

At any general meeting, a proposed resolution shall be adopted if it is approved by a
majority of more than 50 per cent. of the voting power represented at the meeting in person
or by proxy and voting (a ‘‘simple majority’’) unless required to be passed by a special
resolution meaning a majority of 75 per cent. or more of the voting power represented at
the meeting in person or by proxy and voting. Except as otherwise speciﬁed in the Articles
and subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, any alteration or amendment of the
Articles shall require a special resolution.

6.10.7

A resolution approving a merger (as deﬁned in the Companies Law) of the Company shall
be approved by a simple majority.

6.10.8

Every question submitted to a general meeting shall be decided by a show of hands unless
a written ballot is demanded by any holder of Ordinary Shares present in person or by proxy
and entitled to vote at the meeting.

6.10.9

The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing, in accordance with the requirements
as to the form and content set out in the Articles and shall be delivered to the Company not
less than forty eight hours before the time ﬁxed for the meeting.

Dividends
6.11.1

Subject to the Articles and any special or restricted rights conferred upon Shareholders as
to dividends, any dividend paid by the Company must be allocated among the Shareholders
in proportion to the sums paid up on account of the nominal value of their respective
holdings in respect of which such dividend is being paid, but without taking into account the
premium paid up on those shares. The amount paid up on account of a share which has not
yet been called for payment or fallen due for payment and upon which the Company pays
interest to the Shareholder shall not be deemed for the purposes of the Articles to be a sum
paid on account of the share.

6.11.2

A dividend may be paid, wholly or partly, by the distribution of speciﬁc assets and, in
particular, by distribution of paid-up shares, debentures or debenture stock of any other
company or in one or more such ways.

6.11.3

The Board may resolve that:
(a) any monies, investments or other assets forming part of the undivided proﬁts of the
Company standing to the credit of any reserve fund or investment funds or assets in the
hands of the Company and available for dividends or representing premiums received
on the issue of shares and standing to the credit of the share premium account be
capitalised and distributed among such of the Shareholders as would be entitled to
receive the same if distributed by way of a dividend and in the same proportion on the
basis that they become entitled to such payment as capital;
(b) all or any part of such capitalised funds be applied on behalf of such Shareholders in
paying up in full, either at nominal or at such premiums as the resolution may provide,
any unissued shares or debentures or debenture stock of the Company which shall be
distributed accordingly or towards the payment, in full or in part, of the uncalled
liability on any issued shares or debentures or debenture stock;
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(c) such distribution or payment shall be accepted by such Shareholders in full satisfaction
of their share and interest in the capitalised sum.
6.11.4

The Board may prevent the distribution of a dividend in respect of shares which have not
been fully paid up. The Board may also:
(a) deduct from any dividend payable to any Shareholder all sums (if any) presently
payable by such Shareholder to the Company on account of calls or otherwise in
relation to the shares of the Company;
(b) retain any dividend or other monies payable or property distributable in respect of a
share in respect of which any person is entitled to become a Shareholder or entitled to
transfer until such a person shall become a Shareholder in respect of such a share or
shall transfer the same.

6.12

6.11.5

The Board may retain any dividend or other monies payable or property distributable in
respect of a share on which the Company has a lien and may apply the same in or toward
satisfaction of the debts, liabilities or engagements in respect of which the lien exists.

6.11.6

Any dividend unclaimed after a period of seven years from the date of declaration of the
dividend and any other money payable in respect of a share which is unclaimed after such
period shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company.

Return of capital and winding up
6.12.1

A resolution adopted in a general meeting approved by 75 per cent. of the voting shares
represented at such meeting in person or by proxy is required to approve the winding up of
the Company.

6.12.2

If the Company is wound up, then (subject to relevant legislation and to the rights of any
holders of shares with special rights upon a winding up):
(a) the assets of the Company available for distribution among the Shareholders shall ﬁrst
be distributed in proportion to the nominal value of their respective holdings of fully
paid-up shares in respect of which such distribution is being made;
(b) if a class of shares has no nominal value, the assets available for distribution shall be
distributed to the Shareholders in proportion to their respective holdings of the shares
in respect of which such distribution is being made.

6.13

Directors
6.13.1

Borrowing Powers
The Company may borrow or secure the payment of any sum(s) of money for the purposes
of the Company and may secure or provide for the repayment of such sum(s) in such
manner, at such times and upon such terms and conditions as it thinks ﬁt. The Board shall
restrict the borrowings of the Company and exercise all voting and other rights or powers
of control exercisable by the Company in relation to any subsidiaries so as to secure (so far,
as regards any subsidiary, as by such exercise they can secure) that the aggregate principal
amount outstanding at any time in respect of all monies borrowed by the Company and its
subsidiaries (exclusive of any intra-group borrowings), less cash deposited, will not, without
the previous sanction of a shareholders’ resolution of the Company, exceed sixty per cent.
of revenue or any higher limit ﬁxed by a resolution of the shareholders. For these purposes,
‘‘revenue’’ means the value of goods or services provided by the Company and its
subsidiaries and accounted for under International Financial Reporting Standards in
relation to the immediately preceding ﬁnancial year of the Company.

6.13.2

Reserves
The Board of Directors may, from time to time, set aside any amount(s) out of the proﬁts
of the Company as a reserve or reserves for any purpose(s) which the Board of Directors,
in its absolute discretion, shall deem ﬁt, and may invest any sum so set aside in any manner.

6.13.3

Exercise of Powers of Directors
A resolution proposed at any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be deemed adopted
if approved by a majority of the directors present when such resolution is put to a vote and
voting thereon.
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6.13.4

Minimum and maximum number
The Board of Directors shall consist of such number of directors (not less than three nor
more than nine) as may be determined by a Shareholder resolution of the Company.

6.13.5

Remuneration and expenses
A director will only be paid remuneration by the Company for his services as a director if
such remuneration is approved pursuant to the Companies Law.
Subject to the relevant legislation, reimbursement of expenses incurred by a director in
carrying out his directorial duties shall be made pursuant to the policy of the Board.

6.13.6

Appointment, removal and shareholding qualiﬁcation
(a) At each Annual General Meeting, one-third of the Directors in ofﬁce at the opening of
business on the date of the notice calling the relevant annual general meeting or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding
one-third, or if their number is less than three then one of them, shall retire from ofﬁce.
A Director retiring at a meeting shall retain ofﬁce until the dissolution of such meeting.
(b) The Directors to retire at each annual general meeting shall include those Directors
who have never been elected at a general meeting of the Company, such of the
Directors who wish to retire and not offer themselves for re-election (if any) together
with, to the extent that the number of such Directors is insufﬁcient to meet the number
required to retire under paragraph 6.13.6(a) (above), such of the Directors who have
been longest in ofﬁce as are necessary to meet such number. As between two or more
who have been in ofﬁce an equal length of time, the Director(s) to retire shall (in
default of agreement between them) be determined by lot. The length of time a
Director has been in ofﬁce shall be computed from his last election, re-election or
appointment when he has previously vacated ofﬁce. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election. Directors shall be elected (or re-elected) at any general meeting by the
vote of the Shareholders of a simple majority voting on the election (or re-election) of
Directors. The Shareholders shall be entitled to remove any Director(s) from ofﬁce by
a Shareholders’ resolution, all subject to applicable law. The Company at any general
meeting including one at which any Directors retire in the manner aforesaid may,
subject to any resolution reducing the number of Directors, ﬁll up the vacated ofﬁces by
electing a like number of persons to be Directors and may ﬁll up any other vacancies.
(c) If at any general meeting at which an election of Directors ought to take place the
places of the retiring Directors are not ﬁlled up, then, subject to any resolution reducing
the number of Directors, the retiring Directors, or such of them as have not had their
places ﬁlled up, shall, if willing, continue in ofﬁce until the dissolution of the annual
general meeting in the next year, unless, as regards any particular Director, a resolution
for his re-election shall have been put to the meeting and lost.
(d) The term of a Director may commence as of a date later than the date of the
Shareholders’ resolution electing said Director, if so speciﬁed in said Shareholders’
resolution.
(e) The ofﬁce of a director shall be vacated automatically if:
(i)

the director dies;

(ii)

the director is found to be legally incompetent;

(iii)

the director becomes bankrupt;

(iv)

the director is prevented by applicable law from serving as a director of the
Company or if his directorship expires pursuant to the Companies Law
(including the provisions of section 228 of the Companies Law);

(v)

the Board has to terminate the director’s ofﬁce in accordance with Section 231 or
232 of the Companies Law;

(vi)

a court order is given in respect of that director in accordance with Section 233
of the Companies Law;
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(vii)

the director’s period of ofﬁce has terminated in accordance with the Articles;

(viii) the director resigns in writing;
(ix)

6.14

the director is removed pursuant to paragraph 6.13.6(b) (above).

6.13.7

The ofﬁce of an External Director shall be vacated only in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Companies Law.

6.13.8

A director shall not be required to hold any shares in the Company.

Directors’ interests
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, the Company may enter into any contract or
otherwise transact any business with:

6.15

6.14.1

any director where such director has a personal interest (directly or indirectly held); or

6.14.2

any third party where a director has a personal interest (directly or indirectly held).

Approval of certain related parties transactions
A transaction between the Company and an ofﬁce holder, including transactions concerning
compensation of non-director ofﬁce holders, and a transaction between the Company and a third
person in which an ofﬁce holder of the Company has a personal interest, which is not an
extraordinary transaction as such term is deﬁned under the Companies Law, will require only the
approval of the Board or a committee of the Board of Directors. Except to the extent permitted by
the Companies Law, a director or other ofﬁce holder shall neither participate in deliberations
concerning or vote upon a resolution approving a transaction with the Company in which he has a
personal interest.

6.16

Committees of the Board
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, the Board may delegate certain powers to
committees consisting of two or more directors. Any such committee must comply with any
regulations imposed on it by the Board and shall not be empowered to further delegate its
responsibilities.

6.17

6.18

Proceedings of the Board
6.17.1

The Board must meet at least once every calendar quarter and not less than ﬁve times a
calendar year.

6.17.2

Unless otherwise unanimously decided by the Board, a quorum at a meeting of the Board
shall be constituted by the presence of a majority of the Directors who are lawfully entitled
to participate in the meeting.

6.17.3

The Chairman shall not have a casting vote in the event of a tied vote.

Insurance and indemnity of ofﬁcers
6.18.1

Subject to the Companies Law, the Company may:
(a) exculpate an ofﬁcer in advance and retroactively from liability for damage resulting
from breach of duty of care to the Company to the fullest extent permitted under the
Companies Law;
(b) insure the liability of an ofﬁcer to the fullest extent permitted under the Companies
Law;
(c) indemnify an ofﬁcer, in advance and retroactively, to the fullest extent permitted under
the Companies Law;
(d) without derogating from the above, indemnify an ofﬁcer in respect of any of the
following liabilities, expenses or obligations when they are incurred in his capacity as an
ofﬁcer of the Company:
(i)

a ﬁnancial obligation imposed on him in favour of another person by a court
judgment, including a compromise judgment or an arbitrator’s award approved
by court;
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(ii)

reasonable legal fees, including attorney’s fees, incurred by an ofﬁce holder in
consequence of an investigation or proceeding ﬁled against him by an authority
that is authorised to conduct such investigation or proceeding, and that resulted
without ﬁling an indictment against him/her and without imposing on him/her a
ﬁnancial obligation in lieu of a criminal proceeding, or that resulted without
ﬁling an indictment against him/her but with imposing on him a ﬁnancial
obligation as an alternative to a criminal proceeding in respect of an offence that
does not require the proof of criminal intent.
For the purposes of this Article –
A proceeding that ended without an indictment in a matter in respect of a which
an investigation was conducted, means – closing the case pursuant to Section 62
of the Criminal Procedure Act Combined Version 5742 – 1982 (the ‘‘Criminal
Procedure Act’’) or a stay of proceedings by the Administrator General pursuant
to Section 231 of the Criminal Procedure Act;
‘‘Financial obligation in lieu of a criminal proceeding’’, means – a ﬁnancial
obligation imposed by law as an alternative to a criminal proceeding, including
an administrative ﬁne pursuant to the Administrative Offenses Act 5746 – 1985,
a ﬁne with respect to an offence which was deﬁned as a ’’ﬁnable offence’’ under
the Criminal Procedure Act, a monetary sanction or a ransom.

(iii)

reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by an ofﬁce
holder or charged to the ofﬁce holder by a court, in a proceeding instituted
against the ofﬁce holder by the Company or on its behalf or by another person,
or in a criminal charge from which the ofﬁce holder was acquitted, or in a
criminal proceeding in which the ofﬁce holder was convicted of an offence that
does not require proof of criminal intent.

(iv)

any other obligation or expenses in respect of which it is permitted or will be
permitted under the Companies Law to indemnify an ofﬁce holder.

The Company may undertake to indemnify the ofﬁcer (a) prospectively, provided that
in respect of the matters described above, the undertaking is limited to events which in
the Board’s opinion are foreseeable at the time of giving the indemnity in view of the
Company’s actual business and in such amount or standard as the Board deems
reasonable in the circumstances. The undertaking must specify the events that in the
Board’s opinion are foreseeable in view of the Company’s actual business at the time of
the undertaking and the amount that the Board deemed reasonable under the
circumstances, and (b) retroactively, without derogating from the above and subject to
the provisions of the Companies Law.
The Company may also enter into a contract for the insurance of all or part of a liability
of any ofﬁcer imposed on him in respect of an act performed in his capacity as an ofﬁcer,
in respect of each of the following:
(i)

a breach of his duty of care to the Company or to another person;

(ii)

a breach of his duty of loyalty to the Company, provided that the ofﬁce holder
acted in good faith and had reasonable cause to assume that such act would not
prejudice the interests of the Company;

(iii)

a ﬁnancial obligation imposed on him in favour of another person; or

(iv)

any other event in respect of which it is permitted or will be permitted under the
Companies Law to insure the liability of an ofﬁce holder.

The Company may also enter into a contract with regard to exculpation, indemniﬁcation,
and insurance of ofﬁce holders serving on behalf of the Company, in companies
controlled by the Company, afﬁliated or associated companies of the Company or any
other company in which the Company has some interest, to the fullest extent permitted
under the Companies Law.
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6.19

Depositary Interests
The Board is authorised to make such arrangements as it may think ﬁt in order to enable shares in
the Company to be represented by and exchanged for depositary interests which are eligible to be
held and transferred in uncertiﬁcated form in a computer-based system whether located in Israel or
in any other country. Any such arrangement shall be notiﬁed to the Shareholders in such manner as
the Board may decide.

6.20

Modiﬁcation of Rights
If at any time the share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any
class, unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of the shares of that class, may be modiﬁed
only upon the approval of a separate class meeting of the shareholders of the shares of such class
by way of simple majority.
The provisions of the Articles relating to general meetings shall, mutatis mutandis, apply to any
separate class meeting of the shareholders of a particular class.

7

Directors’ and other interests

7.1

The interests of the Directors (all of which are, unless otherwise stated, beneﬁcial), including their
immediate families and persons connected with them, in the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this document are and immediately following Admission, will be:

Director

As at the date of this document
Percentage of
Ordinary
issued share
Shares
capital

Amos Vizer*
Haim Yatim
Alistair Rae
Graham Woolfman
Vered Shany
Nevat Simon

2,600,000
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

8.52
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Immediately following Admission
Percentage of
Ordinary
issued share
Shares
capital

2,600,000
Nil
22,727
Nil
Nil
Nil

7.0
Nil
0.06
Nil
Nil
Nil

Options

1,372,074***
63,000**
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

*

Held through A. Vizer Holdings Ltd. of which 937,500 are held on trust for third parties (including 687,500 held for
Packet Science Ltd.)

**

Haim Yatim has been granted options over a further 51,500 Ordinary Shares, conditional on Admission.

*** of which options over 211,935 Ordinary Shares will vest in the event of acquisition of the Company or an investment
of over $5,000,000 at a valuation of the Company of at least $50,000,000 and options over 50,000 Ordinary Shares were
granted conditional on Admission, vested over 12 months following Admission or termination of the agreement by the
Company other than with cause

7.2

Save as set out in paragraph 7.1 of this Part VI, none of the Directors, their immediate families and
persons connected with them has any interest in the share capital of the Company.

7.3

7.3.1

Save as disclosed in this document, no Director has any interest, direct or indirect, in any
assets which have been or are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or leased to, the
Company and no contract or arrangement exists in which a Director is materially interested
and which is signiﬁcant in relation to the business of the Company.

7.3.2

Ami Vizer is a 4.74 per cent. shareholder in Rocket Racing League Inc. a company with
which the Company has a business relationship which includes the sale of software and
services by the Company to Rocket Racing League Inc. The Company believes that this
relationship is not currently material to the Group and that the principal work relating to
it will not commence prior to 2007.

7.4

Save as disclosed in this document, there are no outstanding loans granted by the Company to any
of the Directors nor are there any guarantees provided by the Company for their beneﬁt.

7.5

Save as disclosed in this document, none of the Directors, including their immediate families and
persons connected with them, is interested in any ﬁnancial product referenced by the Ordinary
Shares (being a ﬁnancial product whose value is, in whole or in part, determined directly or
indirectly by reference to the price of the Ordinary Shares, including a contract for difference or a
ﬁxed odds bet).
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8

Additional information on the Directors

8.1

Other than their directorships of the Company and SimiGon Inc., the current directorships and
partnerships of the Directors and the directorships and partnerships held by them over the previous
ﬁve years are as follows:
Name

Age Current Directorships

Previous Directorships

Amos Vizer

37

Logi-Cali Ltd.

Haim Yatim

43

Alistair Rae

47

A. Vizer Holdings Ltd.

Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer
Digital Power, Inc.
LTG Technologies Plc
Braddons Limited
Refresh UK Plc
Chapel Wharf Limited
Refresh Group Limited
Enterprise Mpc Limited
Imagelinx UK Limited
Jarvis Plc
LTG Gateshead Group Plc Jarvis Rail Limited
Jarvis Trafﬁc Systems Limited
Jarvis Training Management Limited
Jarvis Dormant 13 Limited
Jarvis Dormant 14 Limited
Jarvis Dormant 16 Limited
Junopi Services Limited
Jarvis UPP Limited
Maplestone Limited
Monument Infrastructure Limited
Nimco Limited
Norman Smith (Congleton) Limited
Northern Track Renewals Company Limited
NTRCO Limited
Old Borough Holdings Limited
On Track Plant Limited
PFI Investments (No.2) Limited
Prismo Limited
Quarry Bank Mill Trust Limited
Railsite Limited
Safety & Health Management Limited
Scotland Track Renewals Company Limited
SCTRCO Limited
Secretariat Services Limited
Shephard Hill Civil Engineering Limited
Streamline (UK) Limited
Streamline Europe Limited
Streamline International Limited
Student U.K. Limited
Summer Village Limited
UPP (Exmouth) Limited
UPP Investments (Holdings) Limited
UPP Investments (No.2) Limited
UPP Investments Limited
UPP Plymouth (Holdings) Limited
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Name

Age Current Directorships

Previous Directorships

Graham Woolfman

49

Cavendish AIM Fund
VCT Limited
Cleversave Plc
Gateway Management and
Advisory LLP
Gateway VCT Plc
LTG Development Capital
Limited
Woolfmans Limited

Bio Convertors Plc
Burgundy Global Limited
British Business Angels Association
HLB Vantis Audit Plc
Levy Gee
Levy Gee Corporate Finance Limited
Numerica Capital Markets Limited
Numerica London Limited
Rich & Pattison Limited
Sarantel Limited
Taxpro Limited
Taxpro Direct Limited
Vantis Numerica Corporate Finance Limited

Verad Shany

42

Lahak Mutual Funds of
Bank Hapoalin
SFKT Ltd.
XTL Bio
Capital point

Nevat Simon

44

Simon Nevat (1997) Ltd. Sprint Investments, Ltd.
Simor Assets, Ltd.
Multimetrics, Ltd.
A. Tzedef Investments, Ltd.
Michal Holon, Ltd.
Metolic Investments Israel,
Ltd.
Heart Leader, Ltd.
Marson Financing and
Investments, Ltd.

8.2

Graham Woolfman was a director of Bio Converters plc when it went into adminsistration on
8 June 2005. Mr Woolfman resigned as a director on 20 Janauary 2006. The deﬁciency to creditors
at the time of administration was approximately £190,000 and the deﬁciency to members was
approximately £1,496,000.

8.3

Save as disclosed in this document, as at the date of this document, none of the Directors has:
8.3.1

any unspent convictions in relation to indictable offences; or

8.3.2

been declared bankrupt or made any individual voluntary arrangement; or

8.3.3

been a partner in a partnership at the time of or within the twelve months preceding the
partnership being subject to a compulsory liquidation, administration or partnership
voluntary arrangement; or

8.3.4

been a director of a company at the time of or within the twelve months preceding any
receivership, compulsory liquidation, creditors’ voluntary liquidation, administration,
company voluntary arrangement or any composition or arrangement with creditors
generally or any class of creditors; or

8.3.5

had any asset subject to receivership or been a partner of any partnership at the time of or
within the twelve months preceding any asset of such partnership being subject to a
receivership; or

8.3.6

been subject to any public criticism by statutory or regulatory authorities (including
recognised professional bodies), nor disqualiﬁed by a court from acting as a director of a
company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any company.

9

Directors’ service agreements and emoluments

9.1

Ami Vizer is engaged as President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of the Company under the terms of
a service agreement dated 21 September 2006 with a current salary of $313,320 (approximately
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£169,000 per annum) (excluding bonuses and beneﬁts), terminable by either party on 9 months
notice. Ami Vizer is also entitled to a bonus of $95,000 (approximately £51,000) in each of 2006 and
2007 if the company meets its ﬁnancial projections. Ami Vizer also receives managers insurance and
disability insurance and is provided with a car. Further, Ami Vizer is entitled to a severance payment
on the basis of his last monthly salary prior to the termination calculated from the date of his
employment with the Company on the basis of one month’s salary for each year served in the event
of termination of his employment, save where the termination is by the Company for justiﬁable
cause. Ami Vizer has been a director of the Company since 4 November 1998.
9.2

Haim Yatim is engaged as Chief Financial Ofﬁcer of the Company under the terms of a service
agreement dated 19 June 2006 with a current salary of NIS 35,000 per month (approximately £4,200)
which will increase to NIS 40,000 per month (approximately £4,800) on the earlier of January 2007
and Admission (excluding bonus and beneﬁts), terminable by either party on 3 months’ notice.
Haim Yatim is also entitled to social beneﬁts calculated on the basis of 100 per cent. of his salary plus
a car with expenses. Haim Yatim was appointed a director of the Company with effect from
24 September 2006.

9.3

Alistair Rae has been appointed as chairman and non-executive director of the Company with effect
from Admission under the terms of a letter of appointment dated 27 September 2006, for a fee of
£35,000 per annum. The agreement may be terminated by either party on one month’s written
notice.

9.4

Graham Woolfman has been appointed a non-executive director of the Company with effect from
Admission under the terms of a letter of appointment dated 27 September 2006, for a fee of £25,000
per annum. The appointment may be terminated by either party on 3 months’ written notice, save
that the Company may not terminate the appointment within 12 months of Admission.

9.5

Dr. Vered Shany has been appointed as an external (independent) director of the Company with
effect from Admission under the terms of a letter of appointment dated 12 September 2006.
Dr. Shany will receive the maximum amount permitted under the applicable regulations pursuant to
the Israeli Companies Law, currently equal to a fee of NIS 26,747 (approximately £3,220) per annum
plus a fee of NIS 1,385 (approximately £170) for each board or board committee meeting attended.
The appointment may be terminated by the Shareholders in accordance with the provisions set out
in paragraph 16.2.8 of this Part VI.

9.6

Nevat Simon has been appointed an external (independent) director of the Company with effect
from Admission under the terms of a letter of appointment dated 11 September 2006. Mr. Simon will
receive the maximum amount permitted under the regulations pursuant to the Israeli Companies
Law, currently equal to a fee of NIS 26,747 (approximately £3,220) per annum plus a fee of NIS 1,385
(approximately £170) for each board or board committee meeting attended. The appointment may
be terminated by the Shareholders in accordance with the provisions set out in paragraph 16.2.8 of
this Part VI.

9.7

Save as set out in paragraphs 9.1 to 9.6 of this Part VI, there are no existing or proposed service
agreements between the Company and any of the Directors, whether providing for beneﬁts upon
termination of employment or otherwise.

10

Employees
As at 31 December 2003, 31 December 2004 and 31 December 2005, the Group employed 36, 45 and
49 persons respectively. As at the date of this document, the Company employs 49 persons of which
10 are based in the USA and 39 in Israel, as detailed below:

11

Share Option Scheme

11.1

SimiGon Ltd. – Employee Share Option Plan 2000
The Company adopted the SimiGon Ltd. – Employee Share Option Plan 2000 (the ‘‘2000 Plan’’) on
2 September 1999. Under the 2000 Plan, options were granted over a total of 2,053,822 Ordinary
Shares, of which 1,841,877 of such options have vested already and the remainder shall vest in the
event of an acquisition of the Company or an investment of over $5,000,000 at a valuation of the
Company of at least $5,000,000. These options have been granted at exercise prices between (and
including) NIS.01 and $1.20. The Company no longer grants options under the 2000 Plan and all
options remaining available for grant have been transferred to the 2003 Plan.
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11.1.1

Eligibility; Options Types

Persons eligible for participation in the 2000 Plan include employees, directors consultants and
service providers of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company.
Options granted under the 2000 Plan may or may not contain such terms as will qualify such options
for the special tax treatment under section 102 of the Israeli Tax Ordinance (‘‘Section 102’’). Options
containing such terms as will qualify them for the special tax treatment under Section 102 and are
referred to herein as ’’3(i) Options’’. All options granted, whether together or separately, shall be
referred to as ’’Options’’.
11.1.2

11.1.3

Administration; Plan Term
(a)

The Board has the power to administer the 2000 Plan directly or upon the
recommendation of a share option advisory committee appointed by the Board for
such purpose (the ‘‘Committee’’).

(b)

The Committee consists of such number of members (but not less than two in
number) as may be ﬁxed by the Board. The Committee has full power and authority
to recommend to the Board (i) to designate the Option holders; (ii) to determine the
terms and provisions of the respective option holders’ agreements (which need not
be identical) including, but not limited to, the number of Ordinary Shares to be
covered by each Option, provisions concerning the time or times of exercise and
duration of any restrictions on transferability or restrictions constituting substantial
risk of forfeiture; (iii) to accelerate the right of an Option holder to exercise, in whole
or in part, any previously granted Option; (iv) to interpret the provisions and
supervise the administration of the 2000 Plan; (v) to determine the fair market values
of the Ordinary Shares; (vi) to designate Options as 102 Options or 3(I) Options and
(vii) to determine any other matter which is necessary or desirable for the
administration of the 2000 Plan.

(c)

The Committee is not entitled to grant Options, however, is authorised to issue
shares underlying options which have been granted by the Board.

(d)

The 2000 Plan is effective from the date of adoption by the Board and shall terminate
on the tenth anniversary of adoption, being 2 September 2009.

Vesting Schedule; Acceleration
Options shall vest at the dates set forth in each individual option agreement.

11.1.4

Option Term; Effect of Termination of Optionholder’s Service
(a)

Options, to the extent not previously exercised, terminate immediately upon the
earlier of: (i) the date set forth in the option agreement; and (ii) the expiration of any
extended period in any of the events set forth in paragraph 11.1.4(e) below (the
‘‘Expiration Date’’).

(b)

Each Option shall be exercisable following the vesting dates as set out in the option
agreements. However no Option shall be exercisable after the Expiration Date.

(c)

The Options may be exercised by the Option holder in whole or in part at any time,
to the extent that the Options have become vested and excercisable, prior to the
Expiration Date, provided the Option holder is an employee of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries at all times during the period between grant and exercise.

(d)

Subject to the provisions of paragraph 11.1.4(e) below, in the event of termination of
Option holder’s employment, all Options granted will immediately expire.

(e)

Notwithstanding the above, an Option may be exercised after the date of termination
of the Option holder’s employment during a further period beyond the date of such
termination, but only with respect to the Options already vested (the ‘‘Qualiﬁed
Options’’) if: (i) termination is without Cause, in which event any Qualiﬁed Options
still in force and unexpired may be exercised within a period of 90 days from the date
of termination, (ii) termination is the result of death or disability of the Option
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holder, in which event any Qualiﬁed Option still in the date of termination may be
exercised, or (iii) prior to the date of such termination, the Committee authorises an
extension of the terms of all or part of the Options beyond the date of termination,
such period not to exceed the period during which the Options would otherwise have
been exercisable.
The term ‘‘Cause’’ shall means (i) conviction of any felony involving moral turpitude
or affecting the Company; (ii)a refusal to carry out a reasonable instructions of the
Board; (iii) embezzlement of funds of the Company or its afﬁliates; (iv) any breach
of the Option holderﬁduciary duties or duties of care of the Company; and (v) any
conduct (other then conduct in good faith) reasonably determined by the Board to
be materially detrimental to the Company.
11.1.5

Exercise price
The purchase price of each Ordinary Share subject to an Option or any portion thereof is
determined by the Committee in its sole and absolute discretion, subject to any guidelines
as may be determined by the Board but shall not less then the nominal value of the
Ordinary Shares (the ‘‘Purchase Price’’). Each Option Agreement will state the Purchase
Price determined for each Option holder.

11.1.6

Change of control
(a)

(b)

General
(i)

If the Company is liquidated or dissolved while unexercised Options remain
outstanding under the 2000 Plan, the Board, in its discretion, may determine
that all such outstanding Options may be exercised in full by the Option
holders as of the effective date of any such liquidation or dissolution of the
Company.

(ii)

If the outstanding shares of the Company shall at any time be changed or
exchanged by declaration of a share dividend (bonus shares), share split,
combination or exchange of shares, recapitalisation, or any other similar event
by or of the Company, and as often as the same shall occur, then the number,
class and kind of the shares subject to the 2000 Plan, and the Purchase Prices,
shall be appropriately and equitably adjusted so as to maintain the
proportionate number of shares without changing the aggregate Purchase
Price, provided that no adjustment shall be made by reason of the distribution
of subscription rights (rights offering) on outstanding stock. Upon happening
of any of the foregoing, the class and aggregate number of Ordinary Shares
issuable pursuant to the 2000 Plan, in respect of which Options have not yet
been exercised, shall be appropriately adjusted, as determined by the Board.

(iii)

If prior to the completion of an initial public offering all or substantially all of
the Ordinary Shares of the Company are to be sold or all or substantially all
of the Ordinary Shares of the Company are to be exchanged for securities of
another company, then each Option holder shall be obliged to sell or
exchange, as the case may be, any Ordinary Shares such Option holder has
purchased under the 2000 Plan.

Changes to the number of outstanding shares
(i)

In the event of a merger of the Company with or into another company (the
‘‘Successor Company’’), or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets or
shares of the Company (a ’’Transaction’’) while unexercised Options remain
outstanding (the ’’Unexercised Options’’), then each Unexercised Option
shall be assumed, or substituted for by an appropriate number of shares, of
each class of shares or other securities of the Successor Company (or a parent
or subsidiary of the Successor Company) which are distributed to the
shareholders of the Company in respect of such shares. In the case of such
assumption and/or substitution of shares, appropriate adjustments shall be
made in the Purchase Price to reﬂect such action, and all other terms and
conditions of the Option Agreements shall remain in force.
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(ii)

11.1.7

Subject to any applicable law, the Board or the Committee may determine
with respect to individual Option Agreements that: (a) that there shall be a
clause stating that in the event of a Transaction, if the Successor Company (or
parent or subsidiary of the Successor Company) does not agree to assume or
substitute the Options, the Vesting Periods shall be accelerated so that any
unvested Options shall be immediately vested in full as of the date ten days
prior to the effective date of the Transaction; and (b) there shall be a clause
stating that if the Successor Company (or parent or subsidiary of the
Successor Company) agrees to assume or substitute for the Options and
Option holder’s employment with the Successor Company is terminated
within 12 months from the date of the Transaction, for other than by reason
of death, disability or termination without ‘‘Cause’’ (as deﬁned above), the
Vesting Period shall be accelerated so that any unvested Option (or such other
options of the Successor Company that have been issued in replacement for
the Options) shall immediately vest as of the date of termination and may be
exercised within a period of three months from the date of termination at the
end of which the Options (or such other options of the Successor Company
that shall be issued as a replacement for the Options) shall expire, but in no
circumstances, shall the Options (or such options of the Successor Company
that have be issued as a replacement) be exercisable after the Expiration
Date.

Tax and social taxes
Any tax consequences arising from the grant or exercise of any Option, from the payment
for Ordinary Shares covered thereby or from any other event or act (of the Company and/or
its subsidiaries the Trustee or the Option holder) shall be borne solely by the Option holder.
The company, and/or its subsidiaries and/or the trustee shall withhold taxes according to the
requirements under the applicable laws, rules, and regulations, including withholding taxes
at source. The Option holder agrees to indemnify the Company, its subsidiaries the Trustee
and hold them harmless against and from any and all liability for any such tax or interest or
penalty thereon, including without limitation, liabilities relating to the necessity to withhold,
or to have withheld, any such tax from any payment made to the Option holder.

11.1.8

Individual limits
(a) Options shall not be transferable by Option holders other than by will or laws of descent
and distribution, and during any Option holder’s lifetime shall be exercisable only by
that Option holder.
(b) No Option, whether fully paid or not, shall be assignable, transferable or given as
collateral or any right with respect to them given to any third party whatsoever, and
during the lifetime of the Option holder each and all of such Option holder’s rights to
purchase Shares hereunder shall be exercisable only by the Option holder.
(c) As long as the Shares are held by the trustee in favour of the Option holder, all rights
the Option holder possesses over the Ordinary Shares are personal, can not be
transferred, assigned, pledged or mortgaged, other than by will or laws of descent and
distribution.
(d) An Option holder who purchases Ordinary Shares upon exercise of Options shall have
no voting rights as a shareholder (in any and all matters whatsoever) until the
consummation of a public offering of the Company’s shares (an ‘‘IPO’’). Until an IPO,
such Shares shall be voted by an irrevocable proxy pursuant to the directions of the
Board, such Proxy to be assigned to representatives designated by Board.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Articles of Association of Company,
none of the Option holders shall have a right of ﬁrst refusal in relation with any sale of
shares in the Company.
Prior to Admission, sale of Ordinary Shares by the Option holders shall be subject to
the right of ﬁrst refusal of other shareholders.
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11.2

SimiGon Ltd. – Employee Share Option Plan 2003
The Company adopted the SimiGon Ltd. – Employee Share Option Plan 2003 (the ‘‘2003 Plan’’) in
2003 and this adoption was ratiﬁed by a shareholders resolution passed on 31 August 2006. Under
the 2003 Plan, options have been granted over a total of 1,142,800 Ordinary Shares, of which 552,193
options have vested. These options have been granted at exercise prices of NIS.01 (for those held
by Ami Vizer), $.6 and the price at which Ordinary Shares are sold in connection with the Admission
(for all others). A total of 2,979,091 options remain available for grant under the 2003 Plan.
11.2.1

Eligibility; Options Types
(a) Persons eligible for participation in the 2003 Plan as Option holders includes any
employees and non-employees (meaning consultants, advisers, service providers,
controlling shareholders or any other person who is not an employee) of the Company
or of any Afﬁliate (meaning any ‘‘employing company’’ within the meaning of Section
102(a) of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance); provided, however, that (i) employees may
only be granted 102 Options (as deﬁned above); and (ii) Non-Employees may only be
granted 3(i) Options (as deﬁned above).
(b) The Company may designate Options granted to employees pursuant to Section 102 as
Unapproved 102 Options (Options granted pursuant to Section 102(c) of the Ordinance
and not held in trust by a trustee) or Approved 102 Options (Options granted pursuant
to Section 102(b) of the Ordinance which must be in trust by a trustee for the beneﬁt
of the Option holder).
The grant of Approved 102 Options shall be made under the 2003 Plan adopted by the
Board, and shall be conditioned upon the approval of the 2003 Plan by the Israel Tax
Authorities.
(c) Approved 102 Options may either be classiﬁed as a capital gain option (‘‘CGO’’) or an
ordinary income option (‘‘OIO’’).
The Company’s election of the type of Approved 102 Options as CGO or OIO granted
to Employees (the ‘‘Election’’), shall be appropriately ﬁled with the Israel Tax
Authorities before the date of grant of an Approved 102 Option.

11.2.2

Administration; Plan Term
(a) The Board has the power to administer the 2003 Plan either directly or upon the
recommendation of the Committee (a committee appointed by the Board, which must
have at least than two members of the Board, one of whom must be the Company’s
CEO), as provided by applicable law and in the Company’s Articles of Association.
Notwithstanding the above, the Board automatically has residual authority if no
Committee has been constituted or if such Committee ceases to operate for any reason.
The Committee is not authorised to grant Options, which must be granted by the Board.
(b) The Committee shall have the power to recommend to the Board and the Board shall
have the full power and authority to: (i) designate participants; (ii) determine the terms
and provisions of the respective Option Agreements, including, but not limited to, the
number of Options to be granted to each Option holder, the number of Ordinary Shares
to be covered by each Option, provisions concerning the times of exercise duration of
any restrictions on the transferability or restrictions constituting substantial risk of
forfeiture and to cancel or suspend awards, as necessary; (iii) determine the fair market
value of the Ordinary Shares covered by each Option; (iv) make an election as to the
type of Approved 102 Option; and (v) designate the type of Options.
The Committee also has full power and authority to: (i) alter any restrictions and
conditions of any Options or Ordinary Shares subject to any Options (ii) interpret the
provisions and supervise the administration of the 2003 Plan; (iii) accelerate the right of an
Option holder to exercise in whole or in part, any previously granted Option; (iv)
determine the purchase price of the Option; (v) prescribe, amend and rescind rules and
regulations relating to the 2003 Plan; and (vi) make all other determinations deemed
necessary for the administration of the 2003 Plan.
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(c) The Board shall have the authority to grant, at its discretion, to the holder of an
outstanding Option, in exchange for the surrender and cancellation of such Option, a
new Option having a purchase price equal to, lower than or higher than the Purchase
Price of the original Option surrendered and containing such other terms and
conditions as the Committee may prescribe in accordance with the provisions of the
2003 Plan.
(d) The 2003 Plan is effective from the date of adoption by the Board and shall terminate
on the tenth anniversary of adoption in 2013.
11.2.3

Vesting Schedule; Acceleration
Subject to the provisions of the 2003 Plan, each Option vests following the Vesting Dates
(being the date as of which the Option holder shall be entitled to exercise the Options, as
set out in the Option holder’s option agreement) and for the number of Ordinary Shares as
provided for in the individual Option Agreement. However, no Option shall be exercisable
after the date upon which an Option expires.

11.2.4

Option Term; Effect of Termination of Optionholder’s Service
(a) Options, to the extent not previously exercised, terminate immediately upon the earlier
of: (i) the date set forth in the Option Agreement; and (ii) the expiration of any
extended period in any of the events set forth in paragraph 11.2.4(c) below.
(b) Subject to the provisions of paragraph 11.2.4(c) below, in the event of termination of
Option holder’s employment or services with the Company or any of its Afﬁliates, all
Options granted to such Option holder will immediately expire.
(c) Notwithstanding the above and unless otherwise speciﬁed in the Option holder’s Option
Agreement, an Option may be exercised after the date of termination during an
additional period of time beyond the date of termination, but only with respect of
Options already vested, if:
termination is without Cause (as deﬁned in paragraph 11.1.4(e)), in which event any
vested Option still in force and unexpired may be exercised within a period after the
date of such termination as deﬁned in the Option Agreement ;
termination is the result of death or disability of the Option holder, in which event any
vested Options still in force and unexpired may be exercised within a period of twelve
months after the date of such termination; or
prior to the date of termination, the Committee authorises an extension of the terms of
all or part of the vested Options beyond the date of such termination for a period not
to exceed the period during which the Options would otherwise have been exercisable.
If termination of employment or service is for ‘‘Cause’’, any unexercised Options
(whether vested or non-vested), will immediately expire and terminateOption holder.

11.2.5

Exercise price
The purchase price of each Ordinary Share subject to an Option shall be determined by the
Committee in its absolute discretion, subject to any guidelines as may be determined by the
Board. Each Option Agreement will contain the Purchase Price determined for each
Option holder.

11.2.6

Change of control
(a) General
(i) Upon the occurrence of any of the following described events, Option holder’s
rights to purchase Ordinary Shares under the 2003 Plan shall be adjusted as follows:
In the event of Transaction (meaning a merger, acquisition or reorganisation of the
Company with one or more other entities in which the Company is not the surviving
entity or a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company), the
unexercised Options then outstanding shall be assumed or substituted for an
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appropriate number of shares of each class of shares or other securities of the
Successor Company (meaning any entity the Company is merged to or is acquired
by, in which the Company is not the surviving entity) (or a parent or subsidiary of
the Successor Company) as were distributed to the shareholders of the Company in
connection and with respect to the Transaction. In the case of such assumption
and/or substitution of Options, appropriate adjustments shall be made to the
Purchase Price so as to reﬂect such action and all other terms and conditions of the
Option Agreements shall remain unchanged, including the vesting schedule, all
subject to the determination of the Committee or the Board, which determination
shall be in their sole discretion and ﬁnal. The Company shall notify the Option
holder of the Transaction at least ten days prior to the effective date of such
Transaction.
Notwithstanding the above and subject to any applicable law, the Board or the
Committee shall have full power and authority to determine that in certain Option
Agreements that there shall be a clause stating thatif the Successor Company (or
parent or subsidiary of the Successor Company) does not agree to assume or
substitute for the Options, the Vesting Dates shall be accelerated so that any
unvested Options shall be immediately vested as of the date which is ten days prior
to the effective date of the Transaction.
For the purposes of this paragraph, an Option shall be considered assumed or
substituted if, following the Transaction, the Option confers the right to purchase or
receive, for each Ordinary Share underlying an Option immediately prior to the
Transaction, the consideration (whether shares, options, cash, or other securities or
property) received in the Transaction by holders of Ordinary Shares held on the
effective date of the Transaction (and if such holders were offered a choice of
consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the
outstanding shares); provided that if such consideration received in the Transaction
is not solely ordinary shares (or their equivalent) of the Successor Company or its
parent or subsidiary, the Committee may, with the consent of the Successor
Company, provide for the consideration to be received upon the exercise of the
Option to be solely ordinary shares (or their equivalent) of the Successor Company
or its parent or subsidiary equal in fair market value to the per Ordinary Share
consideration received by holders of a majority of the outstanding shares in the
Transaction; and provided that the Committee may determine, in its discretion, that
in lieu of such assumption or substitution of Options for options of the Successor
Company or its parent or subsidiary, such Options will be substituted for any other
type of asset or property including cash which is fair under the circumstances.
(ii) If the Company is voluntarily liquidated or dissolved while unexercised Options
remain outstanding under the 2003 Plan, the Company shall immediately notify all
unexercised Option holders of such liquidation, and the Option holders shall then
have ten days to exercise any unexercised vested Option held by them at that time,
in accordance with the exercise procedure set forth herein. Upon the expiration of
such ten-days period, all remaining outstanding Options will terminate immediately.
(iii) If prior to the completion of an initial public offering all or substantially all of the
shares of the Company are to be sold, or in case of a Transaction, all or substantially
all of the shares of the Company are to be exchanged for securities of another
Company, then each Option holder shall be obliged to sell or exchange, as the case
may be, any Ordinary Shares such Option holder purchased under the 2003 Plan,
in accordance with the instructions issued by the Board in connection with the
Transaction.

73

PART VI — ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
(b) Changes to the number of outstanding shares
If the outstanding shares of the Company shall at any time be changed or exchanged by
declaration of a share dividend (bonus shares), share split, combination or exchange of
shares, recapitalisation, or any other like event by or of the Company then the number,
class and kind of the shares subject to the 2003 Plan or subject to any Options granted,
and the purchase prices, shall be appropriately and equitably adjusted so as to maintain
the proportionate number of shares without changing the aggregate purchase price,
provided that no adjustment shall be made by reason of the distribution of subscription
rights (rights offering) on outstanding shares. Upon happening of any of the foregoing,
the class and aggregate number of shares issuable pursuant to the 2003 Plan, in respect
of which Options have not yet been exercised, shall be appropriately adjusted.
11.2.7

Tax and social taxes
Any tax consequences arising from the grant or exercise of any Option, from the payment
for Ordinary Shares covered thereby or from any other event or act (of the Company and/or
its Afﬁliates, the Trustee or the Option holder), shall be borne solely by the Option holder.
The Company and/or its Afﬁliates and/or the Trustee shall withhold taxes according to the
requirements under the applicable laws, rules, and regulations, including withholding taxes
at source.The Option holder agrees to indemnify the Company and/or its Afﬁliates and/or
the Trustee and hold them harmless against and from any and all liability for any such tax
or interest or penalty thereon, including without limitation, liabilities relating to the
necessity to withhold, or to have withheld, any such tax from any payment made to the
Option holder.

11.2.8

Individual limits
(a) With respect to any Approved 102 Option, subject to the provisions of Section 102 and
any rules or regulation or orders or procedures promulgated thereunder, an Option
holder may not sell or release from trust any Ordinary Shares received upon the
exercise of an Approved 102 Option and/or any share received subsequently following
any realisation of rights until the lapse of the holding period required under Section 102
of the Ordinance. Notwithstanding the above, if any such sale or release occurs during
the holding period, the sanctions under Section 102 of the Ordinance and under any
rules or regulation or orders or procedures promulgated thereunder shall apply to and
shall be borne by the Option holder.
(b) Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, until such time as the Company shall
complete an IPO, an Option holder does not have the right to sell Ordinary Shares
issued upon the exercise of an Option within six months and one day of the date of
exercise of such Option or issuance of such Ordinary Shares. Unless otherwise
determined by the Committee, until such time as the Company completes an IPO, the
sale of Ordinary Shares issuable upon the exercise of an Option shall be subject to a
right of ﬁrst refusal on the part of the Repurchaser(s).
Repurchaser(s) means (i) the Company, if permitted by applicable law, (ii) if the
Company is not permitted by applicable law, then any afﬁliate of the Company
designated by the Committee; or (iii) if no decision is reached by the Committee, then
the Company’s existing shareholders (save, for avoidance of doubt, for other Option
holders who already exercised their Options), pro rata in accordance with their
shareholding. Option holder
(c) No Option or any right with respect thereto, purchasable hereunder, whether fully paid
or not, is assignable, transferable or can be given as collateral nor any right with respect
to it given to any third party whatsoever, except as speciﬁcally allowed under the 2003
Plan, and during the lifetime of the Option holder each and all of such Option holder’s
rights to purchase Ordinary Shares hereunder shall be exercisable only by the Option
holder.
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(d) For so long as Options and/or Ordinary Shares are held by the Trustee on behalf of the
Option holder, all rights of the Option holder over the Shares are personal, can not be
transferred, assigned, pledged or mortgaged, other than by will or pursuant to the laws
of descent and distribution.
(e) The Option holder acknowledges that in the event that the Company’s shares shall be
registered for trading in any public market, the Option holder’s rights to sell the shares
subject to the option may be subject to certain limitations (including a lock-up period),
as will be requested by the Company or its underwriters,and the Option holder
unconditionally agrees and accepts any such limitations.
12

Material Contracts
The following are the only contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of
business) which have been entered into by the Company in the two years immediately preceding the
date of this document and which are or may be material:

12.1

An engagement letter dated 31 August 2006 between the Company and Panmure Gordon pursuant
to which Panmure Gordon agreed to act as the Company’s nominated adviser and corporate broker
for the Placing and Admission.

12.2

An agreement (the ‘‘Placing Agreement’’) dated 27 October 2006 between the Company, the
Directors and Panmure Gordon, pursuant to which Panmure Gordon has agreed (conditionally,
among other things, on Admission occurring not later than 8.30 a.m. on 31 December 2006) as agent
for the Company to use its reasonable endeavours to procure subscribers for the Placing Shares, in
each case at the Placing Price. The Placing is not underwritten.
Under the Placing Agreement and subject to its becoming unconditional, the Company has agreed
to pay Panmure Gordon a commission of 4.5 per cent. on the aggregate value at the Placing Price
of the Placing Shares in respect of amounts raised under the Placing at the Placing Price up to (and
including) $15,000,000 and a commission of 5 per cent. in respect of such amounts in excess of
$15,000,000 (but, in the latter case, not for those amounts in respect of which the commission of
4.5 per cent. is payable). and the Company has agreed to pay Panmure Gordon a corporate ﬁnance
fee of £75,000, together in each case with any applicable VAT. The Company will pay certain other
costs and expenses (including any applicable VAT) of, or incidental to, the Placing including all fees
and expenses payable in connection with Admission, expenses of the Registrar, printing and
advertising expenses, postage and all other legal, accounting and other professional fees and
expenses.
The Placing Agreement contains warranties and indemnities given by the Company and/or the
Directors to Panmure Gordon as to the accuracy of the information contained in this document and
other matters relating to the Company and its business. Panmure Gordon is entitled to terminate the
Placing Agreement in certain speciﬁed circumstances prior to Admission including in the case of a
material breach of warranty or a material adverse change in the ﬁnancial or trading position or
prospects of the Company.

12.3

A nominated adviser and broker agreement dated 27 October 2006 between the Company and
Panmure Gordon pursuant to which Panmure Gordon is retained by the Company as nominated
adviser and broker for the purposes of the AIM Rules on and following Admission. The agreement
will automatically be renewed annually, and may be terminated by either party on 7 days written
notice to the other. The agreement may be terminated immediately by either party if the other
materially breaches its obligations. The agreement contains certain undertakings and indemnities
given by the Company in respect of, inter alia, compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

12.4

An agreement dated 27 October 2006 between the Company, the Lock-In Persons and Panmure
Gordon, pursuant to which each of the Lock-In Persons have undertaken to Panmure Gordon and
to the Company not to dispose of any of the Ordinary Shares in which they are interested at
Admission, or which they subsequently acquire by way of, for example, a rights issue or exercise of
warrants, (subject to certain limited exceptions) within twelve months of Admission without
Panmure Gordon’s prior consent (while it remains appointed the nominated adviser and/or
nominated broker to the Company) or the consent of such other nominated adviser and broker
engaged by the Company (‘‘Nominated Broker’’). Thereafter, until the second anniversary of
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Admission they have each undertaken neither to sell nor dispose of any such Ordinary Shares other
than through the Nominated Broker, subject to certain limited exceptions.
The restrictions set out above do not apply to:
(a) the sale or transfer of the Ordinary Shares in connection with an offer to acquire the whole or
any part of the shares or the sale of any of the Ordinary Shares to an offeror or potential offeror
in respect of such an offer made to all holders of Ordinary Shares, or potential offer (or to any
person acting in concert with the offeror or potential offer) or the entry into an agreement to
do any of the same where such offer is made (or announced) in accordance with the applicable
Israeli law.
(b) a disposal or agreement to dispose of any Ordinary Shares to the Company made pursuant to
an offer by the Company to purchase its own shares.
(c) a disposal, sale or other transfer of any Ordinary Shares to the shareholder’s Connected Person
(as deﬁned in the agreement) provided that, prior to such disposal, sale or transfer, such
Connected Person enters into an undertaking not to dispose of the Ordinary Shares in the same
form as the undertaking set out in the agreement.
(d) the disposal, sale or other transfer the Ordinary Shares pursuant to a court order or after his
death.
(e) transfers or disposals of Ordinary Shares for the purpose of effecting the appointment of a new
trustee, or for the purpose of retiring as a trustee, of a trust set up for the sole beneﬁt of the
restricted person or his Connected Persons provided that such new trustee, before registration
of any transfer of such shares to such new trustee, executes an undertaking in relation to such
shares in similar terms to that contained in this agreement in a form reasonably satisfactory to
the Company and Panmure Gordon.
(f) to any disposal of Ordinary Shares pursuant to a compromise or arrangement between the
Company and its members.
(g) to a disposal of Ordinary Shares to the trustees of a settlement or trust set up for the sole beneﬁt
of the shareholder or any person a transfer to whom would not be prohibited by the agreement
provided that such trustee, before registration of any transfer of such shares to such new trustee,
executes an undertaking in relation to such shares in similar terms to that contained in this
agreement in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Company and Panmure Gordon.
(h) a disposal of Ordinary Shares to a company of which the shareholder holds the entire equity
share capital provided that, prior to such disposal, such company enters into an undertaking in
relation to such shares in the same form as that contained in this agreement and provided that
when such company ceases to be wholly owned, it shall transfer those Ordinary Shares back to
the relevant Lock-In Person.
(i) a disposal of Ordinary Shares to a nominee holding on his behalf or on behalf of his Connected
Person provided that prior to such disposal, such nominee enters into an undertaking in relation
to such shares in the same form as that contained in this agreement.
(j) a disposal of Ordinary Shares by the shareholder, being a holding company, to its wholly owned
subsidiary or by a shareholder, being a wholly owned subsidiary, to its holding company or any
other wholly owned subsidiary of that holding company provided that, prior to such disposal,
such company enters into an undertaking in relation to such shares in the same form as that
contained in this agreement and provided that when such nominee ceases to be a nominee, the
nominee shall transfer the Ordinary Shares back to the relevant Lock-In Person.
12.5

An agreement dated 27 October 2006 between the Company, Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd. (the
‘‘Bank’’) and Panmure Gordon, pursuant to which the Bank have undertaken to Panmure Gordon
and to the Company not to dispose of any of the Ordinary Shares in which they are interested at
Admission, or which they subsequently acquire by way of, for example, a rights issue or exercise of
warrants, (subject to certain limited exceptions) within twelve months of Admission without
Panmure Gordon’s prior consent (while it remains appointed the nominated adviser and/or
nominated broker to the Company) or the consent of such other nominated adviser and broker
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engaged by the Company (‘‘Nominated Broker’’). In respect of one third of the Ordinary Shares
held by the Bank on Admission, this restriction shall expire 180 days after Admission.
In the event that the Nominated Broker gives consent to any Lock In Person to transfer Ordinary
Shares, where such consent is given for reasons other than those which are speciﬁc to that Lock In
Person (the ‘‘Consentee’’), then the Company shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that
such consent is also given to the Bank. for the same proportion of Ordinary Shares held by the Bank
as the proportion of the total number of Ordinary Shares held by the Consentee in respect of which
such written consent was given.
The transfer restrictions referred to above identical to those contained in the Lock In Deed and set
out at paragraph 12.4 above.
12.6

On 30 June 2006, the Company entered into a loan agreement with the Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd.
(formerly known as the United Mizrahi Bank Ltd.) (the ‘‘Bank’’) for a loan of $200,000 (the
‘‘Loan’’). The Loan accrues interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 0.5 per cent. per annum. The amount
of $3,166.01 is required to be repaid on 3 October 2006 and a further amount of $203,032.70 is
required to be repaid on 2 January 2007. The Loan is secured by a back-to-back deposit of Samurai
Investments Ltd. (‘‘Samurai’’)*, one of the Company’s shareholders, which serves as guarantee for
the Loan. Samurai cannot withdraw the monies deposited as guarantee to the Loan before the Loan
is repaid by the Company. The current balance of the loan as at 30 September 2006 is $201,083. The
Company intends to release Samurai from this guarantee following Admission.

12.7

On 29 August 2006, the Company entered into a credit allocation agreement with the Mizrahi
Tefahot Bank Ltd. (the ‘‘Bank’’) for a credit facility with a total credit line of US$1,000,000 (the
‘‘Credit Facility’’). The Credit Facility accrues interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 2.75 per cent. and is
repayable on 29 August 2007. As security for the Credit Facility, the Company granted in favour of
the Bank a ﬂoating charge over all of the Company’s assets, including all existing and future
receivables from clients, and assignment of the right to receive such receivables, and a ﬁxed charge
over the Company’s goodwill, intellectual property rights, insurance rights and monies.

12.8

The Company has also received the following loans from its shareholders which remain outstanding
as at 13 October 2006:
Loan amount
($)

Lender

C.T.V Capital Technologies Vision Limited
C.T.V Capital Technologies Vision Limited
CAP Ventures Ltd.
Amos Vizer
Amos Vizer
Ramy Weitz
Ramy Weitz
Packet Science Ltd.
G. Poran Holdings Ltd.
Braun Family Ventures Limited Partnership

24,552
24,552
47,503
79,400
40,040
79,400
40,040
362,500
312,500
312,500

Interest

LIBOR
LIBOR
LIBOR
LIBOR
LIBOR
LIBOR
LIBOR
0%
0%
0%

+4.5%
+4.5%
+4.5%
+4.5%
+0.5%
+4.5%
+0.5%

Total

Current
Balance
($)

38,680
38,680
75,000
126,665
54,544
126,665
54,544
362,500
312,500
312,500
1,502,278

On 30 June 2006 three of the shareholders (Braun Family Ventures Limited Partnership, Packet
Science Ltd. and G. Poran Holdings Ltd.) extended the term of their loans until 31 December 2007.
All other loans are now due and payable.
These loans will be repaid to the shareholders out of the proceeds of the Placing.
Note

Simi Efrati is a former director of the Company and is an indirect shareholder of Samurai Investments Ltd.. Simi and his
father (who is Chairman of Efrati Galili Lahat & Co., legal advisers to the Company as to Israeli law) hold shares in Samurai
Investments Ltd. through a company owned by them in equal shares. This company holds 19.3 per cent. of the outstanding
shares in Samurai Investments Ltd.. On a fully diluted basis (assuming all the exercise of all options held by Simi and the
Samurai Investments Ltd. shareholders), this company holds 17.7 per cent. of Samurai Investments Ltd. and Simi personally
holds 4.7 per cent..
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12.9

The Company has entered into a consulting agreement with Ramy Weitz dated 27 September 2006
pursuant to which Mr. Weitz receives a fee of $122,520 (approximately £66,200) per annum in
consideration for an average of 50 hours consulting services per month. The agreement may be
terminated by either party on at least 6 months written notice. In addition, pursuant to this
agreement and conditional on Admission, Mr. Weitz will also receive options to purchase 50,000
Ordinary Shares of the Company at the Placing Price vested 12 months following Admission or
termination of the agreement by the Company not for cause.

12.10

The Company has entered into a consulting agreement with Simi Efrati dated 27 September 2006
pursuant to which Mr. Efrati receives a fee of $122,520 (approximately £66,200) per annum in
consideration for an average of 50 hours consulting services per month. The agreement may be
terminated by either party on at least 6 months written notice. In addition, pursuant to this
agreement and conditional on Admission, Mr. Efrati will also receive options to purchase 50,000
Ordinary Shares of the Company at the Placing Price vested 12 months following Admission or
termination of the agreement by the Company not for cause.

12.11

SimiGon has been granted the status of an ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’, for an original programme and
an additional expansion programme, under the law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments,
1959 (‘‘the Law’’). The Law for Encouragement of Capital Investments provides that a capital
investment in eligible facilities may, upon applications to the Israel Investment Centre, be
designated as an Approved Enterprise. Each certiﬁcate of approval for an Approved Enterprise
relates to a speciﬁc investment programme delineated in its ﬁnancial scope, including its capital
sources and its physical characteristics such as the equipment to be purchased and utilised pursuant
to the programme. The tax beneﬁts derived from any such certiﬁcate of approval relate only to
taxable income attributable to the speciﬁc Approved Enterprise.
According to the provisions of the Law, SimiGon has elected to enjoy the ‘‘alternative beneﬁts
track’’; a waiver of grants in return for tax holidays. The ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’ status will allow
SimiGon a tax holiday on undistributed income derived from the ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’
programme. The income derived from this ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’ will be tax-exempt for a period
of two years, and will enjoy a reduced tax rate thereafter of 10 per cent. to 25 per cent. for an
additional ﬁve years. The seven-year period of beneﬁts will commence with the ﬁrst year in which
SimiGon Ltd. earns taxable income.
The Company completed the implementation of its ﬁrst programme during 2004. Further to this
programme, an investment of $691,000 was approved for the production of simulation and
communication software.
In July 2004, an additional programme was approved. Further to this programme, an investment of
$121,000 was approved for developing of training, simulation and debriefs software training
programme. The programme has not yet been completed.
The timetable for the performance of the plan is until August 2007.
The period of tax beneﬁts, detailed above, is subject to limits of the earlier of 12 years from the
commencement of production, or 14 years from receiving the approval. The period of beneﬁts has
not yet commenced, and will expire in the year 2014.
The entitlement to the above beneﬁts is conditional upon the Company’s fulﬁlling the conditions
stipulated by the above Law. In the event of failure to comply with these conditions, the beneﬁts may
be cancelled and the Company may be required to refund the amount of the beneﬁts, in whole or
in part, with the addition of the Israeli consumer price index linkage differentials and interest.
Should the Company derive income from sources other than the ‘‘Approved Enterprise’’ during the
period of beneﬁts, such income shall be taxable at the regular corporate tax rate. The ‘‘Approved
Enterprise’’ income includes income from the marketing of new products and technologies
developed by the Company, even if they were not speciﬁcally mentioned at the start of the
programme.
If the retained tax-exempt income is distributed in a manner other than in the complete liquidation
of the Company, it would be taxed at the corporate tax rate applicable to such proﬁts as if the
Company had not elected the alternative tax beneﬁts.
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12.12

The Company has agreed to indemnify each of the Directors to the maximum amount permitted by
law in respect of any act or omissions by the Director in his capacity as a director or employee for
(a) any ﬁnancial obligations to third parties imposed by a court judgment, settlement of a claim or
court approved arbitrator’s award; (b) all reasonable legal fees in respect of proceedings brought
under (a) provided that the Director is found not to be culpable; (c) all reasonable legal expenses
incurred as a result of a claim brought against the Director by or on behalf of the Company in which
the director is found not to be culpable; and (d) any liability for damages arising out of the breach
of the Director’s duty of care, provided that the Director has not breached his ﬁduciary duty to the
company, has not acted in an intentionally or recklessly negligent manner or has acted unlawfully.
This indemnity will survive the termination of the Director’s employment. The maximum amount
that the Director may claim in respect of a single event or series of connected events shall not exceed
the higher of $2,000,000 or the maximum coverage available under the Company’s insurance policy.
The Company will have conduct of any claim in respect of which the Director makes a claim under
the indemnity.

13

Intellectual Property Rights

13.1

The Company uses trademarks and conﬁdential information in carrying on its business and licences
intellectual property required for its business from time to time.

13.2

Trademarks
The Company has registered the following registered trademarks which are of material importance
to its business:
Trademark Name

Country of Registration

Date of Registration

AirBook
AirBook
AirBook
AirBook
KnowBook
SimiGon

Israel
U.S.A.
European Community Trademark
Turkey
U.S.A.
U.S.A.

7 November 2000
6 August 2002
9 June 2002
13 October 1999
1 July 2003
1 July 2003

The Company is also in the process of registering ‘‘SimBox’’ as a trademark in the U.S.A. and in the
European Community.
13.3

Patent Applications
The Company ﬁled a provisional patent application with the United States Patent and Trademark
Ofﬁce (application 60/216,377) on 5 July 2000 and a US patent application, claiming priority over the
provisional patent application, on 5 July 2001. The rights to this invention were assigned to the
Company by Ami Vizer at the time of application. In June 2003 the application was abandoned.
However, the Company is currently attempting to revive the patent application.

13.4

Copyright
The Company intends to register the copyright in relation to all its software in the USA as soon as
practicable.

14

Litigation
Save as otherwise disclosed in this document, there have been no governmental, legal or arbitration
proceedings in the twelve months prior to the date of this document (including any such proceedings
which are pending or threatened of which the Company is aware) which may have or have had in
the recent past a signiﬁcant effect on the Company, its ﬁnancial position or proﬁtability.

15

Working Capital
The Directors, having made due and careful enquiry and having regard to the net proceeds of the
Placing, are of the opinion that the working capital available to the Company upon Admission, will
be sufﬁcient for its present requirements, that is for at least twelve months from the date of
Admission.
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16

Summary of law in the State of Israel
The following is a summary of certain provisions of Israeli corporate law relevant to the Company’s
management and corporate regulations. It should not be regarded as comprehensive.

16.1

16.2

Audit committee and internal auditor
16.1.1

Under the Companies Law, the board of directors of a public company must appoint an
audit committee, comprised of at least three directors, including all of the external
(independent) directors of the company. The audit committee may not include the chairman
of the board of directors, any controlling shareholder or a relative of a controlling
shareholder and any director employed by the company or who provides services to the
company on a regular basis. The role of the audit committee is to examine deﬁciencies in
the management of the company’s business, including in consultation with the internal
auditor and the company’s independent accountants and to recommend remedial action. In
addition, the approval of the audit committee is required to effect certain related-party
transactions.

16.1.2

Under the Companies Law, the board of directors of a public company must also appoint
an internal auditor proposed by the audit committee. The role of the internal auditor is to
examine whether such public company’s actions comply with the law and proper business
procedure. The internal auditor may not be an interested party or ofﬁce holder, or a relative
of any interested party or ofﬁce holder, nor a member or representative of the company’s
independent accounting ﬁrm. The Companies Law deﬁnes the term ‘‘interested party’’ to
include a person who holds 5 per cent. or more of the company’s outstanding share capital
or voting rights, any person or entity who has the right to appoint one or more directors or
the general manager of the company, or any person who serves as a director or as the
general manager. The Company intends to appoint an internal auditor following Admission.

External (independent) directors
16.2.1

Under the Companies Law, public companies are required to appoint at least two external
(independent) directors within 3 months of Admission.

16.2.2

Under the Companies Law:
•

an external director must either be professionally eligible or have relevant accounting
and ﬁnancial expertise, but at least one of the external directors must have relevant
accounting and ﬁnancial expertise.

•

A director with accounting and ﬁnancial expertise is a director who, due to his
education, experience and skills, possesses capabilities relating to and an understanding
of business and accounting matters and ﬁnancial statements, which enable him to
understand in depth the company’s ﬁnancial statements and to initiate a debate
regarding the manner in which the company’s ﬁnancial information is presented.

•

A director who meets certain professional qualiﬁcations is a director who satisﬁes one
of the following requirements: (i) the director holds an academic degree in either
economics, business administration, accounting, law or public administration, (ii) the
director either holds another academic degree or has obtained other high education in
the company’s primary ﬁeld of business or in an area that is relevant to his position, and
(iii) the director has at least ﬁve (5) years of experience serving in one of the following
capacities or an aggregate of at least ﬁve (5) years of experience in two or more of the
following capacities: (a) a senior business management position of a company with a
substantial scope of business, (b) a senior position in the primary ﬁeld of business of the
company or (c) a senior public administration position.

•

The board of directors should determine the minimum number of directors having
ﬁnancial and accounting expertise, in addition to the external director, and in making
the determination as to a director’s accounting and ﬁnancial expertise, the board of
directors is required to consider, among other things, the education, experience and
knowledge of such person with respect to (i) accounting and internal controls matters
that are typical to the industry in which the company engages and to companies of
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similar size and complexity to those of the company, (ii) the responsibilities of the
company’s auditor and (iii) the preparation and approval of ﬁnancial statements under
the Companies Law and the relevant Israeli securities law.
16.2.3

The Companies Law provides that a person may not be appointed as an external
(independent) director of a company if the person or the person’s relative, partner,
employer or any entity under the person’s control has, as of the date of the person’s
appointment to serve as an external (independent) director, or has had, during the two years
preceding that date, any afﬁliation with the company, any entity controlling the company or
any entity controlled by the company or by its controlling entity.

16.2.4

The term ‘‘afﬁliation’’ includes an employment relationship, a regular business or professional
relationship, control and service as an ofﬁce holder, excluding service as a director in a
private company prior to the ﬁrst offering of its shares if such a director was appointed as
a director of a private company in order to serve as an external director following the initial
public offering. The Companies Law deﬁnes the term ‘‘ofﬁce holder’’ of a company to
include a director, the chief executive ofﬁcer, the chief business manager, a vice president,
any other manager directly subordinated to the chief executive ofﬁcer and any other person
assuming the responsibilities of any of the foregoing positions regardless of such person’s
title.

16.2.5

No person can serve as an external (independent) director if the person’s position or other
business activities creates or may create conﬂicts of interest with the person’s activities as an
external (independent) director or may otherwise interfere with the person’s ability to serve
as an external (independent) director. If at the time when an external director is appointed
all members of the board are of the same gender, then the external director to be appointed
must be of the opposite gender. Until the expiry of two years from termination of ofﬁce, a
company may not engage an external (independent) director to serve as an ofﬁce holder and
cannot employ or receive services from that person, either directly or indirectly, including
through a corporation controlled by that person.

16.2.6

External (independent) directors must be appointed by a majority vote at a shareholders’
meeting. Of the shares voted for the appointment, either:
(a) at least one third of the shares of non-controlling shareholders voted at the meeting; or
(b) the total number of shares of non-controlling shareholders voted against the appointment
does not exceed one per cent. of the aggregate voting rights in the company.

16.2.7

If, at the time of appointment of an external director, all of the members of the board of
directors are of one gender, the appointed external director must be of the other gender.

16.2.8

The initial term of an external (independent) director is three years and this may be
extended for one additional three-year term. External (independent) directors may be
removed from ofﬁce only by the same percentage of shareholders as is required for their
election, or by a court, and then only if the external (independent) directors are unable to
fulﬁll their functions orderly, during the term of directorship they are convicted by a
non-Israeli court of bribery, deceit, an offence of a manager of a corporate body or an
offence involving the use of inside information, if they cease to meet the statutory
qualiﬁcations for their appointment or if they violate their duty of loyalty to the company.
In the event of a vacancy created by an external director, the company’s board is required
under Companies Law to call a shareholders’ meeting to appoint a new external director.
Each committee of a company’s board of directors that has a power of the board is required
to include at least one external (independent) director, except for the audit committee,
which is required to include all the external (independent) directors. External directors may
be compensated only in accordance with regulations adopted under the Companies Law.
Compensation of an external director must be determined prior to the person’s consent to
serve as an external director. Compensation of all directors requires the approval of the
Company’s audit committee, board of directors and shareholders, in that order.
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16.3

Fiduciary Duties of Ofﬁce Holders
16.3.1

The Companies Law imposes a duty of care and a duty of loyalty on all ofﬁce holders of a
company. The duty of care requires an ofﬁce holder to act with the level of care with which
a reasonable ofﬁce holder in the same position would act under the same circumstances.

16.3.2

The duty of care of an ofﬁce holder includes a duty to use reasonable means to obtain:
(a) information on the advisability of a given action brought for his or her approval or
performed by him by virtue of his position; and
(b) all other important information pertaining to these actions.

16.3.3

The duty of loyalty of an ofﬁce holder generally requires an ofﬁce holder to act in good faith
and for the beneﬁt of the company. It includes a duty to:
(a) refrain from any conﬂict of interest between the performance of his duties in the
company and the performance of his other duties or his personal affairs;
(b) refrain from any activity that is competitive with the company;
(c) refrain from exploiting any business opportunity of the company to receive a personal
gain for himself or others; and
(d) reveal to the company any information or documents relating to a company’s affairs
which the ofﬁce holder has received due to his position as an ofﬁce holder.

16.3.4

Under the Companies Law, the approval of the board of directors (and in certain cases also
the audit committee) is required for all compensation arrangements of ofﬁce holders who
are not directors. However, the articles of association of a company may provide an
alternative method of approval.

16.3.5

The Companies Law requires that an ofﬁce holder of a company discloses to the company
promptly and in any event no later than the meeting of the board of directors meeting at
which the transaction is ﬁrst discussed, any personal interest that he may have and all
related material information known to him, in connection with any existing or proposed
transaction by the company. A personal interest of an ofﬁce holder includes an interest of
another company where he holds a direct or indirect interest of 5 per cent. or more in that
company or where he was a director or general manager of the company or where he had
the right to appoint at least one director or the general manager of the company. In the case
of an extraordinary transaction, the ofﬁce holder’s duty to disclose applies also to a personal
interest of the ofﬁce holder’s relative, deﬁned in the Companies Law as the person’s spouse,
siblings, parents, grandparents, descendants, spouse’s descendants and the spouses of any of
the foregoing.

16.3.6

Under the Companies Law, an extraordinary transaction is a transaction:
(a) other than in the ordinary course of business;
(b) otherwise than on market terms; or
(c) that is likely to have a material impact on the company’s proﬁtability, assets or liabilities.

16.3.7

Under the Companies Law, once an ofﬁce holder complies with the above disclosure
requirements, the board of directors may approve a transaction between the company and
an ofﬁce holder, or a third party in which an ofﬁce holder has a personal interest unless the
transaction is an extraordinary transaction or the articles of association provide otherwise.
A transaction that is contrary to the company’s interests may not be approved.

16.3.8

If the transaction is an extraordinary transaction or it concerns exculpation, indemniﬁcation
or insurance of an ofﬁce holder then, in addition to any approval stipulated by the articles
of association, the approval of both the audit committee and the board of directors is
required. In speciﬁc circumstances, shareholder approval may also be required. A director
who has a personal interest in an extraordinary transaction which is considered at a meeting
of the board of directors or the audit committee generally may not be present at this
meeting or vote on this matter, unless a majority of members of the board of directors or

82

PART VI — ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
the audit committee, as the case may be, has a personal interest. If a majority of the
members of the board of directors has a personal interest, shareholder approval is also
required.
16.4

Duties of Shareholders
16.4.1

Under the Companies Law, each shareholder has a duty to act in good faith and in a
customary manner in exercising his rights and fulﬁlling his obligations towards the company
and other shareholders and to refrain from abusing his power in the company, such as in
shareholder votes on the following matters: (i) any alteration of the articles; (ii) an increase
of the company’s registered share capital; (iii) a merger; or (iv) approval of certain actions
and transactions that require shareholder approval. Each shareholder also has the general
duty to refrain from depriving other shareholders of their rights.

16.4.2

In addition, speciﬁed shareholders have a duty of fairness towards the company. These
shareholders include any controlling shareholder, any shareholder who knows that it
possesses the power to determine the outcome of a shareholder vote in a general meeting
or in a class meeting and any shareholder who, pursuant to the provisions of the articles of
association, has the power to appoint or to prevent the appointment of an ofﬁce holder or
any other power with respect to the company. The Companies Law, however, does not
deﬁne the substance of this duty of fairness and the breach of such duty is governed by
Israeli contract law.

16.4.3

Under the Companies Law, the disclosure requirements that apply to an ofﬁce holder
(described in paragraph 16.3 above) also apply to a controlling shareholder of a public
company. A controlling shareholder, for this purpose, is a shareholder who has the ability
to direct the activities of a company, including a shareholder that holds 25 per cent. or more
of the voting rights of the company where no other shareholder holds more than 50 per cent.
of the voting rights, but excluding a shareholder whose power derives solely from his or her
position on the board of directors or any other position within the company.

16.4.4

Extraordinary transactions with a controlling shareholder of a public company or with
another person in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest, including a
private placement in which the controlling shareholder has a personal interest and the
engagement of a controlling shareholder or his relative as an ofﬁce holder or employee,
require the approval of the audit committee, the board of directors and the shareholders of
the company, in that order. The shareholder approval must be by a majority vote, provided
that either:
(a) the majority of shares voted for the election includes at least one third of the shares of
non-interested shareholders voted at the meeting; or
(b) the total number of shares of non-interested shareholders voted against the matter does
not exceed 1 per cent. of the aggregate voting rights in the company.

16.5

Anti-Takeover Provisions; Mergers and Acquisitions
16.5.1

The Companies Law permits merger transactions, provided that each party to the
transaction obtains the approval of its board of directors and shareholders, excluding
certain merger transactions which do not require the approval of the shareholders, as set
forth in the Companies Law. For the purposes of the shareholder vote of each party, unless
a court rules otherwise, the merger will not be deemed approved if a majority of the shares
not held by the other party, or by any person who holds 25 per cent. or more of the shares
or the right to appoint 25 per cent. or more of the directors of the other party, has voted
against the merger. Under the Companies Law, a merging company must inform its material
creditors of the proposed merger. Upon the request of a creditor of either party to the
proposed merger, the court may delay or prevent the merger if it concludes that there exists
a reasonable concern that as a result of the merger the surviving company will be unable to
satisfy the obligations of that party. Finally, a merger may not be completed unless at least
50 days have passed from the time that the requisite proposals for approval of the merger
have been ﬁled with the Israeli Registrar of Companies and at least 30 days have passed
from the shareholders’ approval of each of the merging companies.
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16.5.2

In addition, the provisions of the Companies Law that deal with ‘‘arrangements’’ between
a company and its shareholders may be used to effect squeeze-out transactions in which the
target company becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of the acquirer. These provisions
generally require that the merger be approved by a majority of the participating shareholders
holding at least 75 per cent. of the shares voted on the matter. In addition to shareholder
approval, court approval of the transaction is required.

16.5.3

The Companies Law also requires that an acquisition of shares in a public company be made
by means of a tender offer if, as a result of the acquisition, a person would become a holder
of 25 per cent. or more of the company, unless there is already another holder of 25 per cent.
of the company. Similarly, the Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares in a
public company must be made by means of a tender offer if as a result of the acquisition the
purchaser would become a holder of 45 per cent. or more of the voting rights of the
company, unless there is already another holder of more than 45 per cent. of the voting
rights of the company. This requirement does not apply if:
(a) the acquisition is made pursuant to a private offer that was approved by the
shareholders as a private offer that is intended to grant the purchaser more than 25 per
cent. of the voting rights of a company in which no shareholder holds more than 25 per
cent. of the voting rights or to grant the purchaser more than 45 per cent. of the voting
rights of a company in which no shareholder holds more than 45 per cent. of the voting
rights;
(b) the purchaser would hold more than 25 per cent. after purchasing shares from a person
that held more than 25 per cent. of the voting rights; or
(c) the purchaser would hold more than 45 per cent. of the voting rights after purchasing
shares from a person that held more than 45 per cent. of the voting rights.

16.6

16.5.4

The tender offer must be extended to all shareholders, but the offeror is not required to
purchase more than 5 per cent. of the company’s outstanding shares, regardless of the level
of acceptances. The tender offer may be completed only if: (i) at least 5 per cent. of the
company’s outstanding shares will be acquired by the offerer; and (ii) the number of shares
in respect of which acceptances have been given in the offer exceeds the number of shares
whose holders objected to the offer.

16.5.5

Shares that are acquired in violation of this requirement to make a tender offer will be
deemed ‘‘dormant shares’’ and will have no rights whatsoever for so long as they are held
by the acquirer.

16.5.6

If as a result of an acquisition of shares the acquirer will hold more than 90 per cent. of a
company’s outstanding shares, the Companies Law requires that the acquisition be made by
means of a tender offer for all of the outstanding shares. If acceptances are not received in
respect of less than 5 per cent. of the outstanding shares in the tender offer, all the shares
that the acquirer offered to purchase will be transferred to it. The law provides for rights of
objection if any shareholder ﬁles a request in court within 3 months following the
completion of a full tender offer. If acceptances are not received in respect of more than 5
per cent. of the outstanding shares in the tender offer, then the acquirer may not acquire
such shares in the tender offer that will cause his shareholding to exceed 90 per cent. of the
outstanding shares.

Dividends and distribution
16.6.1

The Companies Law provides that distributions may be paid out of a company’s proﬁts,
provided that there is no reasonable concern that the distribution will prevent the company
from meeting its existing and foreseeable obligations as they become due. ‘‘Proﬁts’’ for this
purpose is deﬁned as the greater of a company’s surplus balance and surplus that
accumulated for the two previous years.

16.6.2

If a company does not have sufﬁcient proﬁts, then permission to effect a distribution can be
granted by order of an Israeli court. Prior to granting such an order, the company is required
to give notice of the proposed distribution to its creditors, who are entitled to ﬁle objections
with the court. In any event, a distribution is permitted only if there is no reasonable
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concern that the distribution will prevent the company from satisfying its existing and
foreseeable obligations as they become due.
16.6.3
16.7

17

A repurchase by a company of its own shares is generally also considered as a distribution.

Exculpation, Insurance and Indemniﬁcation of Ofﬁce Holders
16.7.1

The Companies Law allows a company to provide for exculpation or indemniﬁcation of, or
insurance coverage for, its ofﬁce holders, as detailed below, provided that: (i) the articles of
association permit the company to do so; and (ii) it has been approved by the company’s
audit committee and board of directors and, if the beneﬁciary is a director, also by the
general meeting subject to certain terms speciﬁed below.

16.7.2

A company may not exempt an ofﬁce holder from: (i) liability with respect to a breach of
his duty of loyalty (but may exempt in advance an ofﬁce holder from his liability to the
company, in whole or in part, with respect to a breach of his duty of care); and (ii) liability
with respect to his duty of care with respect to the distribution of dividends.

16.7.3

A company may enter into a contract for the insurance of the liability of any of its ofﬁce
holders with respect to an act performed in his capacity of an ofﬁce holder for: (i) a breach
of his duty of care to the company or to another person; (ii) a breach of his duty of loyalty
to the company, provided that the ofﬁce holder acted in good faith and had reasonable cause
to assume that his act would not prejudice the company’s interests; and (iii) a monetary
liability imposed upon him in favour of another person in the performance of his duties as
an ofﬁce holder.

16.7.4

A company may indemnify an ofﬁce holder with respect to an act performed in his capacity
as an ofﬁce holder against liabilities as set out in paragraph 6.18 of this Part VI.

16.7.5

A company may also grant in advance, as long as such is permitted by that company’s
articles of association, an undertaking to indemnify an ofﬁce holder, provided that in respect
of a monetary liability incurred pursuant to a judgement as mentioned above, the
undertaking is limited to types of events which the board of directors deems to be
foreseeable at the time of the undertaking and is limited to an amount determined by the
board of directors to be reasonable under the circumstances.

16.7.6

The Companies Law provides that a company may not exculpate or indemnify an ofﬁce
holder nor enter into an insurance contract which would provide coverage for any monetary
liability incurred as a result of any of the following: (i) a breach by the ofﬁce holder of his
duty of loyalty, unless, with respect to indemniﬁcation and insurance coverage, the ofﬁce
holder acted in good faith and had a reasonable basis to believe that the act would not
prejudice the company; (ii) a breach by the ofﬁce holder of his duty of care if the breach was
done intentionally or recklessly unless such breach was negligent only; (iii) any act or
omission done with the intent to derive an unlawful personal beneﬁt; or (iv) any ﬁne or
forfeit levied against the ofﬁce holder.

Taxation
The following is only a general guide to the main UK and Israeli tax consequences that will apply
to shareholders of the Company who hold their shares as investments and are UK tax resident
individuals or companies. It does not purport to be a comprehensive analysis of all the tax
consequences applicable to all types of shareholders of acquiring, holding or disposing of shares. If
you are in any doubt as to your own tax position or are resident or subject to tax in a jurisdiction
outside the UK, you should seek independent professional advice without delay.

17.1

Dividends
17.1.1

Dividends paid by the Company would normally be subject to the withholding of Israeli
income tax at source at the rate of 25 per cent. The UK:Israel Double Taxation Treaty (‘‘the
Treaty’’) provides for this withholding to be reduced to 15 per cent., subject to certain
conditions, of the gross dividend where the recipient is subject to tax on the dividends
received in the United Kingdom. This relief under the Treaty would not be available if the
shareholder had a permanent establishment in Israel and the shares held are effectively

85

PART VI — ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
connected with the business or trade of that permanent establishment. Application of the
reduced rate of withholding tax under the Treaty can be agreed in advance between the
Company and the Israeli tax authorities and a Shareholder would need to conﬁrm their tax
residence in order to beneﬁt from the reduced rates of withholding under the Treaty.

17.2

17.1.2

The Company will not be obliged to make any withholding on account of UK tax on
payment of any dividends. UK tax resident individual shareholders who are domiciled in the
UK will be liable to UK tax on the gross dividend paid by the Company. However, relief
may be available for the Israeli withholding tax, provided that the relief cannot exceed the
amount of UK tax payable on the dividend. UK resident individual shareholders who are
not domiciled within the UK will generally be subject to UK income tax on the dividend
receipt only if the dividend is remitted to the UK. In such a case, it should be noted that
advantage can only be taken of the reduced rate of withholding tax under the Treaty if the
dividends are subject to UK tax and the recipient qualiﬁes as a resident under the Treaty.

17.1.3

UK resident companies will, where double tax relief is claimed, be liable to UK corporation
tax on the gross dividend paid by the Company at 30 per cent., subject to credit for Israeli
withholding tax deducted at source and availability of the small companies’ relief. The
credit given in the UK for Israeli tax suffered on the dividend cannot exceed the UK
corporation tax liability on the dividend.

17.1.4

A UK resident company may also seek relief for the underlying tax (tax borne by the
Company and its subsidiaries on the proﬁts out of which the dividend is paid) associated
with the dividend where the UK company owns 10 per cent. or more of the voting rights in
the Israeli company. Tax sparing relief may apply to increase the amount of underlying tax
available for credit against UK tax, subject to the speciﬁc provisions in the Treaty.

17.1.5

As the credit given for Israeli tax suffered on the dividend cannot exceed the UK
corporation tax liability on the dividend, a UK company may, subject to satisfying the
provisions within the UK tax laws, be entitled to claim credit for any excess unrelieved
Israeli tax (both withholding, and where available, underlying tax) against dividends
received from other sources.

17.1.6

For both individuals and companies having insufﬁcient taxable income to give rise to a UK
tax charge on which relief may be obtained for the withholding tax deducted under Israeli
law, the taxpayer can elect to treat the Israeli withholding tax as an expense to be deducted
from the gross dividend so that the taxable amount is reduced to the amount of the dividend
net of withholding tax.

Capital gains tax
17.2.1

An individual, who is resident and ordinarily resident and domiciled in the UK shall be
liable to capital gains tax where a gain arises on the disposal of chargeable assets situated
anywhere in the world (including shares in the Company held as an investment) subject to
the application of relevant reliefs and exemptions. Capital gains tax is charged at the rate
equivalent to the rate of income tax applied to an individual’s top slice of income. Taper
relief may be available to reduce the amount of any gain arising based upon the taper relief
rules within the capital gains tax legislation. Shares traded on AIM are treated as ‘‘unlisted’’
for the purposes of capital gains tax taper relief and consequently the shares in the
Company may qualify as ‘‘business assets’’ in the hands of individual shareholders. A
company resident in the UK for corporation tax purposes will be liable for corporation tax
in respect of a gain on the disposal of shares in the company subject to the availability of
an allowance for inﬂation and the substantial shareholdings exemption.
An individual shareholder who is resident or ordinarily resident in the UK but not
domiciled in the UK, and whose shares are not situated in the UK will be liable to UK
capital gains tax only to the extent that chargeable gains made on the disposal of shares are
remitted or deemed to be remitted to the UK. As the Company’s principal share register is
situated in Israel, the shares are considered to be located abroad for capital gains tax
purposes, but dealings in the shares on AIM may give rise to remitted proﬁts which would
therefore be taxable.
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17.3

17.2.2

Under Israeli law, as of 1 January 2006 foreign residents are generally liable to Israeli
taxation on capital gains derived from an Israeli source at the rate of 20 per cent. The sale
of shares (or rights to shares) in the Company would be considered as arising from an Israeli
source and be subject to Israeli taxation at the rate of 20 per cent. If such shareholders are
considered ‘‘material shareholders’’ at any time during the 12 month period preceding such
sale, i.e. such shareholder holds directly or indirectly including with others, at least
10 per cent. of any means of control in the Company the tax rate shall be 25 per cent.
However, according to current Israeli regulations, shareholders resident outside Israel are
exempt from Israeli capital gains tax on the sale of shares of an Israeli resident company
listed on a stock exchange (as deﬁned in the law, including AIM) provided such gains are
not attributable to a permanent establishment of the shareholder in Israel. In addition
shareholders who acquired their shares prior to an initial public offering are not entitled to
such exemption. Under Israeli law, UK resident companies will not be entitled to such
exemption if an Israeli resident: (i) has a controlling interest of 25 per cent. or more in such
UK resident company; or (ii) is the beneﬁciary of or is entitled to 25 per cent. or more of
the revenues or proﬁts of such UK resident company, whether directly or indirectly.

17.2.3

In any event, UK residents disposing of shares in the Company could rely on the Treaty
which exempts UK shareholders from Israeli tax on capital gains where the capital gains are
subject to tax in the UK and are not attributable to a permanent establishment of the
shareholder in Israel. However, where shares in the Company are, for example, held by a
UK company that qualiﬁes for the substantial shareholding exemption from corporation tax
on the disposal of shares, it is unlikely that the Israeli Tax Authorities will accept that the
beneﬁts of the Treaty apply as the capital gain would not be subject to UK tax. Therefore
the exemption contained within the Israeli domestic regulations may be the only protection
available from Israeli taxation.

Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax
The following comments are intended as a guide to the general Israeli and UK stamp duty and stamp
duty reserve tax position and do not relate to persons such as market makers, brokers, dealers
intermediaries and persons connected with voluntary arrangements or clearing services for whom
special rules apply.
17.3.1

The Company has established a Jersey branch register. No charge to UK stamp duty reserve
tax should arise on an agreement to transfer the Ordinary Shares provided that the
Ordinary Shares are not registered in any register kept in the UK by or on behalf of the
Company. Stamp duty will be payable at the rate of 0.5 per cent (rounded up to the nearest
£5) on the consideration paid on a sale of Ordinary Shares if the instrument of transfer is
executed or there is any matter or thing done or to be done in the UK.

17.3.2

UK stamp duty at a ﬁxed rate of £5 per transfer will be payable where an investor wishes
to deposit the Ordinary Shares with the Registrar in order that Depository Interests will be
issued under the depositary interest arrangements outlined in paragraph 18 of this Part VI.

17.3.3

UK stamp duty reserve tax at 0.5 per cent. of the purchase price will be chargeable in
respect of an agreement to sell depository interests representing the Ordinary Shares.
Where a stamp duty reserve tax charge arises, payment of stamp duty within six years of the
date of an agreement on a transfer executed pursuant to the agreement will generally cancel
this charge to stamp duty reserve tax.

17.3.4

Since January 2006, there is no stamp duty in Israel on issuance or transfer of shares.

17.3.5

There is generally no liability to UK stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax on the issue of
Ordinary Shares or Depositary Interests.

18

Settlement

18.1

Introduction
18.1.1

The Ordinary Shares (including the Placing Shares) are in registered and certiﬁcated form.
Dealings in the Ordinary Shares will be effected through depositary interests, as further
described below.
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18.2

18.1.2

The register of members of the Company will be kept by the Company at its registered
ofﬁce. The Company has established a Jersey branch register at Ordnance House, 31 Pier
Road, St Helier, Jersey and at all times the branch register will be kept in Jersey. A register
of depositary interests will be kept by the Registrar at P.O. Box 82, The Pavillions,
Bridgewater Road, Bristol BS99 7NH.

18.1.3

CREST is a paperless settlement system allowing securities to be transferred from one
person’s CREST account to another without the need to use share certiﬁcates or written
instruments of transfer. Securities issued by non-UK registered companies, such as the
Company, cannot be held or transferred in the CREST system. However, to enable
investors to settle such securities through the CREST system, a depositary or custodian can
hold the relevant securities and issue dematerialised depositary interests (‘‘DIs’’) representing
the underlying securities which are held on trust for the holders of the DIs.

18.1.4

With effect from Admission, it will be possible for CREST members to hold and transfer
interests in Ordinary Shares within CREST pursuant to a depositary interest arrangement
established by the Company. CREST is a voluntary system and holders of Ordinary Shares
who wish to receive and retain share certiﬁcates will also be able to do so.

18.1.5

The Ordinary Shares will not themselves be admitted to CREST. Instead, the Registrar,
acting as depositary, will issue DIs in respect of the underlying Ordinary Shares. The DIs
will be independent securities constituted under English law which may be held and
transferred through the CREST system. DIs will have the same international security
identiﬁcation number (ISIN) as the underlying Ordinary Shares and will not require a
separate listing on AIM. The DIs will be created and issued pursuant to a deed poll (the
‘‘Deed Poll’’) entered into by the Registrar, which will govern the relationship between the
Registrar, as depositary, and the holders of the DIs.

18.1.6

Application has been made for the DIs in respect of the underlying Ordinary Shares to be
admitted to CREST, with effect from Admission.

18.1.7

Holders of Ordinary Shares in certiﬁcated form who wish to hold DIs through the CREST
system may be able to do so and should contact the Registrar. A summary of the Deed Poll
is set out below.

Summary of the Deed Poll
18.2.1

As mentioned above, the DIs will be created pursuant to and issued on the terms of the
Deed Poll. The Deed Poll is executed by the Registrar, as depositary, in favour of the
holders of the DIs from time to time. Prospective holders of DIs should note that they will
have no rights against CRESTCo or its subsidiaries in respect of the underlying Ordinary
Shares or the DIs representing them.

18.2.2

Ordinary Shares will be transferred to an account of the Registrar or its nominated
custodian (the ‘‘Custodian’’) and the Registrar will issue DIs to participating members.

18.2.3

Each DI will be treated as one Ordinary Share for the purposes of determining, for
example, eligibility for any dividends. The Registrar will pass on to holders of DIs any stock
or cash beneﬁts received by it as holder of Ordinary Shares on trust for such DI holder. DI
holders will also be able to receive from the Registrar notices of meetings of holders of
Ordinary Shares and other information to make choices and elections issued by the
Company to its shareholders.

18.2.4

The Deed Poll contains, inter alia, provisions to the following effect:
(a) The Registrar will hold (itself or through the Custodian), as bare trustee, the underlying
securities issued by the Company and all and any rights and other securities, property
and cash attributable to the underlying securities pertaining to the DIs for the beneﬁt
of the holders of the DIs. The Registrar will re-allocate securities or distributions
allocated to the Registrar or the Custodian pro rata to the Ordinary Shares held for the
respective accounts of the holders of DIs but will not be required to account for
fractional entitlements arising from such re-allocation. Holders of DIs warrant, inter
alia, that the securities in the Company transferred or issued to the Registrar or
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Custodian on behalf of the Depositary/Custodian are free and clear of all liens, charges,
encumbrances or third party interests and that such transfers or issues are not in
contravention of the Company’s articles of association or any contractual obligation,
law or regulation.
(b) The Registrar and any Custodian shall pass on to DI holders, as so far as it is reasonably
able, all rights and entitlements received by the Registrar or the Custodian in respect of
the underlying securities. Rights and entitlements to cash distributions, to information,
to make choices and elections and to attend and vote at meetings shall, subject to the
Deed Poll, be passed on in the form which they are received together with amendments
and additional documentation necessary to effect such passing-on. If arrangements are
made which allow a holder to take up rights in the Company’s securities requiring
further payment, the holder must put the Registrar in cleared funds before the relevant
payment date or other date notiﬁed by the Registrar if it wishes the Registrar to
exercise such rights.
(c) The Registrar will be entitled to cancel DIs and treat the holders as having requested
a withdrawal of the underlying securities in certain circumstances including where a DI
holder fails to furnish to the Registrar such certiﬁcates or representations as to matters
of fact, including his identity, as the Registrar deems appropriate.
(d) The Deed Poll contains provisions excluding and limiting the Registrar’s liability. For
example, the Registrar shall not be liable to any DI holder or any other person for
liabilities in connection with the performance or non-performance of obligations under
the Deed Poll or otherwise except as may result from its negligence or wilful default or
fraud or that of any person for whom it is vicariously liable, provided that the Registrar
shall not be liable for the negligence, wilful default or fraud of any Custodian or agent
which is not a member of its group unless it has failed to exercise reasonable care in the
appointment and continued use of such Custodian or agent. Furthermore, the Registrar’s
liability to a holder of DIs will be limited to the lesser of (a) the value of the shares and
other deposited property properly attributable to the DIs to which the liability relates
and (b) that proportion of £5 million which corresponds to the proportion which the
amount the Registrar would otherwise be liable to pay to the DI holder bears to the
aggregate of the amounts the Registrar would otherwise be liable to pay to all such
holders in respect of the same act, omission or event or, if there are no such amounts,
£5 million.
(e) The Registrar is entitled to charge holders of DIs fees and expenses notiﬁed from time
to time for the provision of its services under the Deed Poll.
(f) The holders of DIs are required to agree and acknowledge with the Registrar that
stamp duty reserve tax may not be payable on agreements to transfer the DIs. It is the
responsibility of the holders of DIs to ensure that any DIs which the holder is proposing
to acquire or dispose of and which are identiﬁed by the CREST system as being exempt
from the charge to stamp duty reserve tax on their transfer are so exempt. The holder
is required to undertake to the Depository to notify CRESTCo and the Depository if
DIs which the holder is proposing to acquire or dispose of by means of the CREST
system and which are identiﬁed by the CREST system as being exempt from the duty
to charge to stamp duty reserve tax on their transfer are not so exempt. The holder is
also required to undertake to pay to CRESTCo any stamp duty reserve tax and any
interest, charges or penalties in relation to late or non-payment of stamp duty reserve
tax arising directly or indirectly from any agreement of the holder to acquire or dispose
of DIs or Ordinary Shares represented or to be represented by DIs which are not
exempt from the charge to stamp duty reserve tax on their transfer and to hold the
Depository harmless from any and all liabilities arising from or incurred in connection
therewith.
(g) Holders are required to acknowledge and agree with the Depository that the Depository
and the Custodian may hold DI holders’ money entitlements in client bank accounts
outside the UK on a pooled basis pending distribution and that such monies may not be
as protected as effectively as money held in a bank account in the UK and, in particular,
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that the relevant bank may be entitled to combine funds held in a client bank account
with any other account of the Depository or the Custodian or to exercise any right of
setoff or counterclaim against money held in a client bank account in respect of any sum
owed to it on any other account by the Depository or the Custodian.
(h) Each holder of DIs is liable to indemnify the Registrar and any Custodian (and their
agents, ofﬁcers and employees) against all liabilities arising from or incurred in
connection with, or arising from any act related to, the Deed Poll so far as they relate
to the property held for the account of DIs held by that holder, other than those
resulting from the wilful default, negligence or fraud of the Registrar, or the Custodian
or any agent if such Custodian or agent is a member of the Registrar’s group or if, not
being a member of the same group, the Registrar shall have failed to exercise
reasonable care in the appointment and continued use of such Custodian or agent.
(i) The Registrar may terminate the Deed Poll by giving 90 days’ notice to the DI holders.
During such notice period holders may cancel their DIs and withdraw their deposited
property and, if any DIs remain outstanding after termination, the Registrar must,
among other things, deliver the deposited property in respect of the DIs to the relevant
DI holders or, at its discretion sell all or part of such deposited property. It shall, as soon
as reasonably practicable, deliver the net proceeds of any such sale, after deducting any
sums due to the Registrar, together with any other cash held by it under the Deed Poll
pro rata to holders of DIs in respect of their DIs.
(j) The Registrar or the Custodian may require from any holder information as to the
capacity in which DIs are or were owned and the identity of any other person with or
previously having any interest in such DIs and the nature of such interest and evidence
or declarations of nationality or residence of the legal or beneﬁcial owners of DIs and
such information as is required for the transfer of the relevant Ordinary Shares to the
holders. Holders agree to provide such information requested and consent to the
disclosure of such information by the Registrar or Custodian to the extent necessary or
desirable to comply with their legal or regulatory obligations. Furthermore, to the
extent that the Company’s memorandum or articles of association or applicable law
may require disclosure to the Company of, or limitations in relation to, beneﬁcial or
other ownership of the Company’s securities, the holders of DIs are to comply with the
Company’s instructions with respect thereto.
18.2.5

It should also be noted that holders of DIs may not have the opportunity to exercise all of
the rights and entitlements available to holders of the Ordinary Shares including, for
example, the ability to vote on a show of hands. In relation to voting, it will be important
for holders of DIs to give prompt instructions to the Registrar to vote the underlying shares
on their behalf.

18.2.6

If, by virtue of the laws of any jurisdiction outside the UK or the memorandum or articles
of association of the Company, the Depository or Custodian does not acquire unconditional
and absolute title or right to the deposited Ordinary Shares, neither the Depository nor the
Custodian will be liable to the DI holder.

18.2.7

The Deed may be amended or supplemented by the Registrar at any time in any respect
which it may deem necessary or desirable.

19

General

19.1

The accounting reference date of the Company is 31 December.

19.2

The nominated adviser and nominated broker to the Company is Panmure Gordon (Broking)
Limited of Moorgate Hall, 155 Moorgate, London EC2M 6XB.

19.3

The total costs and expenses of the Placing and Admission which are payable by the Company
(including professional fees, printing costs and commissions) are estimated to be £0.81 million
($1.51 million) (including value added tax).

19.4

The total proceeds of the placing of the Placing Shares are expected to be up to approximately
£5.35 million ($10.0 million) and the net proceeds to the Company, after deduction of the expenses,
are estimated at £4.54 million ($8.49 million).
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19.5

Of the Placing Price, NIS 0.01 represents the nominal value of each Ordinary Share.

19.6

Save in connection with the application for Admission, none of the Ordinary Shares have been
admitted to dealings on a recognised investment exchange and no application for such admission has
been made nor are there intended to be any other arrangements for dealings in the Ordinary Shares.

19.7

Panmure Gordon (Broking) Limited has given and not withdrawn its consent to the issue of this
document with the inclusion of its name and references to its name in the form and context in which
it appears.

19.8

Kost Forer, Gabbay & Kasierer has given and not withdrawn its consent to the issue of this document
with the inclusion of its name and references to its name in the form and context in which it appears.

19.9

Kost Forer, Gabbay & Kasierer has given and not withdrawn its consent to the inclusion of its
accountants’ report in Part V of this document.

19.10 The ﬁnancial information set out in the Accountants’ Report in Part V of this document does not
constitute statutory accounts within the meaning of Section 240 of the Act or under the relevant
Israeli law.
19.11 Save as disclosed in this document there has been no signiﬁcant change in the ﬁnancial or trading
position of the Company since 30 June 2006, being the end of the last ﬁnancial period for which
audited ﬁnancial information for the Company has been published.
19.12 Save as disclosed in this document, no person (other than a professional adviser referred to in this
document or trade supplier dealing with the Company) has:
19.12.1 received, directly or indirectly, from the Company within the twelve months preceding the
Company’s application for Admission; or
19.12.2 entered into any contractual arrangement (not otherwise disclosed in this document) to
receive, directly or indirectly, from the Company on or after Admission any of the following:
(a) fees totalling £10,000 or more;
(b) securities in the Company with a value of £10,000 or more calculated by reference to the
Placing Price; or
(c) any other beneﬁt with a value of £10,000 or more at the date of Admission.
19.13 Save as disclosed in this document, no commission has been paid by the Company to any person in
consideration for him agreeing to subscribe for Placing Shares or agreeing to procure subscriptions for
Placing Shares.
19.14 The auditors of the Company for the period covered by the ﬁnancial information contained in Part
V of this document were Kost Forer Gabbay & Kassierer, certiﬁed public accountants, whose address
is: 3 Aminadav Street, Tel Aviv 67067, Israel.
19.15 Other than as disclosed in this document, Panmure Gordon (Broking) Limited has not had any other
position or ofﬁce or other material relationship with the Company, its predecessors or afﬁliates in the
past three years.
19.16 Information in this document sourced from third parties has been accurately reproduced and as far
as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by such third parties, no
facts have been omitted which would make the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
19.17 There have been no interruptions in the Company’s business which have or have had in the last
12 months a signiﬁcant effect on the Company’s ﬁnancial position.
20

Availability of admission document
Copies of this document will be available free of charge to the public at the ofﬁces of Panmure
Gordon (Broking) Limited, Moorgate Hall, 155 Moorgate, London EC2M 6XB, from the date of this
document until one month after Admission.
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21

Documents available for inspection
Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the ofﬁces of Halliwells LLP, 1 Threadneedle
Street, London EC2R 8AW, during normal business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public
holidays excepted) for a period from the date of this document until the date falling one month from
the date of Admission:

21.1

the memorandum and articles of association of the Company; and

21.2

the deed poll referred to in paragraph 18.2 of this Part VI.

Dated: 27 October 2006
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